

Regional Policy Statement



Review of the effectiveness and efficiency of the Regional Policy Statement for Northland pursuant to Section 35 of the Resource Management Act 1991

Contents

Contents	2
Glossary	3
Executive Summary	4
What is working well?	4
What areas have been challenging?	5
Moving forward	6
Recommendations	6
Introduction	9
Purpose and scope of the report	9
Measuring efficiency and effectiveness	9
Data sources and methodology	9
Have we done what we said we'd do?	10
Have we achieved what we said we would?	21
How do we know our action led to the outcomes observed?	22
Have we achieved the outcomes at a reasonable cost?	23
Are we focused on the right issues?	24
Changes to the National Planning Framework	24
Significant issues that have arisen	24
Conclusions and recommendations	
Appendices	



Glossary

CIA	Cultural Impact Assessments
СМА	Coastal Marine Area
DoC	Department of Conservation
ERP	Emissions Reduction Plan
FDS	Future Development Strategy
FNDC	Far North District Council
HBL	Housing Bottom Line
HPL	Highly Productive Land
HNZPTA	Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act 2014
IHEMP	lwi / Hapū Environmental Management Plan
KDC	Kaipara District Council
MTAG	Māori Technical Advisory Group
MWāR	Mana Whakahono-ā-Rohe
NAP	National Adaptation Plan
NBEA	Natural Built and Environment Act 2023
NESF	National Environment Standards – Freshwater 2020
NPS-FM	National Policy Statement – Freshwater Management 2020
NPS-HPL	National Policy Statement – Highly Productive Land
NPS-IB	National Policy Statement – Indigenous Biodiversity 2023
NPS-UD	National Policy Statement – Urban Development 2020
NRC	Northland Regional Council
NZCPS	New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement
PSLG	Primary Sector Liaison Group
RMA	Resource Management Act 1991
RPS	Regional Policy Statement for Northland
RSI	Regionally Significant Infrastructure
SEA	Significant Ecological Area
SNA	Significant Natural Area
SPA	Spatial Planning Act 2023
TMoTW	Te Mana o Te Wai
TWWAG	Tāngata Whenua Water Advisory Group
WDC	Whangārei District Council

Executive Summary

The purpose of the report is to fulfill Northland Regional Council's (NRC's) obligation under Section 35 of the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA). This section requires council to undertake a fiveyearly review of the effectiveness and efficiency of the Regional Policy Statement for Northland (RPS) and make the findings publicly available. Effectiveness and efficiency have been assessed in the report by considering the five questions below:

- 1. Have we done what we said we'd do? have we implemented all the policies and methods in the RPS?
- 2. Have we achieved what we said we'd achieve? have the policies and methods implemented resulted in the RPS's objectives being met?
- 3. How do we know if our actions led to the outcomes observed? can we demonstrate that any achievement of the RPS's objectives is attributable to the methods in the RPS?
- 4. Have we achieved the outcomes at reasonable cost? was the (relative) cost of implementing the RPS's methods the lowest for the (relative) benefit gained?
- 5. Are we focused on the right issues? are the RPS's policies still appropriate (five years on) and, has anything changed in relation to the RPS's stated resource management issues?

These questions have then been applied to the Anticipated Environmental Outcomes listed in the RPS and assessed in consultation with the Department of Conservation (DoC), district councils and NRC subject matter experts. Reports were also commissioned assessing the RPS from a tangata whenua perspective and reviewing the climate change provisions. Full versions of these reports are attached as Appendices.

Overall, there are mixed results in achieving the anticipated outcomes of the RPS. Some things have worked well while others have not resulted in the anticipated outcomes. There are a number of factors contributing to this. Five years is a relatively short timeframe for achieving measurable environmental outcomes. Some changes will be noticeable over this timeframe while others such as water quality changes may take decades to eventuate. Plan development has been another factor.

The Regional Plan for Northland was notified in September 2017 and is not yet fully operative, which has limited its ability to give effect to the RPS. In addition, the Far North District Council (FNDC) and Kaipara District Council (KDC) only released their Proposed and Draft District Plans respectively in July 2022. These are the first full review of the District Plans to be undertaken with the RPS in place as a guiding document. As these documents are so early in the statutory process, they have not had any impact on giving effect to the RPS in these districts.

The Whangārei District Council (WDC) has undertaken or has plan changes in progress to implement parts of the RPS - for example, plan changes relating to Outstanding Natural Features and Landscapes, Natural Character and the coastal environment and recently notified Plan Change 1 on natural hazards - and so are more advanced in respect of giving effect to the RPS.

What is working well?

It has been identified that the comprehensive mapping of river and coastal flood hazards by NRC has given the district councils certainty when assessing development within flood prone areas. These maps and associated provisions have been included in WDC's Plan Change 1 (natural hazards) and the proposed Far North District Plan. It is understood KDC intend to incorporate the hazard maps and provisions into the Proposed Kaipara District Plan.

Appendix 5 of the RPS includes significance criteria enabling significant ecological areas to be comprehensively mapped in the Regional Plan (in the Coastal Marine Area (CMA)). The criteria and mapping were rigorously tested through the Environment Court appeals process and all matters are now resolved. The Significant Ecological Area (SEA) mapping was also instrumental in the establishment of marine protection in the Regional Plan.

Some large-scale economic development projects such as the water storage developments of the Te Taitokerau Water Trust have been achieved under the RPS regime. Economic growth and tourism have kept up with national averages and in some cases outperformed them, although it is unclear the extent to which this was influenced by the RPS.

Outstanding Natural Landscapes and Features, Natural Character and the coastal environment have been identified and given protection under the RPS and through subsequent district plan changes / reviews – WDC plan changes to implement RPS direction on these matters are now operative, while FNDC has notified a Proposed District Plan which includes associated maps and provisions. It is understood KDC will notify the Proposed District Plan this year and that it will address RPS requirements. These areas are also recognised through consent processes where relevant.



What areas have been challenging?

As identified in the report prepared by Barker and Associates (Appendix xx), finding a path to appropriately recognise and consider issues of importance to tāngata whenua is an on-going challenge. Their report recommends several actions that help to implement this, including better integration of tāngata whenua provisions throughout all the chapters of the RPS, greater participation for Māori in decision making, recognition of matauranga Māori and more importance placed on Cultural Impact Assessments (CIAs).

Water quality in Te Taitokerau is degraded, largely due to a legacy of land use change over time with issues of sedimentation and bacterial contamination of particular concern. Changes in water quality are recognised as having a significant lag time, with the results of many interventions taking many years to materialise. Due to the short timeframe the RPS has been in place, it is unclear whether it has resulted in any improvements. The challenges of safeguarding freshwater have been recognised at a national level leading to the introduction of the National Policy Statement - Freshwater Management 2020 (NPS-FM) and National Environmental Standards - Freshwater 2020 (NESF). These documents largely supersede the RPS provisions by initiating the Freshwater Plan Change due to be notified in late 2024.

Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity are under pressure from the direct impact of human activities but also the impacts of climate change. Discussions with DoC representatives have highlighted that more needs to be done to halt the loss and degradation of natural ecosystems. The National Policy Statement - Indigenous Biodiversity (NPS-IB) has been finalised and will require changes to the RPS that, in particular, will raise the bar for protection of terrestrial biodiversity.

Lack of resources has been identified by district councils as a barrier to giving effect to the provisions in the RPS. It is, therefore, recommended that NRC contribute expertise and resources to assist

implementation of the policy direction in the RPS where possible. NRC could also encourage and facilitate co-design process where issues are worked through in a collaborative way with sharing of experiences and resources.

Since the initial drafting of the RPS there has been significant progression in the science around the potential impacts of climate change and how to address them. Recent storms have also been a stark indication of just how disruptive increasingly powerful adverse weather events will be for our communities. National guidance in the form of the first National Adaptation Plan (NAP) and the Emissions Reduction Plan (ERP) as well as our own regional and district strategies point the way to updating the provisions in the RPS to address these challenges.

While there has been progress on updating district plans to reflect RPS direction on natural hazards, the fact that natural hazard mapping is ongoing has presented challenges – the need to regularly update hazard maps in district plans is an issue given the process costs and time this can take.

Moving forward

Council is required to review the provisions of the RPS ten years after it became operative in May 2016.

Council will also need to revise the RPS to recognise the requirements resulting from new and amended national policy instruments such as National Policy Statements on freshwater, highly productive land and biodiversity. Other matters may be considered more urgent to address prior to 2026, such as strengthening of climate change provisions in line with the recommendations of the Tonkin and Taylor Climate Change review report (Appendix 2).

Recommendations

Several changes to the RPS will be required by the new pieces of the national planning framework.



Freshwater provisions in the RPS and the Regional Plan will be updated by the Freshwater Plan Change project with a plan change to be notified late 2024.

A Schedule 1 plan change is required to incorporate maps of Highly Productive Land (HPL) for the region into the RPS and must be notified before October 2025.

The NPS-IB sets out the timing for local authorities to implement the NPS-IB. In broad terms, councils are encouraged to give effect to the NPS-IB as soon as practicable but changes to policy statements or plans (plan changes) must be notified no later than year 8 (August 2031).

NRC may choose to amend the RPS for consistency with the NPS-IB by replacing the RPS biodiversity offsetting and compensation definitions with those used in the NPS-IB. Because this involves only changing wording or terminology, it can be treated as a correction of a minor error (and therefore, under clause 20A of Schedule 1 of the Act, the amendment can be made without using a process in that Schedule).

There is a need for plan changes that incorporate provisions to manage effects on Significant Natural Areas (SNAs), and clause 3.24 (resource consent information requirements) to be notified no later than year 5, however this process may not involve the RPS, ie. it is likely to only affect the Regional Plan.

Biodiversity strategies must be starting within three years and complete by year 10 (August 2033), although there is information required to be in those strategies that must inform objectives, policies and methods associated with indigenous biodiversity restoration (clause 3.21), which are to be notified by year 8 (as above) and this may involve both the RPS and the Regional Plan.

It is likely that several the NPS-IB requirements will be incorporated into the new resource management system given the timing, with more emphasis on spatial planning and less of a role for the RPS given combined district / regional plans under the Natural Built and Environment Act 2023 (NBEA) once enacted.

Minor amendments relating to the National Policy Statement – Urban Development 2020 (NPS-UD) will need to be included without a Schedule 1 process.

The Climate Change review undertaken by Tonkin and Taylor identified deficiencies in the current planning documents in the following key areas:

- Overall strategic direction;
- Adaption;
- Emissions reduction; and
- Carbon removal.

It is recommended that consideration is given to developing a range of amendments to the RPS based on the findings of this review.

The report prepared by Barker and Associates also identified an area for a potential plan change in order to improve integration of tangata whenua provisions across the rest of the RPS, in particular:

- Fresh and coastal water management;
- Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity;
- Economic potential and social wellbeing; and
- Natural hazard management.

This report also identified gaps in the climate change provisions in the RPS and recommended this be addressed with input from tangata whenua to ensure a Te Ao Maori perspective is integrated.

Additionally, a stock take of existing CIAs could be undertaken to gauge their impact on the consenting process and a road map be prepared guiding early engagement for resource consent applications.

Based on the assessment above, the following actions are recommended:

- 1. Update to the RPS to incorporate the compulsory requirements of the NPS-UD without the requirement to undertake a Schedule 1 process.
- 2. Continue to develop maps of Highly Productive Land as required by the NPS-HPL and notify a plan change by October 2025 to add these to the RPS.

- 3. Make any consequential amendments to the RPS as a result of notifying the Freshwater Plan Change.
- 4. Update the RPS to give effect to the requirements of the NPS-IB.
- 5. Revise and clarify the definition of regionally significant infrastructure in Appendix 3 of the RPS.
- 6. Evaluate options for updating the RPS to respond to the recommendations of the Tonkin and Taylor Climate Change Review once we have clarity on the resource management reform process.

Given the current uncertainty over the direction of resource management reform, it is unclear if a 10-year revision of the RPS will be required. Three key pieces of resource management legislation were proposed to replace the RMA, with the NBEA and the Spatial Planning Act 2023 (SPA) already enacted and Climate Change Adaptation Act due to follow in 2024. However, the recent change of government has thrown these reforms into question with the potential to repeal the NBEA and SPA.

It is considered prudent to wait until we have more clarity on the direction of reforms before addressing potential changes to the RPS beyond those currently required. Once we have clear direction on the reform, any proposed changes to the RPS would be presented to council to seek support and endorsement to proceed.



Introduction

Purpose and scope of the report

The purpose of this report is to fulfil council's responsibilities under Section 35 of the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) to undertake a five-yearly review of the Regional Policy Statement for Northland (RPS). The findings from the review will be used as a basis for determining if any amendments are recommended to the RPS.

Measuring efficiency and effectiveness

There are two key elements to the review – efficiency and effectiveness.

Measuring **efficiency** involves the evaluation of whether the costs of the policies, rules and other methods are reasonable for the benefit gained. Costs and benefits are evaluated in non-monetary terms.

Measuring **effectiveness** involves the evaluation of whether the objectives and anticipated environmental results sought by a plan's policies have been achieved.¹

In order to assess the efficiency and effectiveness of the RPS, the review is focused on the Anticipated Environmental Outcomes identified in Part 9 of the RPS. The assessment uses five questions based on the approach developed by Environment Canterbury:

- 1. Have we done what we said we'd do? That is, have we implemented all the policies and methods in the RPS?
- 2. Have we achieved what we said we'd achieve? That is, have the policies and methods implemented resulted in the RPS's objectives being met?
- 3. How do we know if our actions led to the outcomes observed? Or, can we demonstrate that any achievement of the RPS's objectives is attributable to the methods in the RPS?
- 4. Have we achieved the outcomes at reasonable cost? Or was the (relative) cost of implementing the RPS's methods the lowest for the (relative) benefit gained?
- 5. Are we focused on the right issues? That is, are the RPS's policies still appropriate (5 years on) and, has anything changed in relation to the RPS's stated resource management issues?

Data sources and methodology

Definitively attributing change to the provisions in the RPS is very difficult. Data can in some cases show trends but does not necessarily distinguish between change that is driven by the RPS vs. change that would have occurred anyway in the absence of the RPS provisions. The relatively short period of time since the RPS became operative and incomplete adoption of the provisions throughout the region also limit the ability to attribute change to the RPS. The data sources and methodology outlined below are considered to reasonably capture our understanding of the impact of the RPS to date, nearing in mind these challenges.

The review has been undertaken by council staff. Information has been obtained from various sources, including:

- Collaboration between council staff and a consultant representing tangata whenua perspectives on the RPS resulting in the following report "Effectiveness and Efficiency Review of the Northland Regional Policy Statement – Tangata Whenua Lens 21 November 2022 – Barker and Associates Ltd." Refer to Appendix 1.
- 2. Direct consultation with DoC, WDC, FNDC and KDC.
- 3. Review of the climate change provisions vs best practice prepared by Tonkin and Taylor "Review of Climate Change Provisions" Refer to Appendix 2.
- 4. Internal input by subject matter experts.

¹ "An Assessment of the Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Hurunui and Waiau River Regional Plan" Environment Canterbury 2018

Have we done what we said we'd do?

Part 9 of the RPS outlines the environmental outcomes anticipated from implementing the policies and methods of the RPS. These outcomes can be used as a basis for considering if we have achieved these results.

Fresh and coastal water

4.1 Integrated catchment management

1. Catchment-specific objectives and limits are met and where there is over-allocation progress is made towards achieving targets for improving water quality or quantity.

4.2 Region-wide water quality management

- 2. The overall trophic level index (TLI) status of Northland's monitored lakes is maintained or improved.
- 3. The macroinvertebrate community index (MCI) at regionally representative sites show improving or maintained trends.
- 4. Mean annual sedimentation rates (or turbidity levels) at representative sites in the Bay of Islands, Whāngārei Harbour, and the Kaipara Harbour show improving or maintained trends.
- 5. Compliance rates for contact recreation at popular swimming sites are maintained or improved with respect to the relevant guidelines.
- 6. Levels of indicator bacteria in open coastal waters at 15 popular shellfish collection sites is maintained or improved.

4.3 Region wide water quantity management

7. Region-wide ecological flows and water levels are not exceeded.

There have been four iterations of the NPS Freshwater between 2011 and 2020. In 2013 council embarked on catchment-based planning for freshwater (five priority catchments) – this resulted in five catchment plans that informed freshwater provisions of the Regional Plan. The NPS-FM changed the direction for freshwater management and increased complexity of implementation significantly, meaning much of the RPS policy is superseded.



Since the release of the NPS-FM in 2020, a project team has been dedicated to reviewing and updating the freshwater provisions in the Regional Plan. The outcome of this work will be notification of the Freshwater Plan Change in late 2024 following a wide range of data collection / scientific studies, consultation with tāngata whenua, industry groups and the general public. Once this work has been completed the outcomes will largely supersede the existing provisions in the RPS.

Most controls on freshwater will be located in the Regional Plan with only the long-term vision remaining in the RPS and the requirement under NPS-FW 3.2 (3) to have an objective in the RPS recognising Te Mana o te Wai. In effect, the provisions developed as part of the plan change will go above and beyond the direction outlined in the RPS.

The Regional Plan has limits in place on minimum flows and water allocation – the way these limits are set means that while there are areas that are fully allocated (which restricts further allocation of water) there is no over-allocation.

The Barker's report notes that the objectives, policies, methods and anticipated outcomes for catchment management and water quality and quantity management were overly technical and lacking in Te Ao Māori values. These provisions were considered by the report authors to represent inaccessibility of planning and resource management by tāngata whenua which has the effect of limiting the ability of tāngata whenua to participate. There was a broad view that the management of fresh and coastal waters needed to be considered within a wider context of land use as these activities impact on water quality. It is anticipated that these concerns will be addressed to some extent by the implementation of NRC's Te Tiriti Strategy - Tāike ē - and further through the actions that come about by way of the Freshwater Plan Change.

Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity

- 4.4 Maintaining and enhancing indigenous ecosystems and species
 - 8. A progressive increase in the area of indigenous ecosystems and habitats on private land, in water bodies, and in the coastal marine area under protection.
 - 9. No increase in the number of regionally threatened species in Northland as a result of subdivision, use and development.

In relation to indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity, the RPS identifies key pressures / threats (Issue 2.2), an objective to safeguard ecological integrity, and policy and methods to protect biodiversity and support restoration (Policies 4.4.1 and 4.4.2 and methods 4.4.3 to 4.4.6). It also includes criteria to be used to identify significant biodiversity and habitats in Northland (Appendix 5). Antonio Guterres, the UN Secretary General has stated "Biodiversity is declining at an unprecedented and alarming rate, and the pressures are intensifying".

In discussions with DoC staff, it was considered that more emphasis in the RPS could be placed on safeguarding biodiversity across the region. For example, Policy 4.4.1 of the RPS reflects the direction in Policy 11 of the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement (NZCPS) to provide a high level of protection for biodiversity in the coastal environment with a lower level of protection provided elsewhere. Consideration should be given to extending this level of protection beyond the coastal environment as the coastal environment is an arbitrary planning construct that does not reflect relative importance of biodiversity.

Council's recently drafted State of the Environment report for Biodiversity "Ngā taonga koiora o tō tātou rohe Our Biological Heritage 2022" concludes that many parts of the environment are under threat with the spread of animal and plant pests, and the reduction in health of our freshwater ecosystem due to declining water quality is of particular concern. Dune lakes are in good health compared to many other parts of the country, but ongoing work will be required to maintain and improve them. The increasing scale and unpredictability of climate change effects was noted as being of particular concern.

The newly released National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity (NPS-IB) effectively extends the level of protection in the coastal environment to terrestrial biodiversity and requires the RPS and plans to give effect to this by August 2028. Also, by the same date, district councils must assess and map SNAs and if requested, regional councils must help in this process.

The NPS-IB significance criteria for SNA assessments are very similar to the RPS Appendix 5 and for terrestrial habitats replace Appendix 5. The NPS-IB also requires that by August 2026 NRC have commenced, in collaboration with tangata whenua, stakeholders and district councils, development of a regional biodiversity strategy.

The purpose of the strategy is to promote the landscape-scale restoration of the region's indigenous biodiversity. This will require establishment of a vision, providing for resilience from climate change, connectivity, supporting achievement of any national priorities and records that show actions, milestones and progress in achieving the strategy's purpose.

The NPS-IB allows for local authorities to change operative policy statement or plan text without using the RMA Schedule 1 process if merely changing wording or terminology for consistency with the NPS-IB. This may be the case with replacing RPS biodiversity offsetting and compensation definition with those from the NPS-IB.

Regional councils must lead work to develop an indigenous biodiversity monitoring plan to measure ecological integrity, habitat extent, taonga and establish methods such as action plans where monitoring indicates NPS-IB objectives will not be met.

The RPS allocates protection of indigenous biodiversity on land to district councils and in water bodies and the CMA to NRC (Clause 1.6). Areas of indigenous vegetation on private land can be protected through a range of measures including:

- District plan rules;
- Conditions of resource consents;
- Environmental Benefit subdivisions;
- QEII and other covenants; and
- Reserves.

Regional rules and conditions of regional consents manage the effects of activities on the biodiversity in freshwater (including wetlands) and the CMA. The NPS-IB requires regional and district plans and policy to manage adverse effects on terrestrial indigenous biodiversity. Where a qualifying natural feature is formally protected on private land, the developer can gain additional development rights. These provisions are in the subdivision rules of all three district plans and are intended to be carried over into the new FNDC and KDC plans.

The area of land protected by Queen Elizabeth II Trust rose from 10,230ha in 2016 to 10,959.6 ha in 2021 according to the Trust's annual reports. It is noted that not all land protected will be by way of a QEII covenant, with some landowners choosing a private land covenant. However, the areas protected are on an *ad hoc* basis related to favoured areas for development rather than an overarching protection strategy to protect high value areas or ecological corridors, although they may achieve this in some areas. It is noted that "environmental benefit" provisions have been a feature of district plans for many years and cannot be attributed to the provisions in the RPS, however, the policy guidance in the RPS does support district plans in seeking protection for areas of ecological value.



Council is currently undertaking a project to develop a wetland mapping tool – this will implement requirements in the NPS-FM to map natural inland wetlands and create a wetland inventory (Clause 3.23). The output from this mapping work will be added to a GIS layer so that it will be easy for staff and members of the public to identify wetlands. This will lead to improved outcomes for protecting wetlands on private land and help address the "no nett loss" of wetlands as required by the NPS-FW.

Part of the monitoring and information gathering requirement in the methods of the RPS was for the council to work together with other partner agencies to prepare guidelines on areas that potentially meet Appendix 5 significance criteria. These are designed to identify areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna by assessing them against four key attributes:

- 1. Representativeness;
- 2. Rarity / distinctiveness;
- 3. Diversity and pattern; and
- 4. Ecological context.

To date these guidelines have not been completed, however, the three Northland district councils have developed a regionwide method for SNA assessment and undertook a draft mapping process that will now need to be undertaken and completed by August 2028 following a prescribed NPS-IB process.

The Barker's report notes the RPS policy framework has a very narrow focus being primarily on western science with no recognition of Te Ao Māori values or mātauranga Māori and only narrow provision for kaitiakitanga in monitoring processes.

Council's Te Tiriti Strategy, Tāiki ē, is designed to address some of these issues with actions included to develop culturally appropriate monitoring programmes that support tāngata whenua freshwater monitoring aspirations, increase opportunities for participation in decision making processes and consideration of transfer of powers where appropriate.

While the NPS-IB significance criteria also take a western science approach and largely replicate the RPS Appendix 5 criteria, the NPS-IB also requires meaningful engagement with tangata whenua as partners in the identification and management of indigenous biodiversity, including provision for kaitiakitanga. The NPS-IB also requires territorial authorities to work in partnership with tangata whenua to acknowledge and identify taonga.

Economic potential and social wellbeing

- 6.1 Supporting economic development
 - 33. The impacts of resource management decisions are well understood.
 - 34. An increasingly consistent approach to cross-boundary issues.
 - 35. Reduced compliance costs.
 - 36. Increased business and investment growth.

Infometrics Regional Economic Profile identifies the following regional growth figures versus national growth since the RPS was released in 2016:





There is no clear trend of economic growth over the seven years since the RPS was released. Any impact on growth related to the RPS is difficult to identify with figures largely consistent with the national average. We consider that the RPS is likely to have minimal impact on regional growth. Over the last three years from 2020, growth has been significantly impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, with a major reduction then a rebound in 2022. However, it is noted that Northland had a smaller reduction in growth during 2021 and was still positive at 1.1% while the national average dropped to -0.5%.

The Barker's report identifies a lack of recognition of Māori economic development and the contribution of the Māori workforce plus hapū and iwi shared assets and resources. It also notes there is a missed opportunity regarding development on Māori land and promoting papakāinga development to support the economic wellbeing of tāngata whenua in Te Taitokerau. While there some recognition of this in the tāngata whenua section it is not considered to be well-integrated or visible in this section.

It was also considered that with large-scale infrastructure projects such as roading, rail, ports, wastewater treatment plants, economic benefits were favoured over the cultural and environmental costs they generate.

Regional form

5.1 Regional form

- 22. Urban growth and development is managed in an integrated manner.
- 23. New use and development fits within the context of the surrounding environment and provides a range of lifestyle choices and in urban areas provides for a range of transport options.
- 24. Mixed use development is provided for in appropriate locations.
- 25. There is no increase in noise, odour or vibration complaints arising from incompatible activities. The ability to access regionally significant mineral resources is not compromised by inappropriate subdivision, use and development.

The NPS-UD identifies WDC as a Tier 2 local authority. Therefore, it is required to determine a Housing Bottom Line (HBL) that calculates the anticipated development demand for the district. This HBL must be incorporated into the RPS without the need for a Schedule 1 process. The logical place to incorporate the HBL would be into the Regional Form Chapter. WDC has identified the HBL which now needs to be inserted into the RPS. As a Tier 2 authority, WDC is also required to prepare a Future Development Strategy (FDC) in collaboration with NRC. Work is now underway to progress this strategy with input from NRC policy staff.

KDC and FNDC are Tier 3 local authorities and, therefore, it is not compulsory for them to prepare an FDS or HBL.

It was identified that the requirement to avoid compromising regionally significant minerals is difficult for district councils as they do not have this information. Identifying these resources is a regional council function and has not been undertaken yet.

Infrastructure provision for new development is a concern in some areas – particularly urban / residential development with no reticulated water supply or where town supply relies on waterbodies with limited reliability. This issue was very apparent during the 2020/21 drought where drinking water had to be trucked in to supply settlements in the mid-North.

FNDC staff have identified the challenges with efficiently providing infrastructure services for urban development due to constraints on funding. This is particularly difficult for the Far North where no development contributions are charged on development consents.

Urban development has the potential to impact on the productive capacity of the soil where highly valuable soils are encroached on by residential development in areas such as Kerikeri and Waipapa. Attempts to control this with minimum lot sizes and a new horticultural zone have been introduced in the Proposed Far North Plan.

The introduction of the NPS-HPL will also result in much greater emphasis on the protection of elite soils with the requirement that maps of all highly productive land in the region are to be incorporated in the RPS by 2025.

5.2 Efficient and effective infrastructure

- 27. Northland's use of resources supplied by infrastructure becomes more efficient over time and waste is managed more efficiently.
- 28. Northland's infrastructure becomes more efficient over time.
- 5.3 Regionally significant infrastructure
 - 29. The benefits of regionally significant infrastructure are given appropriate recognition in the consenting process.
 - 30. Northland has a secure and available gas supply.

Regionally significant infrastructure is defined in the RPS. However, the definition has been challenged with regard to a proposed redevelopment of Northport as to whether aspects of the proposal qualify as regionally significant infrastructure. Debate centred on whether the list of infrastructure given in the RPS was complete or meant to be indicative of the types of infrastructure that could be considered. There would be potential to clarify this definition in any future amendments.

The definition also became more important as the NES Freshwater controls on wetlands severely restrict activities that damage wetlands but made exceptions for RSI – it would also be of benefit to review the definition to ensure it is sufficiently broad and recognises water entities established under the Water Services Act.

Gas supplies are likely to be phased out over the coming years as fossil methane is recognised as a significant contributor to greenhouse gas emissions. Therefore, secure gas supplies to Northland are no longer considered relevant as an environmental outcome.

5.4 Renewable energy

- 31. Northland becomes self-sufficient for its electricity needs and a net exporter of electricity over time.
- 32. The benefits and practicable constraints associated with renewable electricity generation are given appropriate recognition in the consenting process

The recently released Proposed FNDC District Plan and the KDC Draft Plan have both been drafted with enabling provisions for renewable energy generation. As these plans progress through to operative status there will be an increasing ability to rely on these provisions for the development of renewable energy generation projects.

Transpower has been assessing the viability of creating the first Renewable Energy Zone (REZ) Pilot project in Northland. These zones are intended link renewable energy generators with the infrastructure needed to deliver the electricity to where is needed. Transpower says that it is keen to work collaboratively to explore and potentially enable this kind of infrastructure investment. To test the concept, they have worked with Top Energy and Northpower on the initial pilot REZ in Northland. Submissions have closed on the proposal, but Transpower has not yet released a decision and has recently indicated that the form of any potential REZ will need to be reconsidered.

Issues of significance to tangata whenua - participation in resource management

Issues of significance to tangata whenua - natural and physical resources

8.1, 8.2 and 8.3 Tāngata Whenua

- 41. Tāngata whenua values and their kaitiaki role are considered in all resource management decisions.
- 42. Improved working relationships with iwi and hapū to achieve mutually acceptable environmental outcomes.

Section D.1 – Tāngata Whenua in the Regional Plan sets out a range of policies designed to give effect to the direction in the RPS. These policies describe when an analysis of effects on tāngata whenua is required, what this analysis should address and who should be considered affected persons. Is also includes places of significance to tāngata whenua and managing effects on these.



Discussions with the consents team noted that deciding who to consult with was often challenging and there is a conflict between RMA consent timeframes and the amount of time required to allow for adequate tāngata whenua engagement once an application has been lodged. Consideration should be given to requiring the applicant to undertake appropriate consultation prior to accepting a consent application. Policy D.1.1 details that a CIA is required where one or more impact may occur. However, without doing an assessment the consents team don't know if any of these matters are triggered. Clearer direction on this would be helpful.

Consideration of how this is working in practice for tangata whenua has been addressed in the report prepared by Barker and Associates. One of the key themes that emerged from this work is that while the words in the RPS are reasonable, there has been a lack of meaningful implementation of the provisions. CIAs for consent applications are not always required for applications where tangata whenua thought they would be necessary or may be sought from the wrong people. It was also identified that there is a lack of recognition of the effects of subdivision and land use on the wider cultural and ecological surroundings.

There were concerns raised by the Māori Technical Advisory Group (MTAG) in relation to earthworks and stormwater management as it was seen that there was a lack of integration between the regional and district functions controlling these activities resulting in poor outcomes for fresh and coastal water quality.

The Barker's report identifies the similar issues for tangata whenua with the consenting process as raised by the consents team noting that engagement with developers can be *ad hoc* and inconsistent and not always undertaken with the right mana whenua groups. There was concern around the production of CIAs as to whether they were being prepared by the right person. There have been instances of these being prepared by writers outside the rohe leading to conflict with mana whenua. To help address this, they recommend that a roadmap be created of how / who consultation is undertaken with to assist with pre-lodgement engagement for resource consents.

They also suggest data on CIAs be recorded and a stocktake of CIAs be undertaken to understand when they were required, the quality and whether or not they influenced the decision making on the resource consent process.

Development of Iwi / Hapū Environmental Management Plans (IHEMPs) and Mana Whakahono-ā-Rohe Agreements (MWāR) has been hampered to date due to a lack of funding. However, it was acknowledged that NRC's Tāiki ē strategy contains actions to increase funding to support development of these tools which could then provide important guidance on who the relevant mana whenua groups are, highlight core values and detail any engagement expectations in the RMA processes.

There was support for Policy 6.1.3 relating to transfer of powers and delegation of functions, however, they did not know of any instances where this has occurred. Accordingly, this is an area NRC could further consider in the future. Initiatives such as the formation of the Tāngata Whenua Water Advisory Group (TWWAG) to assist in preparing the Freshwater Plan Change are an example of NRC proactively engaging with tāngata whenua to improve decision making.

With regard to papakāinga development, it was considered there needed to be some analysis around Taitokerau to understand how effective the RPS provisions had been. In particular, whether district plans within the region have adequately given effect to the RPS direction with plan changes and whether this has had any impact on papakāinga development since the RPS came into effect.

A review of the planning documents showed that WDC has included provisions in the district plan to enable papakāinga on ancestral land within the Whangārei District as defined in the Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993. A section of their website provides a papakāinga toolkit, including the processes of the council and the Māori Land Court. There is also the option of booking a discussion with a duty planner for assistance in understanding the process.

The current FNDC and KDC district plans predate the RPS, however, the Proposed Far North District Plan and the Draft Kaipara Plan seek to introduce provisions relating to papakāinga developments.

The KDC draft plan includes a Māori purpose zone which has the following zone statement:

"The Māori purpose zone (MPZ) provides for a range of activities such as papakāinga housing, marae and associated activities on land owned by tāngata whenua to assist Māori communities to provide for their unique social, cultural, environmental and economic needs within the District. This zone recognises and provides for the relationship of Māori with their ancestral land."

The Proposed Far North Plan also includes a Māori Purpose zone with the following zone statement:

"The Māori Purpose zone provides for the use and development of Māori land which can support the social, cultural and economic aspirations of tāngata whenua and enable a range of activities to be undertaken, such as marae, papakāinga, and economic activities which reflect Māori customs and values, while enabling tāngata whenua to exercise kaitiakitanga."

As both the FNDC and KDC plans are at the early stage of statutory process it is too soon to tell how well these provisions will facilitate papakāinga development. However, it is considered all three district plans are moving towards recognising and facilitating papakāinga development as directed by the RPS.

Natural hazards

7.1 Development in natural hazard-prone areas

- 37. Where subdivision, use and development occur in areas subject to natural hazards, the potential adverse effects of those natural hazards are mitigated by appropriate design.
- 38. Communities are increasingly resilient to the effects of natural hazard events.

Region-wide mapping of river and coastal hazards has been completed. The availability of this data allows the district councils to clearly identify where river flood and coastal hazards are present and ensure the issues are appropriately addressed when considering development.

The Proposed Far North District Plan and the Draft Kaipara Plan both adopt the coastal hazard and river flood maps along with an appropriate planning framework to address them. Whangārei District

Council is undertaking a plan change to address natural hazards although the proposed provisions have not been finalised. With these provisions embedded in the updated district plans there will a be a much stronger ability to control development in hazard prone areas.



KDC staff have indicated that they appreciate the prescriptive nature of the hazard provisions and maps as it has helped explain the reasoning when presenting them to the ratepayers and council members. Even without incorporating the hazard maps in the district plans, decision makers have been able to refer to the RPS policy and maps as a guiding principle when assessing land use or subdivision applications.

The understanding of natural hazards is an ongoing process – government guidance is also subject to change (eg. updated sea level rise scenarios). This can cause issues for district councils as hazard maps are revisited – meaning district plans need to be updated at significant cost. Exploring options to enable district plans to reference maps in district plans without the need for a full Schedule 1 RMA process is likely to be of benefit.

7.2 General risk reduction policies

- 39. The adverse effects of natural hazard mitigation measures on the environment will be avoided or mitigated. Objective 3.13
- 40. Reduction in the need / demand for hard protection structures.

The RPS contains policy guidance on avoiding development in hazard prone areas, however, this is an area where stronger direction may be required due to the accelerating pace and scale of climate change related hazard events. Development in hazard prone areas will place significant costs on future generations as these areas may require managed retreat for residential activities with the associated loss of assets and cost of relocation. Damaging weather events leading to flooding and land subsidence are increasingly common and avoiding development in these areas is vital.

As part of the RPS review process and to fulfil NRC's actions required by the climate change strategies, Tonkin and Taylor was commissioned to undertake a review of the RPS and PRP against the National Adaptation Policy and the Emissions Reduction Plan. Tonkin and Taylor also considered NRC's own documents Ngā Taumata o te Moana and Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy.

The assessment methodology considered climate actions under the various strategies with the ability to address these actions within an RMA framework to determine a relevance score for the action. It then considered how well the current RPS and Regional Plan were achieving these actions to give a performance indicator. The outcome of the review identified the relevant key areas for action where the RPS was currently performing moderately to poorly as:

- Overall strategic direction;
- Adaption;
- Emissions reduction; and
- Carbon removal.

The Barker's report identifies that climate change and associated hazard events are of concern to tāngata whenua but consideration of this is largely absent from the RPS policy framework. They also felt the flood protection schemes were focused on protecting assets and infrastructure rather than communities and there was a general approach from district and regional council that *"you can engineer your way out of it"*.

Natural character, features / landscapes and historic heritage

- 4.5 Identifying the coastal environment and significant natural character, features / landscapes and historic heritage resources
 - 10. The Regional Policy Statement Maps of Outstanding natural landscapes and features, high and outstanding natural character areas and the coastal environment provide a consistent basis for appropriate management of these resources.
 - 11. Policy 4.5.3 provides a consistent basis for assessing, recording and appropriate management of historic heritage.

Discussion with DoC staff has indicated consideration should be given to reviewing the coastal environment boundary to ensure that it is accurate. It is notable that the coastal environment boundary was tested in the Environment Court on appeals to the RPS – the court considered it to be a robust implementation of Policy 1 of the NZCPS criteria. Advice from the resource consent team indicates that the policy and rules framework process provide adequate protection to heritage features via the consenting process.

KDC staff raised concerns that Policy 4.5.3 is focused only on the areas that NRC has jurisdictional function over. However, on reviewing the policy it is not clear how the current wording of the Policy limits it to regional matters. Their heritage consultant had an issue applying the policy to the matters within the territorial authority in the context of preparing the draft plan.

They commented that the RPS policy states that the definition of historic heritage is from the RMA but the assessment criteria are in fact based on the Heritage NZ Pouhere Taonga Act 2014 (HNZPTA). They consider this leads to problems in the hierarchy of documents from RMA to RPS to District Plan by involving the HNZPTA criteria which have a different focus from the RMA values.

This is not seen as a significant issue or conflict as the RPS criteria usefully expand on the RMA definition to provide guidance on what heritage resources should be protected in plans (the RMA definition is very high level). It is also noted that the RPS heritage provisions were tested thoroughly through the Schedule 1 RMA process.

4.6 Managing effects on natural character, features / landscapes and heritage

- 12. The integrity of Outstanding natural landscapes, outstanding natural features and outstanding natural character are not subject to inappropriate degradation over the life of the Regional Policy Statement.
- 13. The coastal environment, landscape and natural character of Northland remains a primary attraction for visitors.
- 14. Heritage features that meet the criteria in Policy 4.5.3 are added regularly into plans and no significant reduction in the number of such features in plans occurs due to modification / destruction.
- 15. Cultural / heritage impact assessments are required in consent processes where heritage features are potentially affected and the information they provide is reflected in decisions and/or conditions of consent.

Infometrics figures for regional tourism growth between 2016 and 2022 show wide variation reflecting the significant impact on tourism related to the COVID-19 pandemic. This makes it difficult to determine any impact related specifically to the RPS.

The Barker's report identifies that there should be a greater emphasis for enabling access to the coast to improve access to kai moana and the coast generally.

Mapping of features other than historic heritage resources was not considered to provide for tāngata whenua and Māori cultural values in the identification criteria. MTAG raised some opposition to the mapping of these resources because they did not result in purposeful protection of the resources and placed restrictions over Māori land. They also raised that there should be emphasis on identification and protection of Sites of Significance to Māori and Cultural Landscapes. To date this has been limited due to lack of resources.

4.7 Supporting management and improvement

- 16. Activities with only benign adverse effects or positive effects are not subject to the consent process.
- 17. Plans target incentives towards the areas identified in Method 4.7.4(1).
- 18. Community, iwi, hapū and landowner environmental improvement efforts are focussed in a manner or location that provides the most public benefit.
- 19. Council's support initiatives for restoration in areas targeted in Method 4.7.4(1).
- 20. The amenity, natural character and recreational value of areas targeted in Method 4.7.4(1). increases over the life of the Regional Policy Statement.

With regard to activities not requiring consents for benign or positive effects, staff consider that rules in the plan generally only require consents for activities with potential to create adverse effect on the environment. Benign or positive activities are generally not subject to consenting process, except where such activities present as risk to the environment, such as minor earthworks in a flood hazard area. It is recognised that there are limitations to drafting a permitted activity rule that covers all situations. There is also recognition that individual activities may only have limited effect but that taken together there is the potential for cumulative effects.

Staff consider that the rules are working well and have struck a balance between capturing and assessing activities with potential adverse effects without overly restricting activities with benign or positive effects. Conditions of consent are also commonly applied to either protect and/or improve natural resources (such as pest and weed management plans and restoration plantings) and NRC has a range of programmes that support outcomes in the RPS, particularly funding support offered through grant funding initiatives. Incentives used in district plans (such as environmental benefit lots) have also assisted in protecting / restoring biodiversity although not directly linked to the RPS.

4.8 Efficient use of coastal water space

21. All new structures and in the common marine and coastal area are an efficient use of the space.

The rules for new structures in the coastal environment have been developed in the Regional Plan and recognise the direction from Policy 4.8.1 of the RPS. All but the most minor of new structures require a resource consent. Resource consent assessment criteria allow for consideration of the efficient use of space and the need for the activity to be located within the coastal and marine environment.

Coastal occupation charging for private use of the coastal area has been considered by council as a means of encouraging efficient use of the coastal area. However, this has not been implemented due to the likelihood that the NBEA will include a national standard for coastal occupation charging. Should this not make it to the final version of the Act, council is likely to revisit a local charging regime.



Have we achieved what we said we would?

The ability to achieve the outcomes identified in the RPS has been constrained by the short timeframe for the review and the limited implementation of the RPS within updated planning documents. Without the provisions being fully implemented at both the district and regional level, it is difficult to determine if the anticipated outcomes are likely to be achieved by the current provisions in the RPS. Staff do not consider any major changes are warranted because there has not been sufficient time to make meaningful progress to implementing the current RPS document.



The Barker's report considers that the objectives of the PRS are partially being achieved. NRC has provided improved opportunities for tāngata whenua participation in plan development, eg. Freshwater Plan Change, however, they do not consider there has been a measurable improvement in resource consenting and monitoring processes.

It is acknowledged that progress has been limited by the delay in giving effect to the RPS. A number of these issues are recognised in the Tāiki ē strategy and there is a commitment from NRC to improve.

How do we know our action led to the outcomes observed?

The most concrete link to observable outcomes is in the formulation of the Regional Plan.

In the hierarchy of documents, the RPS sets the direction, and the Regional Plan develops the policies and rules framework for implementing this direction. The formulation of the Regional Plan is considered to have implemented the main themes of the RPS and as this document gets closer to being fully operative it will be clearer how this works in practice.

There has also been progress by district councils with plan changes or proposed plans reflecting RPS direction, most notably on natural hazards, outstanding landscapes / features, natural character and the coastal environment.



Have we achieved the outcomes at a reasonable cost?

Feedback from district councils is that financial and staffing constraints are a barrier to achieving the RPS outcomes. It has been suggested that NRC could take a more proactive role in supporting and resourcing the district councils to achieve the policy outcomes. Work streams could be undertaken as co-design projects with information and outcomes shared between councils to reduce time and cost.

However, NRC is not presently resourced to enable such an approach. Similar constraints are apparent in respect of NRC's capacity to partner with tāngata whenua and resource the development of Mana Whakahono ā Rohe agreements. The NRC Te Tiriti Strategy, Tāiki ē, recognises this challenge.



A key example of resourcing needs is the requirement of the NPS-IB for district plans to identify SNAs. Previously this has been an area of contention for the public. To undertake SNA mapping in a way that is accepted by the community will require a considerable investment of time and money and a shared approach may be beneficial.

An alternative way of looking at the costs was discussed by MTAG in that the RPS was considered to favour economic cost benefit analysis over social, cultural, and environmental costs. It was considered that costs such as degradation of mahinga kai and the resulting inability to practice traditional food gathering, for example, were not able to be captured when looking at purely economic costs of assessing consent proposals.

Are we focused on the right issues?

Changes to the National Planning Framework

What impact has this had since the RPS became operative?

Since the RPS became operative, several significant national policy documents have been enacted. The most important of these are:

- National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 2020
- National Environmental Standards for Freshwater
- National Policy Statement for Highly Productive Land
- National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity
- National Adaptation Plan for Climate Change and Emissions Reduction Plan
- National Policy Statement for Urban Development

The majority of the changes required by the NPS-FW and NES-FW will be addressed by the Freshwater Plan Change and this will largely relate to the Regional Plan rather than the RPS. Extensive consultation is underway including the establishment of the Primary Sector Liaison Group (PSLG) and TWWAG to assist in drafting the plan change in a way that gives effect to Te Mana o Te Wai (TMoTW). Long term visions will go into the RPS, but the bulk of the outcomes for freshwater will become objectives in the Regional Plan.

The NPS-HPL is intended to ensure that adequate protection is provided for our most productive land. A key requirement is for regional councils to undertake the mapping of highly productive land within the parameters set out in the NPS-HPL and to notify a plan change incorporating these maps into the RPS by October 2025. The addition of the maps identifying highly productive land is all that is required at the regional level, with the district councils being responsible for developing their own planning framework of policies and rules to ensure appropriate recognition of productive land.

As with the NPS-FW, the majority of the changes required by the NPS-IB are likely to be addressed by plan changes that will largely relate to the Regional Plan rather than the RPS. This will require extensive consultation with tāngata whenua, DOC, district councils and the primary sector, to assist in drafting the plan changes in a way that recognise community aspirations. Indigenous vegetation restoration targets and likely other long-term visions for biodiversity will go into the RPS, but the bulk of the outcomes for biodiversity will become Regional Plan provisions – another key delivery mechanism will be the development and implementation of the Regional Biodiversity Strategy.

Significant issues that have arisen

Greater focus on climate change adaption / resilience

Since the development of the RPS, the magnitude and potential consequences of climate change have become better understood. Issues such as natural hazards and sea level rise appear to be occurring more quickly than originally anticipated and addressing these matters appropriately requires a more comprehensive approach within the RPS. The Tonkin and Taylor report was commissioned to undertake a review of the RPS and PRP against the national climate change framework and regional documents Ngā Taumata o te Moana and Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy to consider council's current position and relate it to best practice in terms of climate change change resilience and adaptation.

This review process included workshopping with local government representatives and identified key areas where the RPS could be improved to address climate change more effectively. This review is attached as Appendix 2 with the key findings summarised below. Unlike the changes required by the NPS-HPL, these changes are not compulsory and would need support from councillors to progress.

However, given the recent impacts from extreme weather events experienced in Tai Tokerau and around New Zealand there is urgency to consider an appropriate policy response.

The Tonkin and Taylor review report assessed the ability of the RPS to address climate change actions and the current performance of the RPS. In most areas the RPS was assessed to be moderate to poor in giving effect to the actions required. However, it was acknowledged that this is a reflection of the changing nature of climate change understanding and the forward looking nature of the two regional climate strategies, rather than a reflection on the inadequacies of the RPS at the time of preparation.

The key recommended areas for action are:

- Overall strategic direction;
- Adaption;
- Emissions reduction; and
- Carbon removal.

Within these key areas the following actions were identified as having the highest relevance to the RPS:

- Empowering Māori / partnership with Māori;
- Climate resilient development in the right locations;
- Adaption options including managed retreat;
- Nature based adaption;
- Resilient infrastructure; and
- Planning for lower emissions.



Climate change was also identified in the Barker's report as a key issue. Their conclusions state that *"climate change is now an issue of significance and needs to be integrated throughout the RPS."* The report recommends that any updates to incorporate climate change issues into the RPS should have input from tangata whenua to ensure a Te Ao Maori perspective is considered.

Conclusions and recommendations

There have been mixed results with regard to the anticipated environmental outcomes identified in the RPS. Some areas such as economic development, protection of Outstanding Natural Landscapes and hazard management are moving towards achieving these outcomes, while in other areas such as issues of significance to tāngata whenua, freshwater quality and biodiversity protection, little progress is apparent although the Freshwater Plan Change will be the vehicle for addressing water issues in the future.

A number of factors contribute to lack of progress in some areas. Five years is a relatively short timeframe to achieve environmental outcomes with issues such as water quality potentially taking decades to show measurable improvements. Moreover, the lag from completing the RPS to giving effect to its provisions through planning instruments creates further challenges to fully understanding the effectiveness of the RPS at the five-year mark.

The Regional Plan for Northland was released in 2018 and is not yet fully operative. WDC has implemented a series of rolling plan changes which have moved towards implementing the direction of the RPS. FNDC released their Proposed District Plan and Kaipara District Council released their Draft Plan in July 2022. Prior to that, these plans predated the release of the RPS and, therefore, had limited ability to give effect to the policy direction in the RPS. The Proposed and Draft Plans will provide more direction on achieving the RPS outcomes as they more through the development process and progressively hold more weighting in assessing land use.

Funding and staff capacity has been identified as a constraint to achieving the anticipated outcomes with issues such as appropriate engagement and recognition of tangata whenua values being hampered by a lack of resources. This is particularly true taking into account council's commitment to give effect to its obligations under Te Tiriti. Construction and maintenance of infrastructure is also impacted, particularly in the Far North where development contributions are not collected from new development. The introduction of the Three Waters reform is likely to result in a change to infrastructure funding and development and the RPS may need to provide clarity / direction.

It is recommended that, where possible, NRC contribute expertise and resources to assist district councils to give effect to the policy direction in the RPS. NRC could also encourage and facilitate codesign process where issues are worked through in a collaborative way with sharing of experiences and resources.

A number of changes to the RPS will be required by the new pieces of the national planning framework.

Freshwater provisions in the RPS and the Regional Plan will be updated by the Freshwater Plan Change project with a plan change to be notified late 2024.

A Schedule 1 plan change is required to incorporate maps of highly productive land for the region into the RPS and must be notified before October 2025.

The NPS-IB sets out the timing for local authorities to implement the NPS-IB. In broad terms, councils are encouraged to give effect to the NPS-IB as soon as practicable, but changes to policy statements or plans (plan changes) must be notified no later than year 8 (August 2031).

NRC may choose to amend the RPS for consistency with the NPS-IB by replacing the RPS biodiversity offsetting and compensation definitions with those used in the NPS-IB. Because this involves only changing wording or terminology, it can be treated as a correction of a minor error (and, therefore, under clause 20A of Schedule 1 of the Act, the amendment can be made without using a process in that Schedule).

There is a need for plan changes that incorporate provisions to manage effects on SNAs, and clause 3.24 (resource consent information requirements) to be notified no later than year 5, however this process may not involve the RPS, ie. It is likely to only affect the regional plan.

Biodiversity strategies must be starting within three years and complete by year 10 (August 2033), although there is information required to be in those strategies that must inform objectives, policies and methods associated with indigenous biodiversity restoration (clause 3.21), which are to be notified by year 8 (as above) and this may involve both the RPS and Regional Plan. It is likely that a number of the NPS-IB requirements will be incorporated into the new resource management system given the timing, with more emphasis on spatial planning and less of a role for the RPS given combined district / regional plans under the NBEA (once enacted).

Minor amendments relating to the NPS-UD will need to be included without a Schedule 1 process.

The Climate Change review undertaken by Tonkin and Taylor identified deficiencies in the current planning documents in the following key areas:

- Overall strategic direction;
- Adaption;
- Emissions reduction; and
- Carbon removal.

It is recommended that consideration is given to developing a range of amendments to the RPS based on the findings of this review.

The report prepared by Barker and Associates also identified an area for a potential plan change in order to improve integration of tangata whenua provisions across the rest of the RPS in particular:

- Fresh and coastal water management;
- Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity;
- Economic potential and social wellbeing; and
- Natural hazard management.

This report also identified gaps in the climate change provisions in the RPS and recommended this be addressed with input from tangata whenua to ensure a Te Ao Maori perspective is integrated.

Additionally, a stock take of existing CIAs could be undertaken to gauge their impact on the consenting process and a road map be prepared guiding early engagement for resource consent applications.

Based on the assessment above, the following actions are recommended:

- 1. Update to the RPS to incorporate the compulsory requirements of the NPS-UD without the requirement to undertake a Schedule 1 process.
- 2. Continue to develop maps of Highly Productive Land as required by the NPS-HPL and notify a plan change by October 2025 to add these to the RPS.
- 3. Make any consequential amendments to the RPS as a result of notifying the Freshwater Plan Change.
- 4. Update the RPS to give effect to the requirements of the NPS-IB.
- 5. Revise and clarify the definition of regionally significant infrastructure in Appendix 3 of the RPS
- 6. Evaluate options for updating the RPS to respond to the recommendations of the Tonkin and Taylor Climate Change Review once we have clarity on the resource management reform process.



Appendices

Review of Climate Change Provisions

Report by Tonkin & Taylor Ltd May 2023

Effectiveness and Efficiency Review of the Northland Regional Policy Statement – Tangata Whenua Lens

Report by B&A Urban & Environmental Barker & Associates Ltd April 2023

REPORT

Tonkin+Taylor

Review of Climate Change Provisions

Prepared for Northland Regional Council Prepared by Tonkin & Taylor Ltd Date May 2023 Job Number 1020480.0002 v2





www.tonkintaylor.co.nz

Document control

Title: Review of Climate Change Provisions							
Date	Version	Description	Prepared by:	Reviewed by:	Authorised by:		
April 2023	1	Draft for client review	Sarah McCarter	Marje Russ	Marje Russ		
May 2023	2	Final	Sarah McCarter	Marje Russ	Marje Russ		

Distribution: Northland Regional Council Tonkin & Taylor Ltd (FILE)

1 electronic copy 1 electronic copy

Table of contents

1	Introduction			
2	Methodology			
	2.1	Step 1: Review relevant documents	3	
	2.2	Step 2: Extract assessment criteria	3	
	2.3	Step 3: Relevance	4	
	2.4	Step 4: Policy analysis	4	
	2.5	Step 5: Overall report card	4	
3	Results and discussion			
4	Conclusions and recommendations			
5	Applicability			
Appendix A Assessme		Assessment criteria		
Appendix B		Relevant provisions from the Regional Policy Statement and Proposed Regional Plan		
Appendix C		Extract from National Adaptation Plan		

Executive summary

Northland Regional Council (NRC)'s vision is that Te Taitokerau is resilient in a changing climate, and transitions proactively and equitably to a thriving net-zero emissions society before 2050. This is set out in two key documents:

- Ngā Taumata o Te Moana: our strategy for tackling climate change, NRC, July 2021 ('Ngā Taumata o Te Moana')
- Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Climate Change Adaptation Te Tai Tokerau, April 2022.

NRC's 5-yearly efficiency and effectiveness review¹ of the Regional Policy Statement for Northland (May 2016) presents an opportunity to pursue aspects of the strategies and implementation plans set out in these and other relevant documents.

NRC commissioned Tonkin & Taylor Ltd (T+T) to review the Regional Policy Statement and the Proposed Regional Plan for Northland December 2022 – Appeals Version to identify current best practice and potential amendments.

T+T developed a set of assessment criteria to capture high-level common themes or expectations in the two strategy documents and:

- Aotearoa New Zealand's First Emissions Reduction Plan, MfE, May 2022 (ERP)
- Aotearoa New Zealand's First National Adaptation Plan, Ministry for the Environment (MfE), August 2022 (NAP)
- specific relevant amendments to the Resource Management (RMA) and Section 5ZW of the Climate Change Response (Carbon Zero) Act 2002.

T+T applied the assessment criteria to understand the relevance of the actions in these climate change documents and provisions, to matters which can be addressed under the RMA framework. This was followed by a policy analysis against the assessment criteria. An overall report card (see page 15) sets out how well the NRC planning documents contribute to achieving the assessment criteria.

It is important to note that the RPS became operative in 2016, well in advance of the climate strategies. Therefore, while some aspects of the climate strategies are addressed in the RPS, many are not. There are a number of new topics identified via the assessment criteria which have not been considered or expressly addressed in the RPS or PRP, particularly in relation to reducing emissions and carbon removal.

As a result, the RPS and PRP score either moderate or poor against the assessment criteria for the overall report card rating. This is a reflection of the forward-looking nature of the two regional climate strategy documents and the changing nature of our knowledge of climate change impacts and responses, rather than a reflection on inadequacies in the RPS and PRP at the time of their preparation.

NRC will need to make strategic decisions about how much it should focus its resources on reviewing the RPS and/or on preparing to implement the RM reforms. In making that decision, we recommend the follow matters be considered:

- the timeframe over which the reviewed RPS may be in effect and impact on outcomes;
- the benefits of furthering NRC's climate vision (vs costs) by providing new direction sooner rather than later;

¹ required under Section 35(2A) of the Resource Management Act

- specific matters where there is a gap arising from RMA amendments (e.g. on GHG emissions and climate emissions mitigation);
- commentary in the NAP that local government should act now to drive climate-resilient development in the right locations, using existing functions and powers before the new resource management system takes full effect.

Our review and findings identify a wide range of opportunities that could inform a more, rather than less, fulsome review of the RPS. Should NRC decide to progress a more limited review of the current RPS, these recommendations should help inform work that could begin now to support efficient and effective, early progress to implement the RM reforms. Our key findings are summarised below.

Overall strategic direction

Three assessment criteria that provide overall strategic direction were identified:

- A collaborative and holistic approach
- Making well-informed decisions: a science-based approach to implementation
- Empowering Māori | Partnership with Māori

There is scope under the RMA to play a significant or primary role the actions identified under <u>Empowering Māori | Partnership with Māori.</u> However, the current RPS/PRP perform poorly in this area. Directive and clear provisions which specifically reference climate change impacts for tangata whenua would be useful. Overall, the RPS and PRP do not address a tika transition to a net zero emissions future for Māori, nor restorative practices to enhance Māori connection to land and sea. There is also an opportunity to provide some support for mātauranga in adaptation planning provisions, and to expand on what acceptable environmental outcomes could encompass related to adaptation and transition.

There is moderate scope under the RMA to provide direction on "<u>A collaborative and holistic</u> <u>approach</u>" and "<u>Making well-informed decisions: a science-based approach to implementation</u>". The RPS/PRP perform moderately well in these areas. Key opportunities include:

- updating both the RPS and PRP to provide consistent direction on climate change action for Northland in an RMA context,
- reviewing existing climate change information (if not already completed), to determine the extent to which this information can be relied on to inform development of the next RPS / PRP. There is a clear gap in relation to climate change mitigation (reduce emissions and remove carbon) however, a review of existing information on potential impacts on the natural environment (including freshwater systems, indigenous biodiversity and biosecurity) would also be consistent with the adaptation actions in Ngā Taumata o te Moana.

Climate change adaptation

Seven assessment criteria relate to climate change adaptation:

- Risk-informed decision making
- Climate-resilient development in the right locations
- Adaptation options including managed retreat
- Nature-based adaptation
- Resilient communities
- Resilient infrastructure
- Resilient economy

There is scope under the RMA to play a significant or primary role on the actions identified under "<u>Climate-resilient development in the right locations</u>" however, the RPS/PRP perform poorly in this area. Regional spatial planning, proposed as part of the RM reforms, will be particularly helpful to achieve "Climate-resilient development in the right locations". Importantly, the NAP identifies the need for local government should act now to drive climate-resilient development in the right locations – before the new resource management system takes full effect, using existing functions and powers. This suggests NRC should consider this as part of its current review of the RPS.

Other opportunities where the RMA is highly relevant include:

- <u>Adaptation options including managed retreat:</u> NRC will need, for now, to consider 'managed retreat' in the context of the existing planning framework (which is limited). However, there is an important opportunity to take a stronger and more focussed approach to adaptation options here: aligned with critical actions identified in the NAP, along with RM reforms; and what we can expect to be produced in the coming months based on government response to recent flooding and cyclones.
- <u>Nature-based adaptation:</u> Ideally there would be some overarching provisions in the RPS which prioritise nature-based solutions outside of the coastal environment (as well as in the coastal environment which has relatively strong provisions due to the NZCPS direction). There is a significant opportunity to connect thinking about looking after ecology, water quality, indigenous species with their importance for resilience. Also to recognise their connection with nature-based hazard management approaches, rather than hard structures. This would establish a more holistic approach. This may include rethinking some activity status and associated assessment criteria.
- <u>Resilient infrastructure (adaptation)</u>: There is a gap in the PRP provisions, which focus on the benefits and effects of regionally significant infrastructure on the environment, but do not specifically articulate a requirement for climate resilient infrastructure. Specific requirement to consider climate change impacts in infrastructure planning would be useful and may reduce risk of maladaptation through building infrastructure which then needs to be upgraded or retrofitted. This could apply in conjunction with a broader planning framework which seeks to avoid development in inappropriate areas and allows for managed retreat where necessary. We also note that, while resilient infrastructure has strong adaptation focus, relevant provisions could be built on to support the transition to net zero.

In addition:

- Drought and water security is a key issue for Northland. We note that actions relating to <u>Resilient communities</u> are less relevant under the RMA than those listed above, and would need to be supported/implemented in conjunction with measures which are outside of the scope of the RMA. However, there is an opportunity to include thinking about local adaptation planning in reviewing the RPS and PRP.
- <u>Risk-informed decision making</u>: The natural hazards chapters of the RPS and PRP are reasonably fulsome particularly in regard to coastal and flooding hazards. However, the focus is on looking after what we have, where we already are. Reflecting on lessons learnt from implementation and the 2023 weather events, opportunities for updates and additional provisions could address the following matters.
 - There is very limited direction on long-term solutions, including managed retreat (noting that the resource management reforms have also focussed on this as a key issue). In terms of contributing to risk informed decision making, this is identified as a key gap in the RPS and PRP.
 - A long-term view could be supported through a directive policy framework that:

- o Articulates what resilient outcomes would look like, in addition to minimising existing risk,
- Sets out places and/or circumstances where development should be avoided (with potential links into future spatial planning).
- We understand that community-based adaptation planning is currently underway in Northland, and some consideration needs to be given to how adaptation planning is implemented, including via statutory plans. Ultimately, if the adaptation plans identify transformative or significant changes, such as managed retreat from particular locations, spatial planning will be key to implementation.
- <u>Resilient economy:</u> In addition to the matters identified in risk-informed decision making and climate resilient development in the right locations, there is an opportunity to build on existing provisions to include a wider concept of wellbeing. This could include resilience to effects of climate change and a just transition. A review of the effectiveness of these provisions would assist in identifying whether any additional revisions are required; or whether this provides sufficient framework and direction to support implementation in lower order plans which encompass land use and zoning.

Climate change mitigation (reduce emissions and carbon removal)

Eight assessment criteria relate to climate change mitigation:

- Equitable transition
- Planning for lower emissions
- Net-zero economy
- Implications of emissions pricing
- Review of focus sectors from ERP (Circular economy and bioeconomy; Transport; Energy and industry; Building and construction; Rural environment (Agriculture and Forestry); Waste; Fluorinated gases)
- Land use practises support carbon removal
- Protection of natural ecosystems | nature based solutions for carbon removal
- Carbon removal economy

Generally, the RPS/PRP perform poorly in relation to climate change mitigation criteria. This is largely a reflection of earlier RMA limitations on considering GHG emissions and climate change mitigation. The trecent changes to RMA provisions allow NRC to have regard to the effects of discharges into air of greenhouse gases (GHG) on climate change in making rules to control the discharges, and this could potentially be an area of focus for NRC.

In particular, the main RPS provision which supports <u>Planning for lower emissions</u> is Objective 3.11: Regional form: "Northland has sustainable built environments that effectively integrate infrastructure with subdivision, use and development, and have a sense of place, identity and a range of lifestyle, employment and transport choices." However, beyond this the RPS/PRP response is limited to renewable energy. It would be appropriate to include a policy framework within the RPS to direct how NRC will exercise new discretion under the RMA and to provide transparency for other stakeholders on this. In addition, a regional GHG emissions inventory would assist in targeting planning measures with the greatest impact on Northland's GHG emissions. However, in the absence of this, aligning with the key initiatives from the ERP may be useful.

In addition:

• There are currently no provisions in the RPS or PRP which directly support a <u>Net-zero</u> <u>economy</u>, which is not surprising given the RMA limitations with regards to climate change mitigation and the s5 focus on natural and physical resources. We recommend that any review of the RPS/PRP checks that provisions supports and enables transformation and emission reduction initiatives, rather than inadvertently proving barriers to this transition. In addition, clear support for climate-friendly development and initiatives as part of a collaborative and holistic approach, will assist in implementing this theme.

- For Northland, the key <u>Implications of emissions pricing</u> from an RMA perspective are likely to be supporting indigenous biodiversity and enabling the right forests in the right place for mitigation and to manage environmental effects of commercial forestry plantations. This is strongly linked with the protection of natural ecosystems as part of carbon removal.
- There are no provisions relating to <u>Carbon removal</u> in the RPS or PRP, which is unsurprising given that this is new technology to consider and the previous restrictions in the RMA. This may need to be subject to a focussed piece of research to understand how the RPS/PRP can best contribute to NRC's goal of a thriving, innovative carbon removal economy on land and sea.
- There is limited provision currently in the RPS/PRP in relation to a number of <u>Focus sectors set</u> <u>out in the ERP</u>, which contain substantial new issues and concepts that could be addressed in the review of the RPS and PRP. We recommend a review of the relevant actions under the ERP (see Appendix A) to check key issues that Northland could support and implement in the RPS.
1 Introduction

Northland Regional Council (NRC)'s vision is that Te Taitokerau is resilient in a changing climate, and transitions proactively and equitably to a thriving net-zero emissions society before 2050.

Two key documents inform NRC's approach to climate change:

- Ngā Taumata o Te Moana: our strategy for tackling climate change, NRC, July 2021 ('Ngā Taumata o Te Moana')
- Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Climate Change Adaptation Te Tai Tokerau, April 2022

This review of climate change provisions will provide input for NRC's 5-yearly efficiency and effectiveness review of the Regional Policy Statement under RMA s35(2A). To assist NRC to implement actions identified in these strategies and associated implementation plans, NRC has commissioned Tonkin & Taylor Ltd (T+T) to review the Regional Policy Statement for Northland (May 2016) and the Proposed Regional Plan for Northland December 2022 – Appeals Version (PRP) against relevant climate change documents in order to help identify current best practice and potential amendments.

Alongside Ngā Taumata o Te Moana and Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, relevant documents include:

- Aotearoa New Zealand's First Emissions Reduction Plan, MfE, May 2022 ('ERP')²
- Aotearoa New Zealand's First National Adaptation Plan, Ministry for the Environment (MfE), August 2022 ('NAP')³
- Climate change amendments to the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) which took effect as of 30 November 2022. These require:
 - councils to 'have regard to' the ERP and the NAP when making or changing regional policy statements, regional plans, or district plans (RMA section 61),
 - regional councils to have regard to the effects of discharges into air of greenhouse gases (GHG) on climate change in making rules to control the discharges of GHGs, and consent authorities may have regard to the effects of discharges into air of GHGs on climate change in considering an application for a discharge permit or coastal permit (repeal of RMA sections 70A and 104E).
- Section 5ZW of the Climate Change Response (Carbon Zero) Act 2002 ('Carbon Zero Act'). This allows the Minister or Climate Change Commission the power to request provision of information on climate change adaptation, including from local authorities,

In reviewing these documents, we have been cognisant of the purpose of the RPS, which is to provide an overview of the resource management issues of the region and policies and methods to achieve integrated management of the natural and physical resources of the whole region (RMA section 59).

In undertaking analysis against the above, this review also considers other matters such as:

 best practice hazards, risk and vulnerability assessment and management for the effects of climate change (including definitions);

² Section 5ZG of the Carbon Zero Act requires an emissions reduction plan to be prepared for each emissions budget period. An emissions budget period means a 5-year period, except for the first 4-year period in the years 2022 to 2025, as specified in section 5X(3) of the Carbon Zero Act.

³ Section 5ZR requires preparation of a national adaptation plan, in response to the 6-yearly national climate change risk assessments required by Section 5ZQ.

- how the settings of the New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme interact with NRC RMA plans and policies, including consideration of incentives/disincentives for land use change e.g., carbon farming;
- upcoming changes to the planning framework including the new Natural and Built Environments Act, the Spatial Planning Act and the Climate Adaptation Act.

2 Methodology

The methodology for review the RPS and PRP against relevant climate change documents is set out in Figure 1 below.



Figure 1: Summary of methodology

2.1 Step 1: Review relevant documents

The main relevant documents are Ngā Taumata o Te Moana, Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, the ERP and the NAP. The structure and content were reviewed prior to progressing to Step 2.

2.2 Step 2: Extract assessment criteria

Following the review of these documents, a focussed set of assessment criteria was drafted to capture high-level common themes or expectations across the documents.

Ngā Taumata o Te Moana (July 2021) and Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy (April 2022) are documents developed specifically for Northland region. Goals and actions from these documents were reviewed and themed, following the structure of Ngā Taumata o Te Moana:

- Overall strategic direction
- Adapt
- Reduce emissions
- Carbon removal

The ERP and NAP, being high level national documents published after the regional documents (in May and August 2022 respectively), were reviewed after the regional documents. Actions which support or add to the regional documents were identified and added to the assessment criteria accordingly. Detailed assessment criteria are attached in **Appendix A**.

2.3 Step 3: Relevance

This step involved a review of the relevance of the actions in the NRC, ERP and NAP documents to matters which can be regulated under the RMA framework, specifically RMA Part 5 *'Local authority policy statements and plans'*. This sets out matters to be considered by councils and contents of regional policy statements and plans.

The relevance of the identified actions has been assessed on a low-medium-high scale. This is set out in detail in Appendix A, where the relevance has been assessed for each of the identified actions and goals reviewed in Step 2 above. This has been summarised into an overall relevance rating in the policy analysis table, set out in Table 3 (Section 3) below.

Where a matter has been assessed as not relevant i.e. sitting outside of the scope of matters which can be regulated or influenced under the RMA, this is not included in this document and has not been assessed further.

Relevance	Commentary
0	The action is outside the scope of matters which can be regulated or influenced under the RMA.
1	Low - there is scope under the RMA to play a minor role in advancing this action.
2	Medium - there is scope under the RMA to play a moderate role in progressing the action, however, it will not serve as the main mechanism, and will need to be supported/implemented in conjunction with measures which are outside of the scope of the RMA.
3	High - there is scope under the RMA to play a significant or primary role in progressing the action.

Table 1: Relevance or ability for the RMA to address assessment criteria

2.4 Step 4: Policy analysis

The assessment criteria have been used to evaluate the content of the RPS and PRP. This is recorded in Section 3 below, which sets out the extent to which the criteria are met and the basis of the assessment. The relevant RPS and PRP provisions are attached for reference in **Appendix B**

2.5 Step 5: Overall report card

The overall, high-level, report card for the RPS and PRP indicates how well these documents contribute to achieving the assessment criteria and relevant actions, as shown in Table 2. This rating pulls together the assessment of relevance (Step 2) and current content to identify the areas where the most significant improvements can be achieved e.g. filling gaps or strengthening what is already in the RPS.

Key recommendations were extracted from the detailed analysis to summarise options to review and/or enhance provisions in the RPS and PRP (see Section 4 of this report). We recommend that NRC considers the report card rating and the relevance score (i.e. the ability for the RMA to address assessment criteria) when deciding on next steps, including the desirability of making changes in the RPS now or at a later date.

Table 2: Overall report card

Impact	Commentary
Strong	The RPS/PRP contains strong provisions to clearly contribute to achieving the assessment criteria.
Moderate	The RPS/PRP contributes moderately well noting there is scope for improvement. This scoring includes actions where the RPS/PRP performs well in some areas but poorly in others.
Poor	This action is in scope of the matters which could reasonably be regulated by the RMA, however the RPS/PRP contain few or no relevant provisions to contribute to the action or sub-action.

3 Results and discussion

The RPS became operative in May 2016 and key parts of the PRP (Appeals Version), particularly the Natural Hazards provisions, were resolved in May 2020. Therefore, the preparation of both of these documents predate Ngā Taumata o Te Moana (July 2021) and Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy (April 2022), along with the ERP (May 2022), NAP (August 2022), and the latest RMA amendments which took effect in November 2022.

The two regional climate strategy documents are very forward looking and provide a strong platform to review the RPS and PRP:

- Recognising changes that have occurred to **RMA** requirements since the RPS was made operative in 2016 (especially on climate change mitigation).
- Taking a much stronger **partnership and collaborative approach** (which will align well with RM reform proposals).
- Setting stronger and more directive **outcome statements** (objectives) which will also align with RM reform proposals.

Currently, while some aspects of the climate strategies are addressed in the RPS, many are not. There are new topics identified via the assessment criteria which have not been considered or expressly addressed in the RPS or PRP, particularly in relation to reducing emissions and carbon removal. For example, an equitable transition to a net-zero economy and society, implications of emissions pricing and carbon removal, are matters that have emerged since the RPS was drafted. However, there are crossovers with existing content e.g. the protection of indigenous vegetation and habitats of indigenous fauna is beneficial both for climate change adaptation and mitigation, as well as being a matter of national importance under s6 of the RMA.

Overall, the RPS and PRP score either moderate or poor against the assessment criteria for the overall report card rating. This is a reflection of the forward looking nature of the two regional climate strategy documents and the changing nature of our knowledge of climate change impacts and responses (rather than a reflection of inadequacies in the RPS and PRP at the time of its preparation).

The analysis in Table 3 below sets out a series of options available to include provisions in the RPS. These could support early implementation of the climate strategies and expectations in the NAP/ERP and RM reforms. They may also begin to address expected outcomes and recommendations of central government work and reviews related to the 2023 floods and cyclones.

We recommend that NRC reviews both the report card rating (refer Table 2) and the relevance score (refer Table 1) when prioritising next steps. Conclusions and recommendations are set out in Section 4 below.

Table 3: Detailed analysis against assessment criteria

Assessment criteria	Document reference	Relevance			Policy analysis	Report card rating
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation		
Overall strategic direction						
 A collaborative and holistic approach work in partnership with tangata whenua, and collaboratively with communities and stakeholders, to support resilience and a transition that is tika (correct and fair). Principles for working with each other: Kotahitanga, manaakitanga, whanaungatanga 	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our commitment / How we will work with others				 The RPS sets out, among other matters, the significant resource management issues for the region, resource management issues of significance to iwi authorities in the region (Chapter 2), and the objectives sought to be achieved by the RPS (Chapter 3). Issues and objectives are a key part of RPS, and can be very effective in driving lower-order policy if drafted in a specific and directive manner. These provisions can set the scene for a collaborative and holistic approach which should be reflected in the PRP and district plans, although that implementation will require consistent support and funding on the ground and in relation to other NRC programmes. In the RPS, climate change is not independently identified as a significance to tangata whenua, and natural hazards. These issues generally respond to the identified effects of climate change in Northland at the time the RPS became operative in 2016 (higher temperatures, a decrease in annual rainfall, and more frequent droughts and heavy rain events). Since 2016, our understanding of climate change has progressed, with Ngā Taumata o te Moana recognising the broad effects of climate change will increasingly disrupt Northland's water, land, ecosystems, people and economy. A review of the RPS could consider identifying climate change as a key issue for the region, with associated objectives and policies. This would enable a more holistic approach to identifying and addressing climate change impacts. This could also link in strongly with spatial planning proposed through the Spatial Planning Bill associated with the RM reforms. In regard to the current RPS: More specificity around resilience / adaptation to future climate change could be added to provisions such as Objective 3.15, Policy 4.4.2 and 4.7.1, particularly where they support nature-based solutions and resilient environments e.g. Objective 3.15 (d) Areas of 	Moderate
					 significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna (including those within estuaries and harbours), Policy 4.4.2 Supporting restoration and enhancement, Policy 4.7.1 b) Soil conservation / erosion control. Objectives and policies (e.g. Objective 3.15, Policy 4.4.2, Policy 4.7.1, Method 4.2.3) currently support a collaborative approach focus on enabling landowners, individuals, iwi, hapū and community groups to actively maintain or improve the environment (but this is framed as 'active management'). Enabling activities with positive outcomes for climate change (i.e. providing for activities as a permitted activity or similar) will assist in minimising barriers to climate change action. Collaborative and holistic methods for developing statutory plans and strategies (4.1.2(a), (d)) and advocacy and education (4.2.3) could become a very powerful method if the catchment specific objectives are strong and directive with regard to climate change adaptation / mitigation. However, we note that implementation is also reliant on funding and other mechanisms outside of the RMA framework. Other methods / mechanisms that statutory plans could use to support implementation of a collaborative approach, could be investigated and considered further as part of a review of the RPS. This could potentially include consideration of whether the commitment in Ngā Taumata o te Moana to support resilience and a transition that is tika , and the concepts of kotahitanga, manaakitanga and whanaungatanga, can be used appropriately in an RMA context to frame policy direction. 	
					The PRP sets out general policies for managing natural and physical resources (Policy D.2.1) and social, cultural and economic benefits of activities, which supports a holistic approach. PRP Policy D.2.3 Climate change and development specifically requires "particular regard must be had to the potential effects of climate change on a proposed development requiring consent under this Plan…" This is a useful provision as it generally applies to any development undertaken under the PRP provisions. However, it only relates to the effects of climate change on the development i.e. climate change adaptation / natural hazards. Consideration could be given to including a provision which requires consideration of the effects of the development on climate change i.e. climate change mitigation (now possible under the recent RMA amendments). In addition, clear direction to <u>avoid</u> development in areas where natural hazards may be particularly exacerbated by climate change (see discussion below on climate-resilient development in the right locations). Collaboration is mentioned in the PRP only in the definition of catchment plans (which largely focus on freshwater management). This may reflect the RPS focus on 'active management' and enabling such activities. This is reflected in Policy D.2.1 which seeks, among other matters, to include rules which use or support good management practices and minimise compliance costs.	

Assessment criteria	Document reference	Relevance		Policy analysis	Report card rating
				Overall, there are opportunities to update both the RPS and PRP to provide consistent direction on climate change action for Northland in an RMA context. This will assist the implementation of a collaborative and holistic approach, in conjunction with other NRC programmes and responsibilities.	
Making well-informed decisions: a science- based approach to implementation • Support research, climate risk assessment	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our commitment /			A science-based approach means understanding the scientific basis of climate change, its impacts and future risks, and options for adaptation and mitigation, to support development and implementation of climate change policy. ⁴ Ngā Taumata o te Moana identifies the following actions which contribute to a science-based approach to implementation:	Moderate
and mapping, to better understand our world, including emissions reduction and	Our work			Adapt: Support research, climate risk assessment and mapping	
climate change adaptation				 equitable adaptation approaches and help develop funding plans for adaptation responses 	
 Lead and provide an appropriate response to this understanding, including funding, monitoring, spatial planning 				 research to better understand the potential impacts on our natural environment, including freshwater systems, indigenous biodiversity and biosecurity, and develop appropriate monitoring and response programmes. 	
				• Reduce emissions: Help the region achieve best-practice emissions reductions by providing scientific knowledge, spatial planning and regulatory processes, and supporting land-use change.	
				• Remove carbon: Help improve understanding of biological carbon storage in Te Taitokerau by supporting research, adopting methods and standards for biological carbon removal planning and regulatory processes, and supporting land-use change.	
				Currently, the main RPS policies which directly reference a science-based approach to climate change include:	
				6.1.2 Policy - Precautionary approach	
				7.1.1 Policy – General risk management approach	
				7.1.6 Policy – Climate change and development	
				The effectiveness of Policy 6.1.2 will be related to how 'precautionary' is interpreted and applied. In the PRP, the application is focussed on indigenous biodiversity and the coastal environment only. This is possibly due to specific direction in Policy 3 of the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement, "necessary to build the adaptive capacity of the human and built environment, as well as natural coastal systems, to adapt and manage the responses to climate change" ⁵ .	
				Policy 7.1.1 is helpful with regard to reducing risk, and Policy 7.1.6 is particularly helpful in being focussed on likely effects of climate change. Given the outcomes focus of the Natural and Built Environments Bill (currently before parliament), there is an opportunity to develop these types of provisions in a more outcome and future focussed manner. This would give weight not just to reducing risk but to avoiding it.	
				Similarly to the RPS, the PRP contains policies relating to climate change and development (D.2.3), precautionary approach to managing effects on significant indigenous biodiversity and the coastal environment (D.2.20), along with the suite of risk-based policies relating to natural hazards. The PRP methods focus on predictions rather than effects / outcomes, with the precautionary approach again focussing on indigenous biodiversity and the coastal environment.	
				In addition, Council has a duty to gather information, monitor, and keep records under s35 RMA. The RPS sets out a wide range of monitoring and information e.g.	
				• 4.1.3 integrated water management (including climate change predictions and likely impacts on water quality and environmental flows and levels),	
				4.4.4 maintaining and enhancing indigenous ecosystems and species,	
				4.6.4 natural character, features / landscapes and heritage,	
				5.3.5 regionally significant infrastructure,	
				7.1.8 natural hazards.	
				Broadly, a review of existing climate change information may be helpful (if not already completed), to determine the extent to which this information can be relied on to inform development of the next RPS / PRP. This could identify priorities for further research and monitoring, to support a science-based management approach to climate change action for the region. There is a clear gap in relation to climate change mitigation (reduce emissions and remove carbon) however, a review of existing information on potential impacts on the natural environment, including freshwater systems, indigenous biodiversity and biosecurity, would also be consistent with the adaptation actions in Ngā Taumata o te Moana.	
				In this regard, we note the RPS methods set out monitoring and information gathering requirements for a range of areas relevant to climate change, including water management, indigenous ecosystems and species, natural character, features / landscapes and heritage, regionally	

⁴ <u>About — IPCC</u>

⁵ <u>NZCPS 2010 Guidance note: Policy 3: Precautionary approach (doc.govt.nz)</u>

Assessment criteria	Document reference	Relevance	Policy analysis	Report card rating
			significant infrastructure and natural hazards. Of these, only Method 4.1.3 (integrated water management) specifically mentions climate change. More specific direction in the RPS to include climate change may assist in refining and focussing the data gathered. The Natural and Built Environments Bill would require limits to be set in the proposed National Planning Framework (NPF). These would provide some direction on likely national priorities and may also assist with identifying particular priorities for monitoring and information data. The Bill specifically identifies air, indigenous biodiversity, coastal water, estuaries, freshwater and soil, all of which are relevant to climate change.	
 Empowering Māori Partnership with Māori Support Māori communities for a tika (correct and fair) transition to a net-zero emissions future. Restorative practices to enhance Māori connection to land and sea. Māori cultural connections are strengthened, and indigenous knowledge systems supported. Engage with Māori on issues, or co-design programmes with Māori, and enable iwi- /hapū-led programmes. Ensure tangata whenua are appropriately involved in adaptation decision-making 	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals / Our work Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 2 Impacts on Māori		 Iwi authorities have identified the impacts of climate change as regionally significant as they relate to the state of, and pressures on, natural and physical resources (issue 2.6). The RPS explains that tangata whenua believe climate change will impact their cultural, economic, social, and environmental wellbeing. For tangata whenua the effects of climate change have serious implications, and a lack of information or planning is a major issue. The RPS states that Issue 2.6 is addressed by a number of objectives including Objective 3.4 Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity and Objective 3.13 Natural hazard risk. We note that provisions relating specifically to a Te Ao Maori perspective on climate change are not recognised in existing provisions beyond recognising the kaitaki role that tangata whenua have in relation to natural and physical resources. We understand that NRC has recently undertaken a review of the tangata whenua focussed provisions in the RPS, and we do not intend to replicate this here. However, we note that when revising or updating provisions, directive and clear provisions which specifically reference climate change impacts for tangata whenua would be useful. In particular, it may be helpful to reference directly to relevant actions identified in Ngā Taumata o te Moana and Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, particularly where the RNA his asplicable. For example: "Maori cultural connections are strengthened, and indigenous knowledge systems supported" (Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Adapt)) – see Appendix A for full list. Overall, the RPS and RPP do not address a tika transition to a net zero emissions future for Māori, nor restorative practices to enhance Māori connection to land and sea The current plans generally relate to plan making and consents. There is also an opportunity to contain some support for mātauranga in adaptation planning provisions, along with an opportunity to expand on what acceptable environmental outcomes	Poor
Adapt				
 Risk-informed decision making Risk assessments for infrastructure, roading, lifelines, biosecurity, ecosystem and biodiversity, river flooding, coastal hazards, land hazards, wildfire hazards 	Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 5 Natural hazards, Chapter 6 Ecosystems and biosecurity, Chapter 7 Public infrastructure		 The main natural hazards identified in Northland are tsunami hazard, flooding and erosion, particularly land instability, coastal erosion and river erosion.⁶ Risks associated with all of these hazards will be exacerbated by climate change (except tsunami hazard which is commonly associated with earthquakes). The natural hazards chapters of the RPS and PRP are reasonably fulsome particularly in regard to coastal and flooding hazards (see e.g. RPS Issue 2.6 Natural Hazards, Objective 3.13 Natural hazard risk, Chapter 7 Natural hazards; PRP Objective F.1.10 Natural Hazard Risk, Policies D.6 Natural Hazards, Rule C.8.6 Re-building). However, the focus is on looking after what we have, where we already are. In addition, provisions like Policy 7.1.2 effectively enable development provided that it meets certain requirements. This would make applications difficult to decline (noting that 'reasonable use' must be allowed for under the existing statutory framework). Critical actions identified in the NAP for enabling better risk-informed decisions include: Establish a platform for Māori climate action Provide access to the latest climate projections data Design and develop risk and resilience and climate adaptation information portals 	Moderate

⁶ See <u>Natural hazards - Northland Regional Council (nrc.govt.nz)</u>

Assessment criteria	Document	Relevance	Policy analysis	Report card rating
	NAP, Chapter 3		Deliver a rolling programme of targeted adaptation guidance	
	Enabling better		Develop guidance for assessing risk and impact on physical assets and the services they provide	
	risk-informed		Raise awareness of climate hazards and how to prepare	
	decisions		Support high-quality implementation of climate-related disclosures and explore expansion	
			Improve natural hazard information on Land Information Memoranda	
			Reflecting on lessons learnt from implementation and the 2023 weather events, opportunities for updates and additional provisions could address the following matters.	
			• While the policy direction and implementation measures provide a framework for managing buildings and structures within the identified hazard areas (see e.g. the PRP at F.1.10 Natural hazard risk, D.6 Natural Hazards, C.8.3 Re-building), the focus is on immediate hazard management which inherently promotes hard protection structures. There is very limited direction on long-term solutions, including managed retreat (noting that the resource management reforms have also focussed on this as a key issue). In terms of contributing to risk informed decision making, this is identified as a key gap in the RPS and PRP. This gap may potentially be further underscored if and when a Climate Adaptation Bill in introduced to Parliament. This would likely require a long-term focus, including in particular on managed retreat.	
			A long-term view could be supported through a directive policy framework that:	
			 Articulates what resilient outcomes would look like, in addition to minimising existing risk, 	
			 Sets out places and/or circumstances where development should be avoided (with potential links into spatial planning). 	
			• RPS objective 3.13 is particularly helpful in being focussed on impacts as well as risks and the influence of climate change, along with comprehensive in thinking about people, infrastructure, economy etc:	
			 Clause (a) good on understanding natural hazards and events (important for this to be based on understanding place-based natural processes) 	
			 (b) great on considering consequences 	
			 (c) ideally, communication of hazards will move away from historic '1 in 100' etc to focus more on what we have experienced, and expect to experience This could follow through to a rethink of RPS Method 7.1.7 and what is required in District plans, and also Method 7.1.8. 	
			• Policies 7.1.2 and 7.1.3 could be revised to update language and to address not just existing flooding and predicted sea level rise but the nature and intensity of storms (more likely than SLR to cause erosion).	
			Policy 7.1.4 could be reconsidered in light of what we can expect on managed retreat in the next few months.	
			The PRP has some helpful discretionary activity status for activities. A more comprehensive review of these and the assessment criteria would be important after reviewing RPS objectives and policies, to ensure alignment, with a focus on building resilience, not just avoiding increasing risk to property. We note that Policy D.4.6 Flood hazard management – flood defences acknowledges the benefits of flood defences. This may need to be tempered with considering inappropriate expectations associated with flood defences and the protection they provide.	
			A key matter to consider is how the RPS and PRP can anticipate and consider new information, given the amount of information which will be developed in the near future. For example, Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy identifies a number of risk assessments to be undertaken to improve understanding of climate change impacts on range of natural and physical resources, including infrastructure, roading, biosecurity, ecosystems and biodiversity, river flooding, coastal hazards, land hazards and wildfire. A Actions identified in the NAP include a suite of guidance including:	
			MfE to prepare guidance on:	
			 Dynamic Adaptive Policy Pathways (DAPP) in 1-2 year timeframe 	
			 integrating mātauranga Māori in adaptation planning in 3-4 vear timeframe 	
			 prenaring adaptation plans in 1-4 year timeframe (see Actions 3.7.3.3.7.6 and 3.7.7. NAP) 	
			 The Government is to explore extending mandatory climate-related disclosure retime to cover a broader range of activities and entities, for example, public entities at local levels (no timeframe set) (Action 6.6, FRP.) 	
			 Te Waihunga is to develop guidance for assessing risk and impact on physical assets and the services they provide, to be published by 2026. It is also to scope a resilience standard or code for infrastructure in the 2022-2024 timeframe (Action 3.8. NAP. Action 5.6. NAP) 	
			Land Information N7 (LIN7) is to develop 3D coastal manning in 2022-2028 timeframe (Action 3.23, NAP)	
			 MfE is to support evaluation of climate risk to landfills and contaminated sites (2022-24) and explore funding options to support investigations and remediation (2025-28) (Actions 5.11 and 5.12, NAP) 	

Assessment criteria	Document reference	Relevance		Policy analysis	Report card rating
				We understand that community-based adaptation planning is currently underway in Northland, and some consideration needs to be given to how adaptation planning is implemented, including via statutory plans. The guidance on DAPP will be particularly useful, and references to the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) standards could be extended to include new standards on adaptation/DAPP (or other tools). Other options to align DAPP and associated adaptation planning could include assessing plan requirements (including consenting) when developing the adaptation plan; developing internal processes/policy to guide resource consent application processes to consider adaptation plans; including information and content from or about adaptation planning in the RPS/PRP; or incorporating adaptation plans by reference in the RPS/PRP. These options all have pros and cons. Ultimately, if the adaptation plans identify transformative or significant changes such as managed retreat from particular locations, spatial planning will be key to implementation.	
 Climate-resilient development in the right locations Focus on spatial planning Consistent with approach set out in Resource Management reforms Reduce and manage impacts of climate hazards on homes and buildings and focus on resilient housing NAP advises local government should act now, ahead of reforms, using existing functions and powers. 	Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 6 Ecosystems and biosecurity NAP, Chapter 4 Driving climate- resilient development in the right locations / Chapter 7 Homes, buildings and places			 Regional spatial planning, proposed as part of the RM reforms, will be particularly helpfu to achieve climate-resilient development in the right locations. The RPS / PRP must be prepared in accordance with Part 2 provisions in the RMA, including the management of significant traits from natural hazards as a matter of national importance under the RMA (Section 6(h)) and the effects of climate change as an "other matter" to have particular regard to (Section 7(l)). In addition, as identified in the NAP, local government should act now to drive climate-resilient development in the right locations – before the new resource management system takes full effect, using existing functions and powers. Appendix C contains an extract of the NAP direction in this regard. In particular, the NAP gives direction on recommended climate change adaptation issues (including natural hazards and flooding) will be relevant particularly for Whangãrel, which must prepare a Future Development fustual planning will be key to implementation. RPS Issue 2.4 identifies that unplanned and un-coordinated development and poor urban design can lead to reduced levels of amenity, higher infrastructure costs, and reduced community wellebeing. There is an opportunity here to specifically reference climate resilient development, as well as building in climate change mitigation where it relates to urban form and mobility. For NRC, consideration could be given to the following: RPS Objective 3.11 provides good context but could be widened to embrace resilience. RPS D.2.3 Climate change and development is a helpful and directive policy. Strengthening links to this direction throughout the RPS, including "disenability" to implement this approach. Method 7.2.4 (1) provides clear guidance but could also focus on restoration etc rather than just preventing further degradation. RPS Tenvinomental results anticipated 5.1 Regional form' could expand the concept of "context of the surroundin	Poor

Assessment criteria	Document	Relevance		Policy analysis	Report
	reference				card rating
Adaptation options including managed	NAP, Chapter 5			Chapter 5 of the NAP focusses on adaptation options, including managed retreat. These include:	Moderate
	ontions			avoiding risk – for example, by locating development away from areas prone to hazard	
Legislative changes	including			 protecting assets from risk – for example, by building protective structures such as sea walls 	
Uther government policy tools and guidance, e.g. resilience standard, co-	managed			 accommodating risk – for example, by incorporating adaptation options into the design of developments 	
investment. home insurance	retreat			 retreating from risk – for example, by relocating existing development away from high-risk areas. 	
				Feasible adaptation options identified at a global level by IPCC could include, for example, integrated coastal zone management, forest- based adaptation, water use efficiency and water resource management, resilient systems and energy reliability. ⁸ Critical actions identified in the NAP for adaptation options include:	
				Pass legislation to support managed retreat	
				Reduce and manage the impacts of climate hazards on homes and buildings	
				Prioritise nature-based solutions	
				Support kaitiaki communities to adapt and conserve taonga/cultural assets	
				Develop options for home flood insurance	
				The Climate Adaptation Act (CAA) is yet to be introduced as a Bill to Parliament. It is expected better to deal with managed retreat. NRC will need, for now, to consider 'managed retreat' in the context of the existing planning framework (which is limited). However, there is an important opportunity to take a stronger and more focussed approach to adaptation options here: aligned with critical actions identified in the NAP, along with RM reforms; and what we can expect to be produced in the coming months based on government response to recent flooding and cyclones.	
				The current RPS and PRP already include direction on managing existing development in known hazard-prone areas:	
				 (RPS Policy 7.1.4)), hard protection structures (PRP Policy D.6.1) and benefits of flood defences 	
				• (PRP Policy D.6.4), water allocation and security/reliability of supply (RPS Objective 3.10) and security of energy supply (RPS 3.9).	
				However, these lack an overall direction, and many provisions do not directly reference climate change.	
				There would be value in reviewing adaptation options of particular relevance and impact in the Northland context, to check:	
				 that key options are covered by the existing plans, 	
				 that these align with likely national direction via the NAP and RM reforms, 	
				 that they align with a holistic and collaborative approach anticipated by Ngā Taumata o te Moana, and 	
				 that current provisions do not risk maladaptation (e.g. PRP Policy D.6.4 Flood hazard management – flood defences recognises only the significant benefits that flood defences can play in reducing flood hazard risk to people, property and the environment). 	
Nature-based adaptation Thriving ecosystems supporting	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our			One of the goals for adaptation in Ngā Taumata o te Moana is that, "Our natural ecosystems thrive, adapting and maintaining ecosystem function and biological diversity in a changing climate."	Moderate
biodiversity and adaptation to	Goals (Adapt)			A range of policies support nature-based adaptation either directly or indirectly e.g	
climate change, as well as wider environmental outcomes	Te Tai Tokerau Climate			• RPS Objectives 3.3 Ecological flows and water levels, 3.4 Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity, Policies 4.2.1 Improving overall water quality, 4.4.1 Maintaining and protecting significant ecological areas and habitats, 7.2.1 Role of natural features;	
	Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 6			 PRP Objectives F.1.3 Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity, Policies D.4.22-24 Protection of natural wetlands as required by the NPS-FM, D.2.13 Marine and freshwater pest management and rules e.g2.2 Activities affecting wetlands. PRP maps identify Significant Ecological Areas and Outstanding freshwater bodies (Rivers, Lakes). 	
	Ecosystems and biosecurity			Ideally there would be some overarching provisions in the RPS which prioritise nature-based solutions outside of the coastal environment, as well as in the coastal environment (which has relatively strong provisions due to the NZCPS direction).	
	NAP, Chapter 6 Natural environment			There is a significant opportunity to connect thinking about looking after ecology, water quality, indigenous species with their importance for resilience. In addition, recognising their connection with nature-based hazard approaches, rather than hard structures. This would establish a more holistic approach. This may include rethinking some activity status and associated assessment criteria.	
				An holistic approach would be consistent with central government work programmes under the NAP (albeit work that is at least a year away), including:	
				• DOC to develop a framework for nature-based solutions in regulations and planning by 2024, NAP critical action on adaptation options (p 16 and Action 5.9, NAP)	

⁷ Adaptation options including managed retreat | Ministry for the Environment
 ⁸ See AR6, Figure SPM4 'Climate responses and adaptation options'

Assessment criteria	Document reference	Relevance		Policy analysis	Report card rating
				 HUD is to identify options to increase integration of nature-based solutions into urban form (2022-24) (Action 5.16, NAP) DoC is to implement the Aotearoa New Zealand Biodiversity Strategy 2020 and April 2022 plan with actions for local government. A second implementation plan expected 2024(Action 6.3, NAP) DoC and MfE are to implement the proposed National Policy Statement on Indigenous Biodiversity to be in force by 2024. MfE is to implement the NPS on Freshwater with regional plans to be notified by 2024 (Action 6.4, NAP p 105 and Action 6.7, NAP) DoC and MfE are to establish an integrated work programme to deliver climate, biodiversity and wider environmental outcomes with work on all actions to be underway by 2024 (Action 6.5, NAP) 	
 Resilient communities Resilient and thriving communities Accommodating local adaptation plans, including coastal and community drought adaptation planning, land use change; and embed them in regulatory instruments 	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Adapt) Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 3 Coastal communities Chapter 4 Water availability			 Ngā Taumata o te Moana identifies the following goals: Our communities are resilient and thriving, and adapt to climate change impacts. Work with district councils and communities to develop local adaptation plans, to enable a transition to appropriate land use and infrastructure. Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy identifies coastal adaptation planning projects and community drought adaptation opportunities as priority actions (numbers 23 and 30). In addition, embedding community adaptation plans in regulatory instruments is identified as Priority action 28. Drought and water security is a key issue for Northland, along with the provisions on coastal and flooding hazards (identified above). Therefore, in addition to natural hazards provisions, the RPS focuses on water allocation and on security/reliability of supply (RPS Objective 3.10 Use and allocation of common resources, Policy 4.3.4 Water harvesting, storage and conservation). The PRP contains detailed policies on environmental flows, levels and allocations (see Appendix H.4, H.5), although water harvesting, storage and conversation is not directly mentioned in the Plan. There is an opportunity to include thinking about local adaptation planning in reviewing the RPS and PRP, particularly given the direction in Priority action 28. As set out above in relation to risk-informed decision making, references to the ISO standards in Chapter 7 of the RPS could be extended to include new standards on adaptation/DAPP (or other tools). Other options to align DAPP and associated adaptation planning are set out above. These options all have pros and cons. Ultimately, if the adaptation plans identify transformative or significant changes such as managed retreat from particular locations, spatial planning will be key to implementation. This is discussed further in relation to a divelopment in the right logation. 	Moderate
Resilient infrastructure Consideration of climate change impacts in infrastructure planning 	Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 7 Public infrastructure NAP, Chapter 8 Infrastructure			Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy Prority action 15 Infrastructure planning is to consider climate change impacts in infrastructure planning. This aligns with critical actions identified in the NAP, including scoping a resilience standard or code for infrastructure. The RPS contains good provisions on effective and efficient infrastructure (Objective 3.8 (b) and Policy 5.2.2), which broadly address resilience. These could be updated to specifically include to climate change effects. There could be an opportunity to build on infrastructure provisions when the first proposed version of the NPF notified (expected in August this year). It is expected to include a chapter on infrastructure. This may particularly be helpful with regards to existing policy 5.3.3 (3) (b) (decision makers to consider whether the activity must be recognised and provided for as directed by a national policy statement). Broadly, a review of the timing of the RPS review against the timing of key provisions signalled in the RM reforms and via the NAP and ERP could be helpful to assist prioritising particular actions such as infrastructure updates. Policy 5.3.3(3)(f) allows decision makers to consider whether a monitoring programme for any identified significant adverse effects with unknown or uncertain outcomes could be included as a condition of consent and an adaptive management regime (including modification to the consented activity) is used to respond to such effects. This could be a helpful starting point for adaptation planning, when applied in association with DAPP or similar tools. As set out above, there are a number of options to include reference to adaptation plans in the RPS and / or PRP and we recommend this is considered as part of the RPS review. There is a gap in the PRP provisions, which focus on the benefits and effects of regionally significant infrastructure on the environment, but do not specifically articular a requirement for climate resilient infrastructure. Policy D.2.3 Climate change and development and c	Moderate
Resilient economySustainable, strong and flexible	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Adapt)			The key planning-related action identified in Ngā Taumata o te Moana for a resilient economy is to build a climate-smart economy by using spatial planning to align adaptation planning with regulatory plans and other strategic priorities.	Moderate

Assessment criteria	Document reference	Relevance		Policy analysis	Report card rating
 Taking opportunities for climate-resilient economy Link to spatial planning to align adaptation planning with regulatory plans and other strategic priorities. 				In addition to the matters identified in risk-informed decision making and climate resilient development in the right locations, there is an opportunity to build on RPS Objective 3.5 Enabling economic wellbeing, and environmental results anticipated in Part 9 of the RPS, with a wider concept of wellbeing to include resilience to effects of climate change and a just transition. Provisions are limited to D.2.1 Rules for managing natural and physical resources and D.2.2 Social, cultural and economic benefits of activities. A review of the effectiveness of these provisions would assist in identifying whether any additional revisions are required, or whether this provides sufficient framework and direction to support implementation in lower order plans which encompass land use and zoning.	
Reduce emissions					
 Equitable transition Prosperous net-zero emissions economy and society Energy, land use and transport in our communities are swiftly transformed 	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Reduce emissions) ERP, Chapter 3 Equitable transition			The RPS does not address the matter of equitable transition. Reducing emissions will be relevant to this transition and will mean changes in the way we use energy, land use and transport in our communities. Currently, RPS and PRP provisions are focussed on security of energy supply (RPS Objective 3.9), and renewable energy (RPS Chapter 5.4 and PRP Policy D.2.12), driven by the National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy. A review of additional issues which might prove to be barriers to an equitable transition could be helpful in targeting planning responses to enable inclusive and participatory climate responses. In addition, leveraging localised and community-based solutions would support an equitable transition. We note that Method 5.4.3–Statutory plans and strategies states that "The regional and district councils shall, through regional and district plans, recognise renewable energy resources as they may exist in the district / region. Such an approach may include, if appropriate, recognition of any natural features (for example, ridgelines) that could be used for renewable electricity generation. Recognition of natural features in this way may be generic in nature. Such an approach should (a) <u>Be identified in collaboration with stakeholders</u> ; and (b) <u>Be informed where possible by relevant regional and district strategies</u> " This could be a window to consider the climate strategies developed by NRC and local councils/iwi, and to begin to build a planning response on equitable transition (at least in relation to renewable energy).	Moderate
 Planning for lower emissions Work with communities Efficient and accessible public transport, supporting initiatives such as coastal shipping Support land-use change e.g. in ERP: designing public spaces (including streets) that appeal to people in higher-density areas, making them more accessible, walkable and bikeable nature-based solutions, such as urban forestry and vertical greening blue and green infrastructure, such as water sensitive urban design Factor climate outcomes into decision making on infrastructure (ERP) Integrate land-use planning, urban development and transport planning and investments to reduce transport emissions 	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Reduce emissions) ERP, Chapter 7 Planning and infrastructure			 The main RPS provision which supports planning for lower emissions is Objective 3.11: Regional form: "Northland has sustainable built environments that effectively integrate infrastructure with subdivision, use and development, and have a sense of place, identity and a range of lifestyle, employment and transport choices." However, beyond this the RPS/PRP response is limited to renewable energy (as described above). This is largely a reflection of RMA limitations for climate change mitigation. Section 7 (Other matters) includes the efficiency of the end use of energy and the benefits to be derived from the use and development of renewable energy. Following amendments to the RMA which came into effect on 30 November 2022, regional councils are now able to have regard to the effects of discharges into air of greenhouse gases (GHG) on climate change in making rules to control the discharges of GHGs, and consent authorities may have regard to the effects of discharges into air of greenhouse in of GHGs on climate change in considering an application for a discharge permit or coastal permit. Given this change to current RMA provisions, it would be appropriate to include a policy framework within the RPS to direct how NRC will exercise this new discretion and to provide transparency for other stakeholders on this. A reduction in GHG emissions is much broader than just discharges to air under s15. Roughly 80% of Northland's regional emissions come mostly from agriculture and manufacturing. The remainder come from transport, services and households.⁹ A regional GHG emissions inventory would assist in targeting planning measures with the greatest impact on Northland's GHG emissions. However, in the absence of this, aligning with the following key initiatives from the ERP may be useful (see Appendix A for further detail): Action 7.1: Improve the resource management system to promote lower emissions and climate resilience. The resource management system will be improved to sup	Poor
Net-zero economy	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Reduce emissions)			There are currently no provisions in the RPS and PRP which directly support a net-zero economy, which is not surprising given the RMA limitations with regards to climate change mitigation and the s5 focus on natural and physical resources. The key actions identified in Ngā Taumata o te Moana:	Poor

⁹ Northland's climate issues and emissions - Northland Regional Council (nrc.govt.nz)

Assessment criteria	Document reference	Relevance	Policy analysis	Report card rating
Support and enable regional emissions reduction initiatives, local industry transformation			 Local industry transforms to reach net-zero emissions, while supporting local employment and taking advantage of new opportunities for green jobs. Support and enable regional emissions reduction initiatives, working with our economic development, partners alongside industry and 	
			primary sectors, government agencies, communities and research centres.	
			We recommend that any review of the RPS/PRP checks that provisions supports and enables transformation and emission reduction initiatives, rather than inadvertently proving barriers to this transition. In addition, clear support for climate-friendly development and initiatives as part of a collaborative and holistic approach, will assist in implementing this theme.	
Implications of emissions pricing	ERP, Chapter 5		Central government has identified the following actions in the ERP:	Poor
• Align with central government approach to emissions removals, including how the	Emissions pricing		• Action 5.2.2: Investigate new sources of emissions removals: The Government will investigate the feasibility of including other forms of emissions removals beyond forestry in New Zealand's Greenhouse Gas Inventory and the NZ ETS.	
NZ ETS can support indigenous biodiversity			• Action 5.2.3: Assess how the NZ ETS can support indigenous biodiversity: The Government will investigate how indigenous biodiversity could be supported by the NZ ETS, including supporting long-term indigenous carbon sinks.	
 Right forests in the right place – for mitigation and to manage environmental effects 			This is a work in progress for central Government. The Minister for the Environment has recently announced that the ETS will be reviewed to assess what changes are required to encourage emitters of CO ₂ to reduce their emissions, rather than simply offsetting pollution by planting trees. The review will seek to support indigenous biodiversity and achieve emissions targets. ¹⁰ In addition there is a review of forestry practice in the light of the recent flood events that is likely also have some relevance to how plantation vs permanent forests should be considered in the ETS.	
			For Northland, the key issues from an RMA perspective are likely to be supporting indigenous biodiversity, and enabling the right forests in the right place for mitigation and to manage environmental effects of commercial forestry plantations. This is strongly linked with the protection of natural ecosystems as part of carbon removal (see below).	
Review of focus sectors from ERP:	ERP, Chapters 9-		The ERP sets out a number of actions which specifically relate to different sectors:	Poor
Circular economy and bioeconomy	16		Circular economy and bioeconomy	
Transport			Transport	
Energy and industry			Energy and industry	
Building and construction			Building and construction	
Rural environment (Agriculture and			Rural environment (Agriculture and Forestry)	
Forestry)			• Waste	
• Waste			Fluorinated gases	
Fluorinated gases			There is limited provision currently in the RPS/PRP on these matters, with indirectly related provisions only e.g. access of livestock,	
			earthworks and highly erodible land. There are substantial new issues and concepts that could be addressed in the review of the RPS and PRP. We recommend a review of the relevant actions under the ERP (see Appendix A) to check key issues that Northland could support and implement in the RPS.	
Carbon removal				
 Land use practises support carbon removal Use spatial planning to plan and optimise carbon removal opportunities Methods and standards for biological 	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Remove carbon)		There are no provisions relating to carbon removal in the RPS and PRP, which is unsurprising given that this is new technology to consider and the gaps in the RMA. This may need to be subject to a focussed piece of research to understand how the RPS/PRP can best contribute to NRC's goal of a thriving, innovative carbon removal economy on land and sea. Key areas of focus could include the following goals from Ngā Taumata o te Moana:	Poor
carbon removal planning and regulatory			 Supporting the agricultural sector to store carbon through plantings, soil improvement and forest management 	
processes, and supporting land-use			 Use spatial planning to plan and optimise carbon removal opportunities and land-use change. 	
change.			Adopting methods and standards for biological carbon removal planning and regulatory processes, and supporting land-use change.	
On farm practises: plantings, soli improvement and forest management			 Enabling nature-based solutions, with an opportunity to expand concepts of nature-based solutions to expressly include carbon sinks and storage 	
Appropriate attorestation	 		Align with freshwater management and adaptation planning programmes (co-benefits).	
Protection of natural ecosystems nature	Ngā Taumata o		Protect and enhance existing and potential carbon sinks, such as coastal ecosystems, forests and peatlands	Poor
	work (Remove carbon)		Enable and remove barriers for local manufacturing and heavy industry to invest in technology to capture and store carbon.	

¹⁰ <u>Review underway of role of NZ ETS in climate response</u> | <u>Ministry for the Environment</u>

Assessment criteria	Document	Relevance		Policy analysis	Report
	reference				card rating
 Protection, restoration and creation of natural carbon sinks such as wetlands, forests and coastal ecosystems 	ERP, Chapter 4 Working with nature				
 Align with our freshwater management and adaptation planning programmes 					
 Existing and potential carbon sinks are well understood and have long-term management plans to enhance carbon storage 					
Prioritise nature-based solutions					
Carbon removal economy	Ngā Taumata o				Poor
 Thriving, innovative carbon removal economy on land and sea 	te Moana, Our Goals (Remove				
 Regional economic development partners, industry and the primary sector 	Ngā Taumata o				
 Support investment in technology to capture and store carbon, provide for carbon offsets locally 	work (Remove carbon)				

4 Conclusions and recommendations

This report has set out a review of the RPS and PRP against:

- regional climate change documents, Ngā Taumata o Te Moana and Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, and
- national climate change documents including the ERP, the NAP and climate change amendments to the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) which took effect as of 30 November 2022

This review of climate change provisions will provide input for NRC's 5-yearly efficiency and effectiveness review of the RPS under RMA s35(2A).

As set out in section 3 above, while some aspects of the climate strategies are addressed in the RPS, many are not. There are a number of new topics identified via the assessment criteria which have not been considered or expressly addressed in the RPS or PRP, particularly in relation to reducing emissions and carbon removal. As a result, the RPS and PRP score either moderate or poor against the assessment criteria for the overall report card rating. This is a reflection of the forward looking nature of the two regional climate strategy documents and the changing nature of our knowledge of climate change impacts and responses, rather than a reflection on inadequacies in the RPS and PRP at the time of its preparation.

We have extracted key recommendations from the detailed analysis in Section 3 above. This comprehensive list is presented in Table 4 below, and sets out options to review and/or enhance provisions in the RPS and PRP. The relevance score (i.e. the ability for the RMA to address assessment criteria) and report card rating have also been included in Table 4 below.

We recommend that NRC considers the relevance score and the report card rating when deciding on next steps, including the desirability of making changes in the RPS now or at a later date. We have included these in Table 4 and have provided an additional column for Council to record its decisions on whether, timing and priorities for addressing the recommendations.

NRC will need to make strategic decisions about how much it should focus its resources on reviewing the RPS and/or on preparing to implement the RM reforms. The extent to which NRC wishes to make limited or more extensive changes to the RPS now, will be a decision for the Council. This decision will reflect Council's view on:

- the timeframe over which the reviewed RPS may be in effect and impact on outcomes
- the benefits of furthering NRC's climate vision (vs costs) by providing new direction sooner rather than later, including:
 - how and when to progress implementation of climate intentions from the strategies using its current regulatory tools.
 - the extent that NRC wishes to use a review of the RPS as a stepping stone towards the expected RMA reforms, in particular spatial planning and early work to reflect the National Planning Framework (NPF) signalled via these reforms.
- specific matters where there is a gap arising from RMA amendments:
 - a key change to the RMA that should be addressed in the RPS is the new ability for regional councils to have regard to the effects of discharges into air of greenhouse gases (GHG) on climate change. A framework of objectives, policies and methods would assist NRC (and the community) to understand how these new discretionary powers will be implemented.

- commentary in the NAP that local government should act now to drive climate-resilient development in the right locations, using existing functions and powers – before the new resource management system takes full effect.
 - In this regard, the review of the RPS provides an opportunity for NRC to incorporate changes that have been made to the RMA. It also provides an opportunity to take steps towards addressing expectations signalled in the RM reform bills currently before parliament (which may become law in the coming months), including the potential to introduce provisions ahead of any statutory transition timeframes.

There also central government initiatives identified as part of the NAP which NRC could consider if the timing aligns with the RPS review. These are identified in the policy analysis above, in relation to each of the assessment criteria.

Table 4: Summary of recommendations

Assessment criteria	Assessment criteria Relevance Commentary		Report card	Council decision
	Ability for RPS/PRP to address			Action, timing and priority
Overall strategic direction				
A collaborative and holistic approach Overall, there are opportunities to update both the RPS and PRP to provide consistent direction on climate change action for Northland in an RMA context. This will assist the implementation of a collaborative and holistic approach, in conjunction with other NRC programmes and responsibilities. For example, a review of the RPS could consider identifying climate change as a key issue for the region, with associated objectives and policies. This would enable a more holistic approach to identifying and addressing climate change impacts. This could also link in strongly with spatial planning proposed through the Spatial Planning Bill associated with the RM reforms.				
Making well-informed decisions: a science- based approach to implementation		Broadly, a review of existing climate change information may be helpful (if not already completed), to determine the extent to which this information can be relied on to inform development of the next RPS / PRP. There is a clear gap in relation to climate change mitigation (reduce emissions and remove carbon) however, a review of existing information on potential impacts on the natural environment, including freshwater systems, indigenous biodiversity and biosecurity, would also be consistent with the adaptation actions in Ngā Taumata o te Moana.		
Empowering Māori Partnership with Māori	consistent with the adaptation actions in Ngā Taumata o te Moana.nowering Māori nership with oriWe understand that NRC has recently undertaken a review of the tangata whenua focussed provisions in the RPS, and we do not intend to replicate this here. However, we note that when revising or updating provisions, directive and clear provisions which specifically reference climate change impacts for tangata whenua would be useful. Overall, the RPS and PRP do not address a tika transition to a net zero emissions future for Māori, nor restorative practices to enhance Māori connection to land and sea. There is also an opportunity to contain some support for mātauranga in adaptation planning provisions, along with an opportunity to expand on what acceptable environmental outcomes could encompass re adaptation and transition.		Poor	
Adapt				

Assessment criteria	Relevance	evance Commentary		Council decision
Risk-informed decision making		 The natural hazards chapters of the RPS and PRP are reasonably fulsome particularly in regard to coastal and flooding hazards. However, the focus is on looking after what we have, where we already are. Reflecting on lessons learnt from implementation and the 2023 weather events, opportunities for updates and additional provisions could address the following matters. There is very limited direction on long-term solutions, including managed retreat (noting that the resource management reforms have also focussed on this as a key issue). In terms of contributing to risk informed decision making, this is identified as a key gap in the RPS and PRP. A long-term view could be supported through a directive policy framework that: Articulates what resilient outcomes would look like, in addition to minimising existing risk, Sets out places and/or circumstances where development should be avoided (with potential links into spatial planning). A key matter to consider is how the RPS and PRP can anticipate and consider new information, given the amount of information which will be developed in the near future. We understand that community-based adaptation planning is currently underway in Northland, and some consideration needs to be given to how adaptation planning is implemented, including via statutory plans. Ultimately, if the adaptation plans identify transformative or significant changes such as managed retreat from particular locations, spatial planning will be key to implementation. 	Moderate	
Climate-resilient development in the right locations		Regional spatial planning, proposed as part of the RM reforms, will be particularly helpful to achieve climate-resilient development in the right locations. In addition, as identified in the NAP, local government should act now to drive climate-resilient development in the right locations – before the new resource management system takes full effect, using existing functions and powers. A planning response to climate change adaptation issues (including natural hazards and flooding) will be relevant particularly for Whangārei, which must prepare a Future Development Strategy in accordance with subpart 4 of the National Policy Statement – Urban Development (NPS-UD). RPS Issue 2.4 identifies that unplanned and un-coordinated development and poor urban design can lead to reduced levels of amenity, higher infrastructure costs, and reduced community wellbeing. There is an opportunity here to specifically reference climate resilient development, as well as building in climate change mitigation where it relates to urban form and mobility. This could include clarity of direction in the RPS objectives and policies e.g. strengthening links within the RPS and the PRP to Policy D.2.3 'Climate change and development'.	Poor	

Assessment criteria	Relevance	Commentary	Report card	Council decision
Adaptation options including managed retreat		 framework (which is limited). However, there is an important opportunity to take a stronger and more focussed approach to adaptation options here: aligned with critical actions identified in the NAP, along with RM reforms; and what we can expect to be produced in the coming months based on government response to recent flooding and cyclones. There would be value in reviewing adaptation options of particular relevance and impact in the Northland context, to check: that key options are covered by the existing plans, that these align with likely national direction via the NAP and RM reforms, that they align with a holistic and collaborative approach anticipated by Ngā Taumata o te Moana, and that current provisions do not risk maladaptation (e.g. PRP Policy D.6.4 Flood hazard management – flood defences recognises only the significant benefits that flood defences can play in reducing flood hazard risk to people property and the 		
		environment).		
Nature-based adaptation		One of the goals for adaptation in Ngā Taumata o te Moana is that, "Our natural ecosystems thrive, adapting and maintaining ecosystem function and biological diversity in a changing climate." Ideally there would be some overarching provisions in the RPS which prioritise nature-based	Moderate	
		solutions outside of the coastal environment, as well as in the coastal environment (which has relatively strong provisions due to the NZCPS direction).		
		There is a significant opportunity to connect thinking about looking after ecology, water quali- indigenous species with their importance for resilience. Also recognising their connection wit nature-based hazard approaches, rather than hard structures. This would establish a more he approach. This may include rethinking some activity status and associated assessment criteria		
Resilient communities		Drought and water security is a key issue for Northland, therefore the RPS focuses on water allocation and on security/reliability of supply, along with the provisions on coastal and flooding hazards (identified above). The PRP contains detailed policies on environmental flows, levels and allocations, although water harvesting, storage and conversation is not directly mentioned in the Plan. There is an opportunity to include thinking about local adaptation planning in reviewing the RPS and PRP, as set out above.	Moderate	

Assessment criteria	Relevance	Commentary	Report card	Council decision
Resilient infrastructure		The RPS contains good provisions on effective and efficient infrastructure, which broadly address resilience. These could be updated to specifically include to climate change effects. There could also be an opportunity to build on infrastructure provisions when the first proposed version of the NPF notified (expected in August this year). It is expected to include a chapter on infrastructure. There is a gap in the PRP provisions, which focus on the benefits and effects of regionally significant infrastructure on the environment, but do not specifically articulate a requirement for climate resilient infrastructure. Specific requirement to consider climate change impacts in infrastructure planning would be useful and may reduce risk of maladaptation through building infrastructure which then needs to be upgraded or retrofitted. This could apply in conjunction with a broader planning framework which seeks to avoid development in inappropriate areas and allows for managed retreat where necessary. We also note that, while resilient infrastructure has strong adaptation focus, relevant provisions could be built on to support the transition to net zero.	Moderate	
Resilient economy		The key planning-related action identified in Ngā Taumata o te Moana for a resilient economy is to build a climate-smart economy by using spatial planning to align adaptation planning with regulatory plans and other strategic priorities. In addition to the matters identified in risk-informed decision making and climate resilient development in the right locations, there is an opportunity to build on existing provisions to include with a wider concept of wellbeing to include resilience to effects of climate change and a just transition. A review of the effectiveness of these provisions would assist in identifying whether any additional revisions are required, or whether this provides sufficient framework and direction to support implementation in lower order plans which encompass land use and zoning.	Moderate	
Reduce emissions				
Equitable transition		The RPS does not address the matter of equitable transition. Reducing emissions will be relevant to this transition and will mean changes in the way we use energy, land use and transport in our communities. Currently, RPS and PRP provisions are focussed on security of energy supply, and renewable energy, driven by the National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy. A review of additional issues which might prove to be barriers to an equitable transition could be helpful in targeting planning responses to enable inclusive and participatory climate responses. In addition, leveraging localised and community-based solutions would support an equitable transition.	Moderate	

Assessment criteria	Relevance	Commentary	Report card	Council decision
Planning for lower emissions	Planning for lower emissions inventory would assist in targeting planning measures with the greatest impact on Northland's GHG emissions. However, in the absence of this, aligning with the key initiatives from the ERP may be useful.		Poor	
Net-zero economy		There are currently no provisions in the RPS and PRP which directly support a net-zero economy, which is not surprising given the RMA limitations with regards to climate change mitigation and the s5 focus on natural and physical resources. We recommend that any review of the RPS/PRP checks that provisions supports and enables transformation and emission reduction initiatives, rather than inadvertently proving barriers to this transition. In addition, clear support for climate-friendly development and initiatives as part of a collaborative and holistic approach, will assist in implementing this theme.	Poor	
Implications of emissions pricing		For Northland, the key issues from an RMA perspective are likely to be supporting indigenous biodiversity, and enabling the right forests in the right place for mitigation and to manage environmental effects of commercial forestry plantations. This is strongly linked with the protection of natural ecosystems as part of carbon removal (see below).	Poor	
Review of focus sectors from ERP:		 There is limited provision currently in the RPS/PRP in relation to a number of actions set out in the ERP, which specifically relate to different sectors: Circular economy and bioeconomy Transport Energy and industry Building and construction Rural environment (Agriculture and Forestry) 	Poor	

Assessment criteria	Relevance	Commentary	Report card	Council decision
		 Waste Fluorinated gases There are substantial new issues and concepts that could be addressed in the review of the RPS and PRP. We recommend a review of the relevant actions under the ERP (see Appendix A) to check key issues that Northland could support and implement in the RPS. 		
Carbon removal				
Land use practises support carbon removal		There are no provisions relating to carbon removal in the RPS and PRP, which is unsurprising given that this is new technology to consider and the gaps in the RMA. This may need to be subject to a focussed piece of research to understand how the RPS/PRP can best contribute to NRC's goal of a	Poor	
Protection of natural ecosystems nature based solutions for carbon removal		 thriving, innovative carbon removal economy on land and sea. Key areas of focus could include the following goals from Ngā Taumata o te Moana: Supporting the agricultural sector to store carbon through plantings, soil improvement and forest management 	Poor	
Carbon removal economy		 Use spatial planning to plan and optimise carbon removal opportunities and land-use change. Adopting methods and standards for biological carbon removal planning and regulatory processes, and supporting land-use change. 	Poor	
		• Enabling nature-based solutions, with an opportunity to expand concepts of nature-based solutions to expressly include carbon sinks and storage		
		• Align with freshwater management and adaptation planning programmes (co-benefits).		
		• Protect and enhance existing and potential carbon sinks, such as coastal ecosystems, forests and peatlands		
		• Enable and remove barriers for local manufacturing and heavy industry to invest in technology to capture and store carbon.		

5 Applicability

This report has been prepared for the exclusive use of our client Northland Regional Council, with respect to the particular brief given to us and it may not be relied upon in other contexts or for any other purpose, or by any person other than our client, without our prior written agreement.

Tonkin & Taylor Ltd Environmental and Engineering Consultants

Report prepared by:

Authorised for Tonkin & Taylor Ltd by:

Carle

Sarah McCarter Principal Planner

JKun

Marje Russ Project Director

\\ttgroup.local\corporate\auckland\projects\1020480\1020480.0002\issueddocuments\draft report for client review\review of climate change provisions draft 17.04.23.docx

A1 Detailed Assessment Criteria

Key: Relevance or ability for the RMA to address actions

Relevance	Commentary
0	The action is outside the scope of matters which can be regulated or influenced under the RMA.
1	Low - there is scope under the RMA to play a minor role in advancing this action.
2	Medium - there is scope under the RMA to play a moderate role in progressing the action, however, it will not serve as the main mechanism, and will need to be supported/implemented in conjunction with measures which are outside of the scope of the RMA.
3	High - there is scope under the RMA to play a significant or primary role in progressing the sub-action.
	Denotes whether the action is associated with climate change mitigation or adaptation in the relevant documents
Italics	Actions in italics apply to more than one criteria

Assessment criteria: overall themes and detailed actions identified in relevant plans

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Overall strategic direction				
A collaborative and holistic approach				
We will continue to work in partnership with tangata whenua, and collaboratively with communities and stakeholders, to support resilience and a transition that is tika (correct and fair).	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our commitment			
 Kotahitanga Working together Consistency with NRC's vision, mission and values Cooperation and collaboration Manaakitanga 	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, How we will work with others			

	Document reference		Relevance:	
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Uplifting the mana of our connections				
Balancing co-design with leadership				
Whanaungatanga				
Connectedness and relationships				
Thinking of future generations				
Showing respect"				
Making well-informed decisions: a science-based approach to implementation				
We will establish and maintain council's climate-action integrity and mana through leadership, commitment and sustained, science-based action.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our commitment			
Lead the delivery and implementation of the Te Taitokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Adapt)			
Support	Ngā Taumata o te			
research, climate risk assessment and mapping	Moana, Our work			
equitable adaptation approaches and help develop funding plans for adaptation responses	(Adapt)			
 research to better understand the potential impacts on our natural environment, including freshwater systems, indigenous biodiversity and biosecurity, and develop appropriate monitoring and response programmes. 				
Help the region achieve best-practice emissions reductions by providing scientific knowledge, spatial planning and regulatory processes, and supporting land-use change.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Reduce emissions)			
Help improve understanding of biological carbon storage in Te Taitokerau by supporting research, adopting methods and standards for biological carbon removal planning and regulatory processes, and supporting land-use change.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Remove carbon)			

	Document reference		Relevance:	
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Empowering Māori Partnership with Māori				
Our Māori communities are supported to ensure a tika (correct and fair) transition to a net-zero emissions future.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Reduce emissions)			
Māori connection to land and sea is enhanced through restorative practices that help remove carbon from the atmosphere.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Remove carbon)			
Māori cultural connections are strengthened, and indigenous knowledge systems supported.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Adapt)			
Engage with Māori on issues, or co-design programmes with Māori, and enable iwi-/hapū-led programmes.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Adapt)			
 Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy priority actions include: Priority action 1: Tangata whenua involvement: Aim: Ensure tangata whenua are appropriately involved in adaptation decision-making. Priority action 2: Embed Māori values in council processes Aim: Ensure Māori values and worldviews are included in council processes and decision-making relating to climate change. Priority action 9 Māori adaptation impact assessment Aim: Improve bi-cultural understanding of climate risks and consequences. Priority action 10 lwi/hapū-focused adaptation Aim: Enable iwi/hapū-led adaptation planning at appropriate scales. 	Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 2 Impacts on Māori			
 Action 2.2: Embedding partnership and representation To ensure diverse Māori input into climate policy and action, the Government will: establish mechanisms for effective engagement with iwi, hapū and other Māori community representatives about their climate priorities, accountabilities to Te Tiriti, and preferred partnership processes for action at the national and local levels. 	Emissions Reduction Plan (ERP), Chapter 2 Empowering Māori			

	Document reference		Relevance:	
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Action 2.3: Support development of a Māori climate strategy	ERP, Chapter 2			
To elevate te ao Māori within the climate response, the Government is developing proposals to:	Empowering Māori			
 support Māori to develop a Māori climate strategy and action plan that prioritises mātauranga Māori, adaptation and mitigation aspirations, barriers for the Māori economy and local iwi and hapū objectives. 				
The Government will also investigate creating community-facing climate planning and education tools to support:				
 the implementation of a Māori climate strategy and action plan 				
 resource sharing and best practice for climate planning, action and evaluation 				
Māori-led climate education and awareness.				
Action 2.4: Activate 4aupapa Māori, tangata Māori solutions	ERP, Chapter 2			
To bolster 4aupapa Māori, tangata Māori solutions and their impact, the Government will provide a dedicated fund to:	Empowering Māori			
 support Māori initiatives and mātauranga for low-emissions and climate-resilient ways of living, travelling and working, including for existing environmental and social initiatives and technological innovation 				
 invest in Māori capacity and capability to shape climate policy, education and action and to prepare for climate change impacts on the ground as whānau 				
 develop Māori data and improve accessibility to support kaitiakitanga, whānau resilience and build understanding of impacts and opportunities for Māori businesses 				
NB: The NAP provides specific actions relevant to Māori through the Plan. Of particular note, the NAP sets out Rauora: A climate change framework (see NAP, Figure 4)	National Adaptation Plan (NAP)			
Adapt				
Risk-informed decision making				
Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy priority actions include:	Te Tai Tokerau Climate			
Priority action 11 Consistent infrastructure risk assessment criteria	Adaptation Strategy,			
	Chapter 5 Natural			
	nazards, Chapter 6			

		Document reference		Relevance:	
			Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
	Aim: Improve consistency and quality of climate risk assessments for council assets and infrastructure	Ecosystems and biosecurity Chapter 7			
	Priority action 12 Infrastructure risk assessments	Public infrastructure			
	Aim: Improve knowledge of climate risk for council assets and infrastructure				
•	Priority action 13 Roading risk assessments				
	Aim: Improve understanding of long-term climate risks to roading infrastructure.				
•	Priority action 14 Lifelines risk assessments				
	Aim: Improve understanding of long-term climate risks to lifelines infrastructure.				
•	Priority action 16 Biosecurity risk assessment				
	Aim: Improve understanding of climate change-driven biosecurity threats and develop monitoring and response programmes.				
•	Priority action 17 Ecosystem and biodiversity risk assessment				
	Aim: Improve understanding of climate change impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem function and develop monitoring and response programmes.				
•	Priority action 18: River flood risk assessment				
	Aim: Improve understanding of river flood risk under climate change and plan future river flood management programmes.				
٠	Priority action 19: Coastal hazards				
	Aim: Improve understanding of coastal hazards under climate change scenarios.				
٠	Priority action 20: Land hazard data				
	Aim: Improve understanding of land hazards under climate change scenarios.				
٠	Priority action 21: Wildfire hazard data				
	Aim: Improve understanding of wildfire risk under climate change scenarios.				
С	ritical actions identified in the NAP for enabling better risk-informed decisions include:	NAP, Chapter 3 Enabling			
•	Establish a platform for Māori climate action	better risk-informed			
•	Provide access to the latest climate projections data	aecisions			
٠	Design and develop risk and resilience and climate adaptation information portals				

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Deliver a rolling programme of targeted adaptation guidance				
• Develop guidance for assessing risk and impact on physical assets and the services they provide				
Raise awareness of climate hazards and how to prepare				
Support high-quality implementation of climate-related disclosures and explore expansion				
Improve natural hazard information on Land Information Memoranda				
Climate-resilient development in the right locations				
 Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy priority actions include: Priority action 26 Spatial planning Aim: Embed climate change risks and adaptation planning into strategic spatial plans. Critical actions identified in the NAP for driving climate-resilient development in the right locations include (particularly relevant actions underlined): Deform the resource menogement system 	Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 6 Ecosystems and biosecurity NAP, Chapter 4 Driving climate- resilient development in the			
 <u>Reform the resource management system</u> <u>Reform institutional arrangements for water services</u> Integrate adaptation into Waka Kotahi decision-making Integrate adaptation into Treasury decisions on infrastructure Embed adaptation in funding models for housing and urban development, including Māori housing <u>Set national direction on natural hazard risk management and climate adaptation through the National Planning Framework</u> Establish an initiative for resilient public housing 	right locations			
 Critical actions identified in the NAP for the homes, buildings and places include (particularly relevant actions underlined): <u>Reduce and manage the impacts of climate hazards on homes and buildings</u> Reduce the exposure of public housing tenants to climate hazards Embed adaptation in funding models for housing and urban development, including Māori housing <u>Support kaitiaki communities to adapt and conserve taonga/cultural assets</u> 	NAP, Chapter 7 Homes, buildings and places			

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Adaptation options including managed retreat				
 Critical actions identified in the NAP for adaptation options including managed retreat include (particularly relevant actions underlined): <u>Pass legislation to support managed retreat</u> Complete case study to explore co-investment for flood resilience Publish the programme of work on how Aotearoa meets the costs of climate change and invests in resilience The Future for Local Government review Scope a resilience standard or code for infrastructure <u>Reduce and manage the impacts of climate hazards on homes and buildings</u> <u>Prioritise nature-based solutions</u> <u>Support kaitiaki communities to adapt and conserve taonga/cultural assets</u> Develop options for home flood insurance 	NAP, Chapter 5 Adaptation options including managed retreat			
Nature-based adaptation				
Our natural ecosystems thrive, adapting and maintaining ecosystem function and biological diversity in a changing climate.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Adapt)			
Develop nature-based adaptation solutions for coastal management.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work(Adapt)			
 Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy priority actions include: Priority action 32 Nature-based solutions Aim: Promote nature-based solutions as interim hazard-reduction options for coastal impacts. 	Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 6 Ecosystems and biosecurity			
 Critical actions identified in the NAP for the natural environment include: Implement the Department of Conservation Climate Adaptation Action Plan Implement Te Mana o te Taiao – Aotearoa New Zealand Biodiversity Strategy 	NAP, Chapter 6 Natural environment			

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
 Implement key freshwater management programmes Engage with councils to implement the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement Deliver climate, biodiversity, and wider environmental outcomes Deliver biosecurity actions to protect our indigenous ecosystems and economy from invasive species Implement the National Policy Statement on Freshwater Management 2020 Implement the proposed National Policy Statement on Indigenous Biodiversity Resilient communities 				
Our communities are resilient and thriving, and adapt to climate change impacts.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Adapt)			
Work with district councils and communities to develop local adaptation plans, to enable a transition to appropriate land use and infrastructure.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Adapt)			
 Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy priority actions include: Priority action 30: Coastal adaptation planning projects Aim: Enable flexible, planned adaptation responses to coastal hazards by co-developing adaptation plans with communities. Priority action 23 Community drought adaptation opportunities Aim: 1) Improve understanding of the impacts of drought on rural and community water supplies, and 2) identify opportunities to support community adaptation to drought. Priority action 28 Embed community adaptation plans Aim: Ensure community adaptation plans are embedded in regulatory instruments. 	Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 3 Coastal communities Chapter 4 Water availability			
 Critical actions identified in the NAP for communities include: Modernise the emergency management system Develop the Health National Adaptation Plan Raise awareness of climate hazards and how to prepare 	NAP, Chapter 9			

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Resilient infrastructure				
 Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy priority actions include: Priority action 15 Infrastructure planning Aim: Ensure consideration of climate change impacts in infrastructure planning 	Te Tai Tokerau Climate Adaptation Strategy, Chapter 7 Public infrastructure			
 Critical actions identified in the NAP for infrastructure include (particularly relevant actions underlined): Develop guidance to support asset owners to understand and manage the risks of climate change on physical assets <u>Scope a resilience standard or code for infrastructure</u> Integrate adaptation into Treasury decisions on infrastructure 	NAP, Chapter 8 Infrastructure			
 Develop and implement the Waka Kotahi Climate Adaptation Plan 				
Resilient economy				
Our regional economy is sustainable, strong and flexible, taking advantage of new opportunities as they arise.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Adapt)			
Focus our regional economic development on advancing initiatives that contribute to a climate-resilient economy.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Adapt)			
Build a climate-smart economy by using spatial planning to align adaptation planning with regulatory plans and other strategic priorities.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Adapt)			
 Critical actions identified in the economy and financial system include: Deliver the New Zealand Freight and Supply Chain Strategy Help financial entities to better identify and manage their climate risks and support financial stability 	NAP, Chapter 10			
Strengthen the fisheries management system and support the aquaculture sector to sustainably grow				

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Develop options for home flood insurance				
Support high-quality implementation of climate-related disclosures and explore expansion				
Reduce emissions				
Equitable transition				
Our greenhouse gas emissions are rapidly reduced in line with Paris Agreement targets, and our region transitions equitably to a prosperous net-zero emissions economy and society.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Reduce emissions)			
Energy, land use and transport in our communities are swiftly transformed to enable equitable outcomes alongside emissions reductions.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Reduce emissions)			
Action 3.2.1: Develop an equitable transition strategy	ERP, Chapter 3			
To enable a fair, equitable and inclusive transition, the Government proposes to:	Equitable transition			
• develop an equitable transition strategy in collaboration with people and communities who will be most affected by the transition				
Action 3.5.2: Enable inclusive and participatory climate responses				
Lasting solutions are built with the involvement of all sections of society. The Government is investigating ways to increase public participation in climate policy and prioritising actions.				
Action 3.5.3: Support localised and community-based solutions				
The low-emissions behaviour we need to adopt will be as varied as our people and places. The Government is looking to empower communities and Māori to champion local actions specific to their situation and to share ideas that work to encourage adoption of low-emissions behaviours. For example, local 'ride and drive' events are an effective way to reduce misconceptions and concerns about electric bikes and vehicles.				
Planning for lower emissions				
Our greenhouse gas emissions are rapidly reduced in line with Paris Agreement targets, and our region transitions equitably to a prosperous net-zero emissions economy and society.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Reduce emissions)			
	Document reference	Relevance:		
---	--	--------------------------------------	---------------------------------	---------------------------------
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Work with communities to reduce emissions, e.g. providing efficient and accessible public transport, and supporting initiatives such as coastal shipping.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Reduce emissions)			
Appropriate land uses are widely adopted that enable net-zero emissions and thriving rural communities.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Reduce emissions)			
Help the region achieve best-practice emissions reductions by providing scientific knowledge, spatial planning and regulatory processes, and supporting land-use change.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Reduce emissions)			
Action 7.1: Improve the resource management system to promote lower emissions and climate resilience. The resource management system will be improved to support emissions reductions and climate resilience.	ERP, Chapter 7 Planning and infrastructure			
Among other things, the new resource management system will:				
 embed emissions reduction and climate adaptation into resource management frameworks (for example, the proposed Strategic Planning Act and Natural and Built Environments Act), including measures that help to achieve urban density that improves access to community amenities support managed retreat for existing buildings and infrastructure at risk of the impacts of climate change through the proposed Climate Adaptation Act 				
 embed Te Tiriti o Waitangi and Te Oranga o te Taiao – particularly the concept of wellbeing of the natural environment – into the decision-making framework, which will better enable urban development and design to incorporate mātauranga Māori 				
 establish joint committees with central and local government and iwi and hapū to better align policy and investments 				
 develop direction on achieving climate outcomes in regional spatial strategies and plans via the proposed National Planning Framework – which will provide strategic and regulatory direction from central government on implementing the new resource management system under the proposed NBA, noting that these outcomes will be consistent with future emissions reduction plans 				

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
 assess existing and emerging national direction under the Resource Management Act 1991 against the policy intent of the present emissions reduction plan to determine how to support local authorities in the interim. 				
Action 7.2: Support emissions reductions and climate resilience via policy, guidelines, direction and partnerships on housing and urban development	ERP, Chapter 7 Planning and infrastructure			
high densities, supported by active and public transport. A range of initiatives are underway in partnership with local government, Māori and the private sector that promote housing and development that will help deliver low-emissions and climate-resilient urban environments. It is important that housing and urban development also support accessibility for those living with a disability.				
Key initiatives				
• The National Policy Statement on Urban Development (NPS-UD) includes emissions-reduction objectives and policies that local authorities must give effect to, including requiring intensification in and around urban centres and rapid transit stops.				
• The Resource Management (Enabling Housing Supply and Other Matters) Amendment Act 2021 improves housing supply in Aotearoa New Zealand's largest cities by speeding up implementation of the NPS-UD and enabling more medium-density homes to be built. The Government developed a voluntary design guide to support implementation, in consultation with local government, Māori and industry stakeholders.				
• The Government will develop urban design guidance to support local authorities to promote low- emissions urban design initiatives, which may be explored in the future National Planning Framework. Examples of local urban design initiatives (also see chapter 10: Transport) include:				
 designing public spaces (including streets) that appeal to people in II 				
 higher-density areas, making them more accessible, walkable and bikeable 				
 nature-based solutions, such as urban forestry and vertical greening 				
 blue and green infrastructure, such as water sensitive urban design 				
• The Government Policy Statement on Housing and Urban Development includes reducing emissions among priorities for housing and urban development.				

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
 Urban Growth Partnerships between central government, local government and hapū and iwi in high-growth urban areas are supporting the development of joint spatial plans with emissions- reduction and climate-resilience objectives. 				
 The MAIHI ka Ora (the National Maori Housing Strategy) includes plans for supporting Maori housing with self-sustaining technologies that can help drive emissions reductions. 				
Action 7.4: Improve the evidence base and tools for understanding and assessing urban development and infrastructure emissions	ERP, Chapter 7 Planning and infrastructure			
The Government will look to improve the evidence base and tools to better understand the emissions from urban development and infrastructure. These improvements could inform future frameworks for reducing those emissions.				
Key initiatives				
 Improve the evidence base for understanding what can help reduce urban greenhouse gas emissions in Aotearoa, for instance, how land use planning and delivering infrastructure in our urban areas can reduce emissions. 				
• Review existing tools and methodologies and develop new tools, to establish a nationally consistent emissions measurement toolkit to assist decision making on urban and infrastructure development.				
• Assess the extent to which existing urban development and infrastructure policy and programmes (eg, NPS-UD) are aligned with emissions-reduction goals.				
• This work could also support other planning objectives, such as encouraging trees and vegetation in urban areas for both temperature control and carbon sequestration."				
Action 7.7: Integrate climate mitigation into government decisions on infrastructure	ERP, Chapter 7 Planning			
To ensure that government infrastructure investment decisions properly consider emissions reduction and the need to adapt to the effects of climate change, the Government will:	and infrastructure			
• revise central government guidance, guidelines and tools to ensure they factor climate outcomes into decision-making about infrastructure investments				
implement changes, where appropriate. "				
Net-zero economy				

	Document reference	Relevance:		Document reference Relevance:	
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation	
Local industry transforms to reach net-zero emissions, while supporting local employment and taking advantage of new opportunities for green jobs.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Reduce emissions)				
Support and enable regional emissions reduction initiatives, working with our economic development partners alongside industry and primary sectors, government agencies, communities and research centres.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Reduce emissions)				
Implications of emissions pricing					
Action 5.2.2: Investigate new sources of emissions removals The Government will investigate the feasibility of including other forms of emissions removals beyond forestry in New Zealand's Greenhouse Gas Inventory and the NZ ETS.	ERP, Chapter 5 Emissions pricing				
Action 5.2.3: Assess how the NZ ETS can support indigenous biodiversity The Government will investigate how indigenous biodiversity could be supported by the NZ ETS, including supporting long-term indigenous carbon sinks.	ERP, Chapter 5 Emissions pricing				
Sector focus:					
Circular economy and bioeconomy					
Transport					
Energy and industry					
Building and construction					
Rural environment (Agriculture and Forestry)					
• Waste					
Fluorinated gases					
Action 9.1: Commence a circular economy and bioeconomy strategy	ERP, Chapter 9 Circular				
Within the first emissions budget period, the Government will start the work needed to deliver a circular economy and bioeconomy strategy (the Strategy). This will align with the Waste Strategy's vision and principles and will include the five areas outlined below.	economy and bioeconomy				

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
 Meaningful engagement – including with Māori – is essential to ensuring that we move to a circular economy in a way that delivers equitable and inclusive outcomes. It will also improve our understanding of the impacts and opportunities of a circular economy and bioeconomy. Action 9.1.3: Align regulatory systems and the business environment The Strategy will identify how regulatory systems and business environments can enable this shift by: developing principles for aligning regulatory systems and the business operating environment (eg, principles to protect consumers through regulations on the right-to-repair) enabling businesses that seek broader outcomes that align with a circular economy building on initiatives to transform the waste sector (eg, the proposed new Waste Strategy). Action 9.1.5: A bioeconomy framework to guide the use of our bioresources and maximise wellbeing This part of the Strategy will focus on establishing a baseline of natural resources and an analysis of supply and demand. It will also develop a framework for a bioeconomy that supports the wellbeing of all New Zealanders, and aligns with Te Mana o Te Taiao – Aotearoa New Zealand Biodiversity Strategy 2020. Action 9.6: Accelerate sustainable and secure supply and uptake of bioenergy in Aotearoa 				
Action 10.1.1: Integrate land-use planning, urban development and transport planning and investments to reduce transport emissions	ERP, Chapter 10 Transport			
Reducing transport emissions offers major opportunities to also create better places for people to live, work and play. To deliver this, land-use planning and infrastructure investments will allow more people to live in existing urban areas, where social and economic opportunities are greatest. Frequent and rapid public transport services will form the backbone of major urban developments and be well- connected with walking and cycling networks (see chapter 7: Planning and infrastructure). Action 10.1.2: Support people to walk, cycle and use public transport New Zealanders need better public transport choices and it must be safer and easier to travel by active modes. Increasing travel by public transport, walking and cycling, will see significant benefits for New Zealanders beyond reducing emissions. This includes improved travel choice and accessibility, better health and safety, and less congestion.				
NB Key initiatives provide more detail - Planning, PT, Walking and cycling, Reshaping streets, School travel, Equity, Rural areas				

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Action 10.1.5: Embed nature-based solutions as part of our response to reducing transport emissions				
and improving climate adaptation and biodiversity outcomes				
Action 10.2.3: Support the rollout of EV charging infrastructure				
Action 10.4: Support cross-cutting and enabling measures that contribute to the delivery of a low-				
emissions transport system				
Cross-cutting and enabling actions are important to help us understand the changes required and the impact of our choices on reducing transport emissions. These will help us to design a stronger and more equitable low-emissions transport system.				
Key initiatives				
• Ensure the next Government Policy Statement on Land Transport guides investment that is consistent with the emissions reduction plan.				
 Develop a strong evidence base to inform transport decarbonisation and an equitable transition, and to ensure actions taken are effective within the Aotearoa context. 				
 Embed long-term transport planning to give greater confidence that we are on the right path to eliminate emissions and achieve other goals. 				
• Provide people and businesses with information and education to support behaviour change as we transition to a low-carbon economy.				
 Develop the skills and capability required to transition to a low-emissions transport system and support an equitable transition. 				
Action 11.1.1: Improve business and household energy efficiency	ERP, Chapter 11 Energy			
Action 11.2.1: Accelerate development of new renewable electricity generation across the economy	and industry			
Action 11.2.3: Support development and efficient use of transmission and distribution infrastructure to further electrify the economy				
Action 11.3.1: Manage the phase-out of fossil gas				
Action 11.3.2: Develop low-emissions fuels				
Action 11.4.1: Decarbonise Aotearoa industries				
Action 11.4.2: Develop an approach for single-firm industries with emissions that are hard to reduce or				
remove				

	Document reference		Relevance:	
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
Action 12.1.1: Progress regulatory change to reduce embodied emissions of new buildings	ERP, Chapter 12 Building			
The Government consulted on a Whole-of-Life Embodied Carbon Reduction Framework in 2020. The framework would require reporting and measurement of whole-of-life embodied carbon emissions – from manufacturing building materials to disposing of them at the end of a building's life. The framework would cap new buildings' whole-of-life embodied carbon and reduce the cap over time.	and construction			
Key initiatives				
 Consult in late 2022 on introducing whole-of-life embodied carbon requirements to the Building Code. 				
 Establish a sector advisory group to help develop proposals for reporting and measurement of whole-of-life embodied carbon emissions and expand the sector's understanding of embodied carbon. 				
• Explore barriers in existing regulation to the sector considering whole-of-life embodied carbon."				
Action 12.1.2: Spark and foster innovation across the sector				
Action 12.1.3: Realise cross-sector opportunities to reduce whole-of-life embodied emissions				
Key initiatives with the waste sector				
Explore requiring waste minimisation or recovery plans for building consent.				
 Continue the Kāinga Ora – Homes and Communities waste minimisation programme and share lessons learned. 				
 Investigate barriers to reusing, repurposing and recycling building materials. 				
• Explore circular economy initiatives for the sector as part of broader work in this area.				
Key initiatives with the transport sector				
• Contribute to the national freight and supply chain strategy (see chapter 10: Transport).				
• Support the use of project management and prefabrication to reduce road transport.				
Action 12.3.2: Encourage and enable emissions reduction from existing buildings				
Key initiatives				
 Introduce mandatory energy performance certificates for buildings. Initially, they could apply to government, commercial and large residential buildings and potentially expand to other residential buildings in future. 				

	Document reference		Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation	
 Explore how incentives, support or regulatory requirements could reduce existing buildings' emissions, while making buildings warmer and drier. 					
• Explore options to expand the Warmer Kiwi Homes programme, such as eligibility criteria, to better achieve equitable outcomes."					
Action 12.5.1: Work with Maori to identify new opportunities and support an equitable transition.					
Action 13.2.4: Support clear and effective regulatory pathways for agricultural mitigation tools					
To make it easier for producers to adopt new mitigation technologies, the Government will strengthen and streamline the greenhouse gas mitigation regulatory regime.					
Key initiatives					
 The Government will work to have a robust regulatory system to manage the risks of new mitigation tools to the trade of primary produce, along with managing risks to animal welfare, agricultural security, public health and food safety. 					
• This includes work underway to enable the regulatory oversight of greenhouse gas inhibitors under the Agriculture Compounds and Veterinary Medicines Act 1997 so that risks associated with their use are appropriately managed. The first stage of this work is expected to be completed in July 2022.					
Action 13.4.1: Build the evidence base for regenerative agriculture					
Action 14.1.1: Ensure regulatory settings deliver the right type and scale of forests, in the right place					
To ensure regulatory settings deliver the right type and scale of forests, in the right place, the Government is considering changes to					
 the NZ ETS, to support a better mix of forest type, retain important productive land uses, to avoid displacing gross emissions reductions and to better manage the potential long-term environmental effects of exotic forests, including: 					
 restricting exotic forests from the permanent post-1989 forest category 					
 adjusting the application of accounting rules to land which is remote and/or 					
 marginal to harvest, to support production on this land. 					

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
 the National Environmental Standards for Plantation Forestry (NES-PF), to ensure environmental management of all exotic afforestation, including consulting on whether greater local control over location and forest types/species of forests is required. Consultation on these proposals will occur during 2022. It is expected that Cabinet will decide on proposed changes in late 2022 or early 2023. Action 14.1.2: Support landowners and others to undertake afforestation Action 14.2.3: Encourage greater levels of native afforestation over the long term To encourage greater levels of native afforestation over the long term. To encourage greater levels of native afforestation over the long term, over the next two years the Government will: investigate options to lower costs, address supply chain barriers and improve the successful establishment of native forests engage stakeholders on a longer-term strategy and action plan undertake research to protect/enhance stored carbon in existing native forests support Māori-led approaches to native forest establishment establish a cross-agency group to improve demand signals to nurseries, to ensure seedling supply. Action 14.3.2: Maintain and increase carbon stocks in pre-1990 forests Action 14.3.3: Develop policies that support Māori to meet their aspirations The Government is working with Māori groups, including forestry experts, to identify priorities for Māori. The aim is to develop and implement forestry policies that support Māori rights to exercise kaitikarang and meet Māori acpirations 				
Action 15.1.2: Enable businesses to reduce food waste	ERP. Chapter 15 Waste			
Action 15.2.2: Invest in organic waste processing and resource recovery infrastructure	, ,			
Action 15.2.3: Require the separation of organic waste				
Action 15.3.2: Invest in sorting and processing infrastructure for construction and demolition waste				
Diverting and recovering greater volumes of construction materials could generate savings and emissions reductions in other parts of the economy. For example, separating out organic material streams, such as timber, could also facilitate the separation of inorganic materials (such as concrete				

	Document reference	Relevance:		
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
 and steel). By increasingly recovering and reusing these materials, we could reduce the need to produce and use new materials, and avoid associated emissions. Key initiatives Prioritise improvements to our resource recovery infrastructure and emissions reductions through the new Waste Strategy and complementary long-term Waste Infrastructure Plan. Increase support for resource recovery infrastructure through: the expansion of the waste disposal levy to construction and demolition landfills (Class 2). This will act as a price signal to foster resource recovery from mid 2022 the Waste Minimisation Fund (which identified C&D waste as a strategic outcome and investment signal in 2021) a targeted resource recovery infrastructure fund, providing co-investment in sorting and processing infrastructure for C&D waste, targeting wood waste. Action 15.3.3: Enable the separation of construction and demolition materials Improving the separation of organic materials will support the diversion of waste from landfill and enable increased recovery of construction and demolition waste, such as treated and non-treated timber products. Key initiative Explore enabling powers to allow for future changes as part of the development of the new waste legislation. These changes could include regulations that introduce obligations to separate C&D waste, with a particular focus on wood waste. 				
Action 15.5.1: Regulations will require landfill gas capture at municipal landfills Action 15.5.2: Feasibility studies will determine the need for additional landfill gas capture requirements				
Action 16.3: Investigate prohibiting fluorinated gases (F-gases) with high global warming potential (GWP)	ERP, Chapter 16 Fluorinated gases			
Carbon removal				
Land use practises support carbon removal				

	Document reference	Document reference Relevance:	Relevance:	
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
On-farm practices are adopted that store carbon through plantings, soil improvement and forest management to help the primary sector manage emissions.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Remove carbon)			
Use spatial planning to plan and optimise carbon removal opportunities and land-use change.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Remove carbon)			
Help improve understanding of biological carbon storage in Te Taitokerau by supporting research, adopting methods and standards for biological carbon removal planning and regulatory processes, and supporting land-use change.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Remove carbon)			
Support appropriate afforestation and on-farm land management programmes.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Remove carbon)			
Protection of natural ecosystems nature-based solutions for carbon removal				
Native forest plantings remove carbon and bring co-benefits such as heathy waterways and biodiversity. Coastal blue carbon ecosystems are restored and protected as carbon sinks.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Remove carbon)			
Our region is a leader in removing carbon through the protection, restoration and creation of natural carbon sinks such as wetlands, forests and coastal ecosystems	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Remove carbon)			
Protect and restore high-value carbon-storing ecosystems in alignment with our freshwater management and adaptation planning programmes, recognising the valuable co-benefits they provide.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Remove carbon)			
Ensure existing and potential carbon sinks, such as coastal ecosystems, forests and peatlands, are well understood and have long-term management plans to enhance carbon storage.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Remove carbon)			
Action 4.1: Prioritise nature-based solutions To address the climate and biodiversity crises together, the Government will:	ERP, Chapter 4 Working with nature			

	Document reference		Relevance:	
		Ability for RPS/PRP to address	Climate change mitigation	Climate change adaptation
 prioritise the use of nature-based solutions within our planning and regulatory systems, where possible, for both carbon removals and climate change adaptation 				
 investigate how to best ensure that a biodiversity lens is applied to climate change policy development and planning in order to prioritise nature-based solutions. 				
Carbon removal economy				
Our region supports a thriving, innovative carbon removal economy on land and sea.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Remove carbon)			
Work with our regional economic development partners, industry and the primary sector to support carbon removal projects and attract investment in a high-performing, regional carbon removal economy.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our work (Remove carbon)			
Local manufacturing and heavy industry invest in technology to capture and store carbon, with any necessary carbon offsets invested locally to support carbon removal projects.	Ngā Taumata o te Moana, Our Goals (Remove carbon)			

Appendix B	Relevant provisions from the Regional
	Policy Statement and Proposed
	Regional Plan

A1 Relevant provisions from the Regional Policy Statement and the Proposed Regional Plan

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechani
Overall strategic direction		
A collaborative and holistic approach	• Work in partnership with tangata whenua, and collaboratively with communities and stakeholders, to support resilience and a transition that is tika (correct and fair).	 Principles for working with e whanaungatanga
 Chapter 2 Issues These include Fresh and coastal water (key pressures include climate change) Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity Economic potential and social wellbeing Regional form Issues of significance to tangata whenua – participation in resource management Issues of significance to tangata whenua – natural and physical resources (regionally significant pressures include the impacts of climate change) Natural hazards (minimising risk and impacts of natural hazard events through increasing understanding of the potential influence of climate change on natural hazard events) 	 PRP sets out region-wide activities and objectives, policies and rules relating to particular catchments: Doubtless Bay, Poutō, Waitangi, Mangere, Whangārei Harbour. Catchment plans have been developed in these catchments to better manage freshwater. Catchment plans are defined in the PRP as "A collaboratively prepared plan adopted by Northland Regional Council which sets out approaches to managing resource or environmental issues identified in one or more catchments." D Policies Ngā Kaupapa D2 General D.2.1 Rules for managing natural and physical resources Include rules to manage the use, development and protection of natural and physical resources that: 	RPS methods 4.1.2 Method – Statutory plans (3) The regional council will co hapū, key stakeholders and oth effective and efficient mix of re catchment-specific objectives. (methods in regional plans to av council will develop non-statute coordinate responsibilities, timi term funding requirements) for specific objectives, limits and ta
 natural hazard events) Natural character, features / landscapes and historic heritage Chapter 3 Objectives 	 are the most efficient and effective way of achieving national and regional resource management objectives, and are as internally consistent as possible, and 	catchment stakeholder groups Management Group.
 Objective 3.15 Active management Maintain and / or improve: (a) The natural character of the coastal environment and fresh water bodies and their margins; (b) Outstanding natural features and outstanding natural landscapes; (c) Historic heritage; (d) Areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna (including those within estuaries and harbours); (e) Public access to the coast; and (f) Fresh and coastal water quality by supporting, enabling and positively recognising active management arising from the efforts of landowners, individuals, iwi, hapū and community groups. Chapter 4 Policies and methods - water, land and common resources 4.4 Maintaining and enhancing indigenous ecosystems and species 4.2 Policy – Supporting restoration and enhancement Support voluntary efforts of landowners and community groups, iwi and hapū, to achieve Objective 3.15 [Active management] 	 3) use or support good management practices, and 4) minimise compliance costs, and 5) enable use and development that complies with the Regional Policy Statement for Northland and the objectives of this Plan, and 6) focus on effects and, where suitable, use performance standards. D.2.2 Social, cultural and economic benefits of activities Regard must be had to the social, cultural and economic benefits of a proposed activity, recognising significant benefits to local communities, Māori and the region including local employment and enhancing Māori development, particularly in areas of Northland where alternative opportunities are limited. D.2.3 Climate change and development Particular regard must be had to the potential effects of climate change on a proposed development requiring consent under this Plan, taking into account the scale, type and design-life of the development proposed and with reference to the latest national guidance and best available climate change projections. <u>D4 Land and water</u> D.4.1 Maintaining overall water quality Relates to s15 discharges 	 Methods for advocacy and educ throughout the RPS e.g. 4.2.3 Method – Advocacy and educ (1) The regional council will pro- overall quality of fresh and coase (a) The implementation of good source contamination; and (b) Landowner and community initiatives, such as riparian plan wetlands RPS Environmental results anti 4.7 Supporting management and focussed in a manner or loc PRP H Appendices H.4 Environmental flows, levels
 4.7.1 Policy – Promote active management In plan provisions and the resource consent process, recognise and promote the positive effects of the following activities that contribute to active management: a) Pest control, particularly where it will complement an existing pest control project / programme; b) Soil conservation / erosion control; 	 D4.2.4 Wetland – values (3) The consent duration should be for as long as active restoration or enhancement works are required. F.1 Objectives Ngā whāinga F.1.11 Improving Northland's natural and physical resources Enable and positively recognise activities that contribute to improving Northland's natural and physical resources 	

sms

each other: Kotahitanga, manaakitanga,

and strategies

collaborate with catchment communities, iwi and her councils to assess and determine the most egulatory and non-regulatory methods for achieving (4) The regional council will include regulatory void or phase out over-allocation. (5) The regional tory implementation plans or strategies to hing, and costs (including council annual and longor implementing methods to achieve catchmentcargets...

4.1.2 includes working closely with existing such as the Integrated Kaipara Harbour

acation, and funding and assistance, are identified

education

omote and support voluntary efforts to improve the astal waters, including:

d management practices for minimising diffuse

y catchment restoration and enhancement nting and fencing and constructing and restoring

ticipated

nd improvement

landowner environmental improvement efforts are cation that provides the most public benefit.

and allocations

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechani
c) Measures to improve water quality in parts of the coastal marine area where it		
has deteriorated and is having significant adverse effects, or in freshwater bodies		
targeted for water quality enhancement;		
d) Measures to improve flows and / or levels in over allocated freshwater bodies;		
natural character improvement:		
f) Maintenance of historic heritage resources (including sites, buildings and		
structures);		
g) Improvement of public access to and along the coastal marine area or the		
margins of rivers or lakes except where this would compromise the conservation		
of historic heritage or significant indigenous vegetation and / or significant		
habitats of indigenous fauna;		
vegetation and / or significant habitats of indigenous fauna:		
i) Protection of indigenous biodiversity values identified under Policy 4.4.1,		
outstanding natural character, outstanding natural landscapes or outstanding		
natural features either through legal means or physical works;		
j) Removal of redundant or unwanted structures and / or buildings except where		
these are of historic heritage value or where removal reduces public access to and		
Along the coast of lakes and rivers,		
corridors in association with indigenous biodiversity values identified under Policy		
4.4.1, particularly wetlands and / or wetland sequences;		
I) Restoration of natural processes in marine and freshwater habitats.		
4.7.2 Policy – Supporting landowner and community efforts		
Support landowners, iwi, hapū, and community efforts to actively manage or		
improve key aspects of the environment especially where there is willing collaboration between participants and those efforts are directed at one or more		
of the activities in Policy 4.7.1.		
Making well-informed decisions: a science-based approach to implementation		
Support research to better understand our world		
 Lead and provide an appropriate response to this understanding 		
Chapter 6 Policies and methods - Efficient and effective planning	D Policies Ngā kaupapa	RPS methods
6.1 Efficient and effective planning	D.2 General	Monitoring and information gat
6.1.2 Policy - Precautionary approach	D.2.3 Climate change and development	• 4.1.3 integrated water mana
Adopt a precautionary approach towards the effects of climate change and	Particular regard must be had to the potential effects of climate change on a	likely impacts on water qual
introducing genetically modified organisms to the environment where they are	proposed development requiring consent under this Plan, taking into account the	• 4.4.4 maintaining and enhar
scientifically uncertain, unknown, or little understood, but potentially significantly	scale, type and design-life of the development proposed and with reference to the	4.6.4 natural character, feat
		 5.3.5 regionally significant ir
Chapter 7 Policies and methods – Natural bazards	D 2 20 Precautionary approach to managing effects on significant indigenous	• 7.1.8 natural hazards.
7.1.1 Policy – General risk management approach	biodiversity and the coastal environment	
Subdivision, use and development of land will be managed to minimise the risks	That decision makers adopt a precautionary approach where the adverse effects	Method 7.1.7 – statutory plans
from natural hazards by: (a) Seeking to use the best available information,	of proposed activities are uncertain, unknown or little understood, on:	in regional and district councils, w
including formal risk management techniques in areas potentially affected by	1) indigenous biodiversity, including significant ecological areas, significant bird	will take into account the latest
natural hazards	areas and other areas that are assessed as significant under the criteria in	information on the effects of cli
7.1.6 Policy – Climate change and development	Appendix 5 of the regional Policy Statement, and 2) the coastal environment where the adverse effects are not ontially significantly	drought and storm rainfall inter
when managing subdivision, use and development in Northland, climate change effects will be included in all estimates of natural bazard risk, taking into account	adverse, particularly in relation to coastal resources vulnerable to the effects of	
the scale and type of the proposed development and using the latest national	climate change.	

athering e.g.

agement (including climate change predictions and lity and environmental flows and levels),

ncing indigenous ecosystems and species,

tures / landscapes and heritage,

nfrastructure,

and strategies (natural hazards) states, "The when setting out objectives, policies, and methods nd when assessing resource consent applications, t national guidance and the best available limate change on natural hazards for sea-level rise, nsity."

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechanis
guidance and best available information on the likely effects of climate change on the region or district.		
Empowering Māori Partnership with Māori		
• Support Māori communities for a tika (correct and fair) transition to a net-zero emissions future.		
Restorative practices to enhance Māori connection to land and sea.		
 Māori cultural connections are strengthened, and indigenous knowledge systems supported. 		
• Engage with Māori on issues, or co-design programmes with Māori, and enable iwi-/hapū-led programmes.		
 Ensure tangata whenua are appropriately involved in adaptation decision- making 		
Chapter 2: Issues	D Policies Ngā kaupapa	RPS methods
Issue 2.6: Issues of significance to tangata whenua – natural and physical	D.1 Tāngata whenua	Identifying specific issues of sign
resources	 D.1.1 When an analysis of effects on tangata whenua and 	resource management, 2.6 natur
The following issues have been identified by iwi authorities as regionally	 their taonga is required [for a resource consent application] 	2.6(f) the impacts of climate cha
resources:	D.1.2 Requirements of an analysis of effects on tangata whenua and their	whenua the effects of climate ch
(f) The impacts of climate change. (See also Issue 2.7 – Natural hazards)	taonga	information or planning is a majo
(, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	 D.1.5 Affected persons D.1.4 Managing offects on places of significance to tangata whenua 	8.1.5 Method – Statutory plans a
Chapter 3 Objectives	 D.1.4 Managing effects on places of significance to tangata whenda D.1.5 Places of significance to tangata whenua 	The regional and district councils
Objective 3.12: Tangata whenua role in decision-making		earliest possible stage of any rev
Tangata whenua kaitiaki role is recognised and provided for in decision-making	F.1 Objectives Ngā whāinga	tangata whenua participation an
over natural and physical resources.	F.1.9 Tāngata whenua role in decision-making	effects of any resource consent a
	Tāngata whenua's kaitiaki role is recognised and provided for in decision-making	including details of any proposed
Chapter 8 Policies and methods – Tangata whenua	over natural and physical resources.	and consultation undertaken, in
8.1 Participation in decision-making, plans, consents and monitoring		resource consent applications.
o.i.i Policy – Taligata whenua participation The regional and district councils shall provide expertunities for tangata whenua	I Maps Ngā mahere matawhenua	8 1 6 Method – Non-statutory pl
to participate in the review, development, implementation, and monitoring of	Sites and areas of significance to tangata whenua	Within two years of the Regional
plans and resource consent processes under the Resource Management Act 1991.		operative, the regional council w
		authorities to:
8.1.2 Policy – The regional and district council statutory responsibilities		(a) Determine when the regional
The regional and district councils shall when developing plans and processing		(i) require an assessment of cult Management Act 1991 (RMA) ar
Recognise and provide for the relationship of tangata whenua and their culture		use and take into account any cu
and traditions with their ancestral land, water, sites wahi tapu, and other taonga;		independent Māori hearing com
(b) Have particular regard to kaitiakitanga; and (c) Take into account the principles		plans under the RMA; (iii) hold h
of the Treaty of Waitangi including partnership.		services; (iv) notify tangata when
		(b) Determine common meaning
8.1.3 POIICY – Use of Matauranga Maori		values and practices, and the pro-
ine regional and district councils shall provide opportunities for the use and incorporation of Matauranga Maori into decision-making management		*We understand that the protoc
implementation, and monitoring of natural and physical resources under the		and may have been superseded
Resource Management Act 1991.		
		8.3.4 Method – Statutory plans a
8.1.4 Policy – Māori concepts, values and practices		The regional and district councils
Relevant Māori concepts, values and practices will be clarified through		plans to identify and implement
consultation with tangata whenua to develop common understandings of their meaning and to develop methodologies for their implementation.		

nificance to tangata whenua (2.5 participation in ural and physical resources). This includes Issue ange: Tangata whenua believe climate change will s, social, and environmental wellbeing. For tangata change have serious implications, and a lack of jor issue.

and strategies

ils shall: (a) Engage with iwi authorities at the eview and / or change to plans developed under the P1(RMA) to agree appropriate mechanisms for and consultation; and (b) Include an analysis of the capplication on tangata whenua and their taonga, ed measures to avoid, remedy, or mitigate effects in all regional and district council reports on

olans and strategies

al Policy Statement for Northland becoming will initiate the development of a protocol with iwi

al council will:

tural effects (under Schedule 4 of the Resource nd what it should include, and how councils will ultural impact assessment; (ii) appoint and use missioners (for resource consent applications and hearings on marae and provide translation enua of resource consent applications and confer whenua; and

gs and methodologies for key Māori concepts, rocess for updating them.

col referred to in RPS method 8.1.6 is not in place I by other programmes of work.

and strategies

Is shall, as soon as practicable after the Regional rative, initiate a joint review of regional and district t agreed opportunities to improve the ability of

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechani
		tangata whenua to develop ma
		consistency in management ap
		RPS Environmental results anti
		8.1, 8.2 and 8.3 Tangata Whenu
		 Tangata whenua values and management decisions.
		 Improved working relations acceptable environmental or
Adapt		
Risk-informed decision making		
 Risk assessments for infrastructure, roading, lifelines, biosecurity, ecosystem and biodiversity, river flooding, coastal hazards, land hazards, wildfire hazards 		
Chapter 2: Issues	C Rules Ngā ture	RPS methods
Issue 2.6: Natural hazards	C.1 Coastal activities	7.1.7 Method – Statutory plans
Natural hazards, particularly flooding and coastal erosion and inundation, have the	C.1.1.22 Hard protection structures – discretionary activity	(1) The district councils shall no
potential to create significant risk to human life, property, community and	C.2.1 Activities in the beds of lakes and rivers	hazard maps into district plans
economic wellbeing in Northland. This risk is projected to increase as a result of a	C.2.1.5 Maintenance or repair of authorised flood defence – permitted activity	operative date of the Regional
	C.2.1.14 New flood defence – discretionary activity	the district councils shall incorn
Chanter 2 Objectives	C.2.1.16 New flood defence in significant areas – non-complying activity	district plans as soon as practic
Objective 3 13: Natural bazard risk	C.4.1 Land drainage and flood control	defined and mapped by the reg
The risks and impacts of natural hazard events (including the influence of climate	C.8.3 Earthworks	This method goes on to detail s
change) on people, communities, property, natural systems, infrastructure and	C.8.3.1 Earthworks – permitted activity	buildings The regional and dist
our regional economy are minimised by:	• Earthworks outside the bed of a river, lake, wetland, inanga spawning site and	and methods in regional and di
(a) Increasing our understanding of natural hazards, including the potential	the coastal marine area, and any associated damming and diversion of	available information on the eff
influence of climate change on natural hazard events;	water, are permitted activities (subject to conditions). Area and volume	level rise, drought and storm ra
(b) Becoming better prepared for the consequences of natural hazard events;	standards apply in particular areas, including erosion prone land and hazard	people, animals and / or hazard
(c) Avoiding inappropriate new development in 10 and 100 year flood hazard	areas.	coastal hazard areas have been
areas and coastal hazard areas;	C.8.3.3 Earthworks in a flood hazard area – controlled activity	hazard event, the regional cour
(d) Not compromising the effectiveness of existing defences (natural and man- made);	C.8.4.2 Vegetation clearance in riparian areas – permitted activity (up to 200m ² in any 12-month period)	council will limit its discretion in
(e) Enabling appropriate hazard mitigation measures to be created to protect		
(f) Promoting long-term strategies that reduce the risk of natural hazards	C.8.6 Re-building	7.1.8 Method – Monitoring and
impacting on people and communities.	C.8.6.1 Re-building of materially damaged or destroyed buildings – restricted	(1) The regional council will inve
(g) Recognising that in justified circumstances, critical infrastructure may have to	The re building of a babitable building in a bigh rick coastal bazard area or bigh	hazard areas and areas potentia
be located in natural hazard-prone areas.	risk flood hazard area that has been materially damaged or destroyed by flooding,	next 100 years, progressively m the district councils for inclusio
RPS Chapter 7 Policies and methods - Natural hazards	discretionary activity, provided the application for the resource consent includes a	regional council, when underta
7.1 Development in natural hazard-prone areas	natural hazard assessment from a suitably qualified professional.	a regional scale on flooding and
7.1.1 Policy – General risk management approach	Matters of discretion:	effects of climate change on the
Subdivision, use and development of land will be managed to minimise the risks from natural hazards by:	1) The location and design of the building to withstand natural hazard risk, taking into account the nature of the hazard risk and how it might change over a 100-	undertaking their functions und 1991, will co-ordinate the gathe
(a) Seeking to use the best available information, including formal risk	year timeframe, including the expected effects of climate change.	and their risks and impacts at a
management techniques in areas potentially affected by natural hazards;	2) Measures to avoid exacerbating the existing natural hazard risk as a result of	stormwater management and r
(b) Minimising any increase in vulnerability due to residual risk;	the proposed re-building.	councils should work together t
(c) Aligning with emergency management approaches (especially risk reduction);	3) Measures to avoid increasing natural hazard risks on other property.	megrateu Haturai Hazarus Udla
	For the avoidance of doubt this rule covers the following RMA activities:	RPS Environmental results anti
	• Ke-building of materially damaged or destroyed buildings (\$9(2)).	7.1 Development in natural haz
		1

arae and papa kāinga, and achieve greater proaches.

icipated

ua

their kaitiaki role are considered in all resource

ships with iwi and hapū to achieve mutually outcomes.

and strategies

otify a plan change to incorporate finalised flood is in the first relevant plan change following the Policy Statement or within two years of the oming operative, whichever is earlier. Additionally, porate new flood and coastal hazard maps into cable after such areas have been investigated, gional council.

specific parameters for new subdivisions and trict councils, when setting out objectives, policies, istrict plans, and when assessing resource consent ount the latest national guidance and the best ffects of climate change on natural hazards for seaainfall intensity. (8) Where buildings occupied by dous substances in 10-year flood areas and high risk n materially damaged or destroyed by a natural ncil (through the relevant regional plan) will require r or reconstruction of the building. The regional in determining the land use consent to avoiding or

information gathering

vestigate and define new 10-year and 100-year flood ially affected by coastal hazards over at least the map them, and make this information available to on in district plans and anyone else on request. The aking its functions under section 30 of the Resource -ordinate the gathering and collating of research at d coastal hazards (including tsunami) and the nese hazards. (2) The district councils, when der section 31 of the Resource Management Act nering and collating of research on natural hazards a district scale. This shall include landslides, rural fire risk. (3) The regional council and district to collaboratively establish and maintain an abase for the region.

icipated

zard-prone areas

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechani
(d) Ensuring that natural hazard risk to vehicular access routes and building platforms for proposed new lots is considered when assessing subdivision	C.8.6.2 Re-building of materially damaged or destroyed buildings – non-complying activity	Where subdivision, use and develocity hazards, the potential adverse of the second sec
proposals; and	The re-building of a habitable building in a high-risk coastal hazard area or high-	appropriate design.
(e) Exercising a degree of caution that reflects the level of uncertainty as to the likelihood or consequences of a natural hazard event.	risk flood hazard area that has been materially damaged or destroyed by flooding, erosion or land instability caused by a natural hazard event, that is not a	Communities are increasingly re 7.2 General risk reduction polic
This policy will enable development to be considered on a site-specific or	restricted discretionary activity under Rule C.8.6.1 is a non-complying activity.	The adverse effects of natur
development-specific, case-by-case basis using standard engineering practices and	For the avoidance of doubt this rule covers the following RMA activities:	will be avoided or mitigated
risk management techniques. These may include: • ISO 31000: 2009 (Risk Management Standard) • NZS 9401: 2008 (Managing Flood Risk – A Process	 Re-building of materially damaged or destroyed buildings (s9(2)). 	Reduction in the need / den
Standard) • NZS 4404: 2010 (Land Development and Subdivision Infrastructure).	D Policies Ngā Kaupapa	
	D.6 Natural Hazards	
7.1.2 Policy – New subdivision and land use within 10-year and 100-year flood	D.6.1 Appropriateness of hard protection structures	
hazard areas	Priority will be given to the use of non-structural measures over the use and	
New subdivision, built development (including wastewater treatment and disposal	construction of hard protection structures when managing hazard risk.	
systems), and land use change may be appropriate within 10-year and 100-year	D.6.4 Flood hazard management – flood defences	
flood nazard areas provided all of the following are met:	Recognise the significant benefits that flood defences can play in reducing flood	
(a) Hazardous substances will not be inundated during a 100-year flood event.	hazard risk to people, property and the environment.	
(b) Earthworks (other than earthworks associated with flood control works) do not	D.6.5 Flood hazard management – development within floodplains	
divert flood flow onto neighbouring properties, and within 10-year flood hazard	Development in flood hazard areas and continually or intermittently flowing rivers	
(a) A minimum freehoard above a 100 year fleed event of at least 500mm is	(including high-risk flood hazard areas) must not increase the risk of adverse	
(c) A minimum freeboard above a 100-year flood event of at least 500mm is	effects from flood hazards on other property or another person's use of land or	
(d) Commercial and industrial buildings are constructed so as to not be subject to	property.	
material damage in a 100 year flood event.	F.1 Objectives Ngā whāinga	
(e) New subdivision plans are able to identify that building platforms will not be	F.1.10 Natural hazard risk	
subject to inundation and / or material damage (including erosion) in a 100-year	The risks and impacts of natural hazard events (including the influence of climate	
flood event;	change) on people, communities, property, natural systems, infrastructure and the	
(f) Within 10-year flood hazard areas, land use or built development is of a type	regional economy are minimised by:	
that will not be subject to material damage in a 100-year flood event; and	1) increasing the understanding of natural hazards, including the <u>potential</u>	
(g) Flood hazard risk to vehicular access routes for proposed new lots is assessed.	influence of climate change on natural hazard events and the potential impacts on	
	coastal biodiversity values, and	
7.1.3 Policy – New subdivision, use and development within areas potentially	2) becoming better prepared for the consequences of natural hazard events, and	
affected by coastal hazards (including high risk coastal hazard areas)	3) avoiding inappropriate new development in 100-year flood hazard areas and	
Within areas potentially affected by coastal hazards over the next 100	coastal hazard areas, and	
years(including high risk coastal hazard areas), the hazard risk associated with new use and development will be managed so that:	4) not compromising the effectiveness of existing natural and man-made defences against natural hazards, and	
(a) Redevelopment or changes in land use that reduce the risk of adverse effects from coastal hazards are encouraged:	5) enabling appropriate hazard mitigation measures to be implemented to protect existing vulnerable development, and	
(b) Subdivision plans are able to identify that building platforms are located	6) promoting long-term strategies that reduce the risk of natural hazards impacting on people, communities and natural systems, and	
subject to inundation and / or material damage (including erosion) over a 100-year	7) recognising that in justified circumstances, critical infrastructure may have to be	
timeframe;	over the second se	
(c) Coastal hazard risk to vehicular access routes for proposed new lots is assessed;	8) anticipating and providing for, where practicable, landward migration of coastal biodiversity values affected by sea-level rise and natural hazard events.	
(d) Any use or development does not increase the risk of social, environmental or economic harm (from coastal hazards):	I Maps Ngā mahere matawhenua	
(e) Infrastructure should be located away from areas of coastal bazard risk but if	Flood protection schemes and drainage districts	
located within these areas, it should be designed to maintain its integrity and		
function during a hazard event;		
(f) The use of hard protection structures is discouraged and the use of alternatives		
to them promoted; and		

isms

evelopment occurs in areas subject to natural effects of those natural hazards are mitigated by

resilient to the effects of natural hazard events. cies

Iral hazard mitigation measures on the environment d.

mand for hard protection structures.

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechani
(g) Mechanisms are in place for the safe storage of hazardous substances.		
7.1.4 Policy – Existing development in known hazard-prone areas		
In 10-year and 100-year flood hazard areas and coastal hazard areas, mitigation		
encouraged. These may include one or more of the following:		
(a) Designing for relocatable or recoverable structures (when changing existing		
buildings); (b) Providing for low or no risk activities within hazard-prone areas; (c)		
Providing for setbacks (from rivers / streams or the coastal marine area); (d)		
Replacing or modifying existing development without resorting to hard protection		
structures (see Policy 7.2.2); or (f) Protecting, restoring or enhancing natural		
defences against natural hazards (see Policy 7.2.1).		
7.1.5 Policy – Regionally significant infrastructure and critical infrastructure		
New regionally significant infrastructure and critical infrastructure:		
(1) Must be designed to maintain, as far as practicable, its integrity and function during natural hazard events; and		
(2) May be considered appropriate to locate within flood and coastal hazard areas, even if it cannot meet policies 7.1.2 or 7.1.3 provided:		
(a) There is a need to be located within the flood hazard and / or coastal hazard		
area; and (b) infrastructure providers have demonstrated that the proposed		
cultural and economic costs and benefits) to service the needs of the community:		
and (c) (An engineer's assessment identifies the potential for the infrastructure to		
exacerbate flood and erosion hazard risk on neighbouring properties, and where		
the assessment shows that risk will be exacerbated; the assessment must outline		
ways this risk can be minimised.		
See also 7.1.6 Policy – Climate change and development (addressed above)		
Climate-resilient development in the right locations		
Focus on spatial planning		
Consistent with approach set out in RM reforms		
Reduce and manage impacts of climate hazards on homes and buildings		
Chapter 3 Objectives	D Policies Ngā Kaupapa	RPS Methods
3.11 Regional form	D.2.3 Climate change and development	7.2.4 Method – Statutory plans
Northland has sustainable built environments that effectively integrate	Particular regard must be had to the potential effects of climate change on a	(1) When setting out objectives
intrastructure with subdivision, use and development, and have a sense of place,	proposed development requiring consent under this Plan, taking into account the scale, type and design-life of the development proposed and with reference to the	and district plans, the regional a
identity and a range of mestyle, employment and transport choices.	latest national guidance and best available climate change projections.	maintenance, protection, resto
Chapter 5 Policies and methods – Regional form and infrastructure	I Maps Ngā mahere matawhenua	(2) The regional council will incl
5.1 Regional form	PRP maps including flood control schemes and drainage districts, and erosion	relevant regional plan(s) to prev
5.1.1 Policy – Planned and coordinated development	prone land. Maps indicating flood and coastal hazard risk are provide separately to	prone land and the drainage of
Subdivision, use and development should be located, designed and built in a	anow for updates	(3) The regional council will incl
planned and co-ordinated manner which:		rules) in regional plans to contro
(a) Is guided by the 'Regional Form and Development Guidelines' in Appendix 2;		of floodwaters across floodplair
(b) Is guided by the 'Regional Urban Design Guidelines' in Appendix 2 when it is urban in nature;		levees, filling of land, or siting o

and strategies

s, policies, and methods (including rules) in regional and district councils shall recognise the role that ng natural hazard risk and provide for their pration and enhancement.

lude objectives, policies, and methods in the vent the clearance of indigenous bush on erosionwetlands and other natural ponding areas, where risk of flooding to downstream land.

clude objectives, policies, and methods (including rol activities that will dam or divert the natural flow ins (such as stopbanks, bund walls, or artificial of structures).

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechan
RPS provisions (c) Recognises and addresses potential cumulative effects of subdivision, use, and development, and is based on sufficient information to allow assessment of the potential long-term effects;(d) Is integrated with the development, funding, implementation, and operation of transport, energy, water, waste, and other infrastructure;e) Should not result in incompatible land uses in close proximity and avoids the potential for reverse sensitivity;(f) Ensures that plan changes and subdivision to / in a primary production zone, do not materially reduce the potential for soil-based primary production on land with highly versatile soils, or if they do, the net public benefit exceeds the reduced potential for soil-based primary production activities; and (g) Maintains or enhances the sense of place and character of the surrounding environment except where changes are anticipated by approved regional or district council growth strategies and / or district or regional plan provisions.	PRP provisions	 Methods / other plan mechan (4) The regional and district co objectives, policies, and methor Regional and district plans will NB: 7.2.2 Policy – Establishin Policy – Protection and main full in relation to natural har RPS Environmental results and 5.1 Regional form Urban growth and develop New use and development environment and provides provides for a range of trant Mixed use development is RPS Appendix 2. Regional day
 (h) Is or will be serviced by necessary infrastructure. Note: in determining the appropriateness of subdivision, use and development (including development in the coastal environment – see next policy), all policies and methods in the Regional Policy Statement must be considered, particularly policies relating to natural character, features and landscapes, heritage, natural hazards, indigenous ecosystems and fresh and coastal water quality. See also 7.1.6 Policy – Climate change and development (addressed above at) 		 RPS Appendix–2 - Regional dev Appendix 2 – Regional develop Part A) Regional form and d use and development shou adaptation to the projected Hazards' for more details and development to: Demonstrate access to streatment; Minimise need for green Recognise the importan Be directed away from h Protect significant ecolor Avoid or mitigate adversand soil stability; Adopt sustainable desig Consider effects on tang and responsibilities; Encourage waste minim
Adaptation options including managed retreat		
 Chapter 7 Policies and methods - Natural hazards 7.1 Development in natural hazard-prone areas 7.1.4 Policy – Existing development in known hazard-prone areas In 10-year and 100-year flood hazard areas and coastal hazard areas, mitigation measures to reduce natural hazard risk to existing development will be encouraged. These may include one or more of the following: (a) Designing for relocatable or recoverable structures (when changing existing buildings); (b) Providing for low or no risk activities within hazard-prone areas; (c) Providing for setbacks (from rivers / streams or the coastal marine area); (d) Managed retreat by relocation, removal, or abandonment of structures; (e) Replacing or modifying existing development without resorting to hard 	D Policies Ngā Kaupapa D2 General D.2.4 Adaptive management Regard should be had to the appropriateness of an adaptive management approach where: 1) there is an inadequate baseline of information on the receiving environment, and 2) the occurrence of potential adverse effects can be effectively monitored, and 3) thresholds can be set to require mitigation action if more than minor adverse effects arise, and 4) potential adverse effects can be remedied before they become irreversible D.6.1 Appropriateness of hard protection structures	

nisms

ouncils shall give effect to Policy 7.2.2 through ods (including rules) in regional and district plans. (5) implement Policy 7.2.3 ing the need for hard protection structures, 7.2.3 intenance of structural mitigation assets – set out in azard risk. ticipated ment is managed in an integrated manner. fits within the context of the surrounding a range of lifestyle choices and in urban areas nsport options. provided for in appropriate locations. velopment and design guidelines pment and design guidelines development guidelines state that new subdivision, Ild (among other matters) be designed to allow l effects of climate change (refer to 'Natural nd guidance). These guidelines also require new secure water supply and effective wastewater nfield urban development; nce of parks; high risk hazard areas; ogical areas; se effects on natural hydrological characteristics gn technologies where appropriate; gata whenua relationships, values, aspirations, roles nisation and efficient use of resources. ign guidelines set out guidance on context, ons, creativity, custodianship and collaboration.

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechanis
(f) Protecting, restoring or enhancing natural defences against natural hazards (see Policy 7.2.1).	Priority will be given to the use of non-structural measures over the use and construction of hard protection structures when managing hazard risk. New hard protection structures may be considered appropriate when:	
	1) alternative responses to the hazard (including soft protection measures, restoration or enhancement of natural defences against coastal hazards and abandonment of assets) are demonstrated to be impractical or have greater adverse effects on the environment, or	
	2) they are the only practical means to protect:	
	a) existing or planned regionally significant infrastructure, or	
	b) existing core local infrastructure, or	
	c) concentrations of existing vulnerable development, and	
	d) they provide a better outcome for the local community, district or region, compared to no hard protection structure, and the works form part of a long-term	
	strategy, which represents the best practicable option for the future	
	Hard protection structures, when considered necessary to protect private assets, should not be located on public land unless there is significant public or environmental benefit in doing so.	
	D.6.4 Flood hazard management – flood defences	
	Recognise the significant benefits that flood defences can play in reducing flood hazard risk to people, property and the environment.	
Nature-based adaptation		
Chapter 3: Objectives	C Rules Ngā ture	RPS Issue 2.1 identifies key pres
Objective 3.3: Ecological flows and water levels	C.1 Coastal activities	resources including climate char
Maintain flows, flow variability and water levels necessary to safeguard the life-	C.1.1.24 Hard protection structures in significant areas – non-complying activity	RPS methods
supporting capacity, ecosystem processes, indigenous species and the associated ecosystems of freshwater	C.1.1.27 Structures within a significant area – non-complying activity (appealed to Environment Court by Transpower New Zealand Ltd ENV-2019-AKL-000107, Royal Forest & Bird Protection Society NZ ENV-2019-AKL-000127, CEP Services	 4.2.2 Method – Statutory plans (1) The regional council will ame implement Policy 4.1.1 and Polic
Objective 3.4: Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity	Matauwhi Ltd ENV-2019-AKL-000111)	(a) Establishing freshwater obje
Safeguard Northland's ecological integrity by:		(b) Methods to avoid or phase c
a) Protecting areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of	C.2.1 Activities in the beds of lakes and rivers	(c) Where appropriate, requiring
indigenous fauna;	C.2.1.1 Introduction or planting of plants in rivers and lakes – permitted activity	coastal marine area, beds and n
b) Maintaining the extent and diversity of indigenous ecosystems and habitats in	C.2.1.3 Maintenance of the free flow of water in rivers and	(d) Encouraging livestock exclus
c) Where practicable enhancing indigenous ecosystems and babitats particularly	mitigating bank erosion – permitted activity	(e) Managing the effects of nutr
where this contributes to the reduction in the overall threat status of regionally	C.2.2 Activities affecting wetlands	to prevent and control diffuse s
and nationally threatened species.	C.2.2.1 Natural wetland maintenance and enhancement – permitted activity C.2.2.4 Activities in natural and constructed wetlands – discretionary activity	(g) Providing for appropriate au industry guidelines and standard
See also Objective 3.2 Region-wide water quality and Objective 3.15 Active management	 Includes 1) damage, destruction, disturbance, or removal of a plant in a wetland or deliberate introduction of a plant in a wetland for wetland maintenance or wetland enhancement, or 2) use erection, reconstruction 	 (h) Specifying controls on wet w (i) Providing for the protection of and improving water quality; and
<u>4.2 – Region-wide water quality management</u>	placement, alteration, extension, removal, or demolition of any structure in a	(i) Providing for the use of conta
4.2.1 Policy - Improving overall water quality	wetland, or 3) disturbance of the bed of a constructed wetland and	of sediments and non-toxic form
Improve the overall quality of Northland's water resources by:	construction or installation of a structure in a constructed wetland, that is not	(2) District councils shall include
(c) Promoting and supporting the active management, enhancement and	the activities are not undertaken in a significant wetland.	subdivision and the development
creation of vegetated riparian margins and wetlands.	C.2.2.6 Activities in significant wetlands – non-complying activities	shall include:
	C.8.4 Vegetation clearance in riparian areas and foredune management area	(a) Where appropriate, requiring
		they will contribute to maintain

ssures on Northland's fresh and costal water nge.

- and strategies
- end its regional plans to the extent required to icy 4.2.1, including by:
- ectives and region-wide water quality limits; out over-allocation;
- g the restriction or exclusion of livestock from the nargins of streams, rivers, lakes and wetlands;
- sion in all other areas;
- rient loss and sediment discharges
- essary requiring other good management practices source contaminants entering water bodies;
- idited self-management schemes and the use of ds;
- veather discharges from wastewater infrastructure; of the significant value of wetlands in maintaining nd
- aminant offsetting for direct and diffuse discharges ms of nitrogen and phosphorus.
- e methods in district plans to manage the effects of nt of land (including notices of requirement) for overall quality of fresh and coastal waters. Methods

ng esplanade reserves and esplanade strips where ning or improving water quality;

Chapter 4.4 Maintaining and enhancing indigenous ecosystems and species	C.8.4.1 Coastal dune restoration within the coastal riparian and foredune	(b) Promoting new appropriatel
4.4.1 Policy – Maintaining and protecting significant ecological areas and habitats	management area – permitted activity. NB this does not include indigenous	esplanade reserves or esplanad
(2) In the coastal environment, avoid significant adverse effects and avoid, remedy, or mitigate other adverse effects of subdivision, use and development on:	coastal dune vegetation.	(c) Considering the adoption of the potential adverse effects of
(a) Areas of predominantly indigenous vegetation;	D Policies Ngā Kaupapa	constructed and restored wetla
(b) Habitats of indigenous species that are important for recreational, commercial,	D2 General	
traditional or cultural purposes;	D.2.13 Marine and freshwater pest management	4.4.3 Method – Statutory plans
(c) Indigenous ecosystems and habitats that are particularly vulnerable to modification, including estuaries, lagoons, coastal wetlands, dunelands, intertidal zones, rocky reef systems, eelgrass, northern wet heathlands, coastal and headwater streams, floodplains, margins of the coastal marine area and freshwater bodies, spawning and nursery areas and saltmarsh.	 D.2.18 Managing adverse effects on indigenous biodiversity Considers the coastal environment (in line with the NZCPS) and outside the coastal environment, including wetlands. Recognises the benefits of activities on biodiversity values that restore, protect or enhance ecosystems, habitats and processes, ecological corridors and indigenous biodiversity (D.2.18(8)). 	(1) Subject to Method 4.4.3(3), v Statement becomes operative t the extent needed to ensure the (including wetlands), in, on, or u coastal marine area. Principal m
(3) Outside the coastal environment and where clause (1) does not apply, avoid,		(a) Freshwater objectives and as
remedy or mitigate adverse effects of subdivision, use and development so they	D4 Land and water	freshwater quality limits, and re
are not significant on any of the following:	Protection of natural wetlands as required by the NPS-FM:	(b) Coastal water quality classifi
(a) Areas of predominantly indigenous vegetation;	• D.4.22 Natural wetlands – requirements (maintain functions and values)	and regulatory methods to achie
(b) Habitats of indigenous species that are important for recreational, commercial, traditional or cultural nurposes:	D.4.23 Natural inland wetlands (loss of extent is avoided)	use of land;
(c) Indigenous ecosystems and babitats that are particularly vulnerable to	D.4.24 Wetland – values:	(c) Controls on use and develop
modification, including wetlands, dunelands, northern wet heathlands, headwater	When considering resource consents for activities in wetlands, recognise:	(d) Controls on use and develop
streams, floodplains and margins of freshwater bodies, spawning and nursery	1) the benefits of wetland creation and restoration, and the enhancement of	(e) Controls on use and develop
areas	wetland functions, and	aquatic pest species to be release
	2) that the values of induced wetlands or reverted wetlands are likely to relate to:	(2) Subject to Method 4.4.3(3),
Chapter 7.2 General risk reduction policies	a) the length of time the wetland has been in existence (ecological values are	Statement becomes operative t
	generally lower in newly established wetlands), and	extent needed to ensure the pla
7.2.1 Policy – Role of natural features	b) whether long-term viability of the wetland relies on maintenance works to	Methods of implementation inc
Recognise and protect, restore or enhance natural systems and features that	maintain suitable hydrological conditions (wetlands that do not require maintenance are of greater value) and	(a) Controls on the disturbance
contribute to reducing the impacts of natural hazard events on the built environment.	3) that the consent duration should be for as long as active restoration or enhancement works are required.	(b) Controls on the introduction potential.
7.2.2 Policy – Ectablishing the need for hard protection structures	D.4.26 Benefits of freshwater structures, dams and	(3) In implementing Policy 4.4.1
Priority will be given to the use of non-structural measures over the use /	diversions	(a) Allow activities undertaken f
construction of hard protection structures when managing hazard risk. New hard	Recognise the significant benefits activities in water bodies can provide to local	maintenance or enhancement;
protection structures may be considered appropriate when:	communities, Māori and the region, including:	(b) Consider biodiversity offsets
(a) The level of hazard risk reduction that the proposed structural asset is seeking	1) socio-economic well-being and resilience of communities or industry, and	(c) Allow the maintenance and u
to achieve is appropriate and cannot reasonably be achieved through non-	2) regionally significant infrastructure, and	and
structural options; OR	3) enhanced fish passage and ecological connectivity between the coastal marine area and the upstream extent of water bodies, and	(d) Not unreasonably restrict the forestry.
(b) They will provide protection for concentrations of vulnerable existing	4) flood protection and the safeguarding of public health and safety, and	
development and the works form part of a long-term hazard management	5) public access along, over or in the water body, and	PRP H Appendices
strategy that represents the best practicable option for the future; and	6) enabling community resilience to climate change, and	H.6 Wetland definitions relation
(c) The financial costs of non-structural measures (compared to the costs of the	7) enhancing recreation opportunities including walking, bird watching, fishing,	
reduction) are too high for the community: and	game bird hunting and boating, and	
(d) It can be demonstrated that the benefits of mitigation outweigh the adverse	8) education and scientific research, and	
effects and that the form and location of the hard protection structure is such that	9) enhancing amenity and natural character.	
any adverse effects on the environment are minimised.	D.6 Natural Hazards	
	See also D.6.1 Appropriateness of hard protection structures which gives priority	
7.2.3 Policy – Protection and maintenance of structural mitigation assets		
Impediments to accessing established natural hazard structural mitigation assets	E 1 Objectives Ngā whāinga	
for maintenance purposes, and activities that may compromise the integrity or functioning of these assets, will be avoided.	F.1.3 Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity	

ly vegetated riparian buffer zones, including on le strips; and

low impact urban design techniques to minimise contaminants on receiving waters, such as using inds.

and strategies

within two years after the Regional Policy the regional council will amend regional plans to e plans implement Policy 4.4.1 for water bodies under the beds of rivers and lakes, and in the nethods include:

ssociated environmental flows and / or levels and egulatory methods to achieve them, such as use of land;

ications and associated water quality standards, ieve them, such as controls on discharges and the

oment of beds of lakes, rivers, and wetlands;

- oment of the coastal marine area; and
- oment that could have adverse effects by causing used or otherwise spread.

within two years after the Regional Policy

the district councils shall amend district plans to the ans implement Policy 4.4.1 on land outside of the ids, and the coastal marine area.

clude:

of land and the clearance of vegetation; and n or keeping of species with recognised pest

L regional and district plans shall: for the purposes of pest control or habitat

s in appropriate circumstances;

use of existing structures including infrastructure;

ne existing use of production land, including

nship

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechani
Resilient communities • Accommodating local adaptation plans, including coastal and community	In the coastal marine area and in fresh waterbodies, safeguard ecological integrity by: 1) protecting areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna, and 2) maintaining regional indigenous biodiversity, and 3) where practicable, enhancing and restoring indigenous ecosystems and habitats to a healthy functioning state, and reducing the overall threat status of regionally and nationally Threatened or At Risk species, and 4) preventing the introduction of new marine or freshwater pests into Northland and slowing the spread of established marine or freshwater pests within the region. I Maps Ngā mahere matawhenua Significant Ecological Areas Outstanding freshwater bodies: Rivers, Lakes	
drought adaptation planning Chapter 3 Objectives Objective 3.10: Use and allocation of common resources Efficiently use and allocate common natural resources, with a particular focus on: (a) Situations where demand is greater than supply; (b) The use of freshwater and coastal water space; and (c) Maximising the security and reliability of supply of common natural resources for users. 4.3.4 Policy – Water harvesting, storage and conservation Recognise and promote the benefits of water harvesting, storage, and conservation measures. Explanation includes reference to local climate changes with longer dry spells and more frequent high intensity rain events. 	C Rules Ngā ture C.5.1.1 Minor takes – permitted activity HAppendices Āpitihanga H.4 Environmental flows, levels and allocations Policy H.4.1 Minimum flows for rivers Policy H.4.2 Minimum levels for lakes and natural wetlands Policy H.4.3 Allocation limits for rivers Policy H.4.4 Allocation limits for aquifers H.5 Managing groundwater and surface water connectivity	RPS methods 4.3.5 Method – Statutory plans (1) The regional council will cha (c) Include policies and method including by: (i) Requiring that the intended m justified for the proposed use; (ii) Providing for the efficient tra (iii) Promoting water user group (iv) Requiring, as a condition of plans for the supply of water du water cannot be taken from the (d) Require the efficient use of w takes to the extent that is reaso likely future demand pressure in 4.3.6 Method – Advocacy and e groups, particularly in areas wit
 Resilient infrastructure Consideration of climate change impacts in infrastructure planning 		
 Chapter 3 Objectives Objective 3.8: Efficient and effective infrastructure Manage resource use to: (a) Optimise the use of existing infrastructure; (b) Ensure new infrastructure is flexible, adaptable, and resilient, and meets the reasonably foreseeable needs of the community; and (c) Strategically enable infrastructure to lead or support regional economic development and community wellbeing. Chapter 5 Policies and methods – Regional form and infrastructure 5.2 Effective and efficient infrastructure 	 C Rules Ngā ture Rules in the PRP focus on protection of regionally significant infrastructure or core local infrastructure from natural hazards e.g. hard protection structures in the coastal marine area, maintenance. D Policies Ngā Kaupapa D.2.5 Benefits of regionally significant infrastructure Particular regard must be had to the national, regional and locally significant social, economic, and cultural benefits of regionally significant infrastructure. D.2.9 Appropriateness of regionally significant infrastructure proposals 	RPS methods 5.2.4 Method – Statutory plans The regional and district counci assessment criteria or other sui consent application, plan chang proposed that includes new or infrastructure proposed by a ne following: (a) The extent to which infrastru- efficiently with minimal adverse of future generations (for exam sub-regional growth strategies)

- and strategies
- inge relevant regional plans to:
- ods to improve the efficient allocation of water,
- rate and quantity of water is reasonable and
- ansfer of water permits;
- ps; and
- water permits for municipal supply, contingency uring drought periods when the required volume of e consented source.
- water in permitted and consented consumptive onable based on the level of existing allocation and in the catchment...

education identifies the establishment of water user th high demand / high allocation.

and strategies

- ils shall, through regional and district plans, use itable provisions to ensure that when a resource ge, or notice of requirement for development is upgraded community infrastructure or etwork utility operator, weight will be given to the
- ucture can be operated, maintained, and upgraded e effects to meet the reasonably foreseeable needs aple, to meet change as anticipated by regional /);

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechanis
 RPS provisions 5.2.2 Policy – Future-proofing infrastructure Encourage the development of infrastructure that is flexible, resilient, and adaptable to the reasonably foreseeable needs of the community. 5.2.3 Policy – Infrastructure, growth and economic development Promote the provision of infrastructure as a means to shape, stimulate and direct opportunities for growth and economic development. 5.3.3 Policy – Managing adverse effects arising from regionally significant infrastructure (1) Allow adverse effects arising from the establishment and operation of new regionally significant infrastructure and the re-consenting of existing operations where: (a) The proposal is consistent with Policies 4.4.1(1), 4.4.1(2). 4.6.1(1)(a), 4.6.1(1)(b), 4.6.1(2) and 4.6.2 (1); (b) The proposal does not result in established water quality limits or environmental flows and / or levels being exceeded or otherwise could lead to the over-allocation of a catchment (refer to Policy 4.1.1); (c) Damage to and / or loss of the relationship of iwi with ancestral sites, sites of significance, wahi tapu, customary activities and / or taonga is avoided or otherwise agreed to by the affected iwi or hapi; and (d) In addition to the matters outlined in 1) (a) – (c) above, other adverse effects are avoided, remedied or mitigated to the extent that they are no more than minor (2) Allow adverse effects after the conclusion of the maintenance or upgrading of established regionally significant infrastructure wherever it is located, where: (a) The adverse effects after the conclusion of the maintenance or upgrading are the same or similar to before the activity being undertaken. (3) When managing the adverse effects of regionally significant infrastructure decision makers will give weight to: (a) The benefits of the activity in terms of Policy 5.3.2; (b) Whether the activity must be recognised and provided for as d	PRP provisions When considering the appropriateness of a regionally significant infrastructure activity in circumstances where adverse effects are greater than envisaged in Policies D.2.6 and D.2.7, have regard and give appropriate weight to: 1) the benefits of the activity in terms of D.2.5, and 2) whether the activity must be recognised and provided for by a national policy statement, and 3) any demonstrated functional need for the activity, and 4) the extent to which any adverse environmental effects have been avoided, remedied or mitigated by route, site or method selection, and 5) any operational, technical or location constraints that limit the design and location of the activity, including any alternatives that have been considered which have proven to be impractical, or have greater adverse effects, and 6) whether the activity is for regionally significant infrastructure which is included in Schedule 1 of the Civil Defence Emergency Management Act as a lifeline utility and meets the reasonably foreseeable needs of Northland, and 7) the extent to which the adverse effects of the activity can be practicably reduced, inclusive of any positive effects and environmental offsets proposed, and 8) whether an adaptive management regime (including modification to the consented activity) can be used to manage any uncertainty around the occurrence of residual adverse effects, and 9) whether the activity helps to achieve consolidated development and the efficient use of land and resources, including within the coald and reselve affect the ongoing operation, maintenance, upgrade or development of regionally significant infrastructure is not compromised. F.10 Dejetives Ngā whāinga F.1.6 Regionally significant infrastructure Hore tensibles the national, regional ad local benefits of regionally significant infrastructure is not compromised. F.10 Dejetives Ngā whāinga F.1.6 Regionally significant infras	Methods / other plan mechani (b) The extent to which the infr of resources; (c) Where practicable, the pote accommodate, other infrastruc (d) Where multiple parties are in work together to co-ordinate are implementation plans. In addition, in conjunction with of requirements and plan chang and Development Guidelines co See 5.2.5 Method – Non-statute with Northland's councils and t areas where significant growth together.
Chapter 3 Objectives	D Policies Ngā Kaupapa	RPS Part 9: Environmental resul
	energe IBu unababa	

- rastructure uses measures to achieve efficient use
- ential for infrastructure to co-locate with, or ture to achieve efficiencies; and
- involved, the extent to which providers propose to ctivities and / or develop infrastructure
- Method 5.1.5(1)(a), all resource consents, notice ges should be assessed against the Regional Form ontained in Appendix 2.
- tory plans and strategies, which identifies working the Auckland Council should consider, especially in or decline is occurring or anticipated, working

Its anticipated

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechanis
Objective 3.5 Enabling economic wellbeing	D2 General	6.1 Supporting economic develo
Northland's natural and physical resources are sustainably managed in a way that	D.2.1 Rules for managing natural and physical resources	The impacts of resource man
is attractive for business and investment that will improve the economic wellbeing	Include rules to manage the use, development and protection of natural and	 An increasingly consistent ap
or Northland and its communities.	physical resources that:	Reduced compliance costs.
	resource management objectives, and	 Increased business and inves
	2) are as internally consistent as possible, and	
	3) use or support good management practices, and	
	4) minimise compliance costs, and	
	5) enable use and development that complies with the Regional Policy Statement for Northland and the objectives of this Plan, and	
	6) focus on effects and, where suitable, use performance standards.	
	D.2.2 Social, cultural and economic benefits of activities	
	Regard must be had to the social, cultural and economic benefits of a proposed	
	activity, recognising significant benefits to local communities, Māori and the	
	in areas of Northland where alternative opportunities are limited.	
Reduce emissions		
Equitable transition		
Prosperous net-zero emissions economy and society		
 Energy, land use and transport in our communities are swiftly transformed 		
Chapter 3 Objectives	D Policies Ngā Kaupapa	RPS methods
Objective 3.9 Security of energy supply	D2 General	5.4.3 Method – Statutory plans a
Northland's energy supplies are secure and reliable, and generation that benefits	D.2.12 Renewable energy	(1) The regional and district cour
the region is supported, particularly when it uses renewable sources.	When considering activities associated with the generation of renewable energy:	include objectives, policies and n
	1) have particular regard to the local, regional and national benefits of the	(a) Encourage and provide for ac
Chapter 5.4 Renewable energy	2) recognize the availability of renewable energy recourses in Northland	renewable electricity generation
s.4.1 Policy – Recognising and providing for the benefits of renewable electricity generation activities and supporting the sustainable use and development of	including:	effects and making the activity a
Northland's renewable energy resources.	a) high temperature geothermal resources at Ngāwhā, and	are not significant; (b) Recognise
Recognise and provide for the national significance of renewable electricity	b) tidal resources, particularly in west coast harbours, and	existing renewable generation ac
generation activities, including the national, regional and local benefits and	c) hydroelectric resources on river systems, and	regard to the requirements of re
support the sustainable use and development of Northland's renewable energy	3) have regard to the practical constraints on large scale generation of renewable	the need to locate where the res
resources.	energy including:	developing, operating, maintaini
activities.	a) the need for the generation of renewable energy to locate where the resource	particular regard to the associate
Encourage and provide for the development, operation, maintenance and	b) that effective generation of energy from geothermal resources will include the	transmission lines, to enable con
upgrading of community and small-scale distributed renewable electricity	need to consumptively use geothermal heat and pressure, and	the use of adaptive management
	c) that effective generation of energy from tidal resources may include the need to	development of community and
	d) that effective generation of energy from hydroelectric resources may include	activities; (g) Consider permitted
	the need to divert, dam or otherwise restrict the flow of water, and	generation; and (h) In determining
	e) The need to connect to the electricity supply network or national grid	and the opportunity to use perfo
		(2) The regional and district cour
		recognise renewable energy reso
		Such an approach may include, if
		Recognition of natural features in
		approach should:
	·	•

opment

nagement decisions are well understood. pproach to cross-boundary issues.

stment growth

and strategies

ncils shall, through regional and district plans, methods (including rules) to:

tivities associated with the investigation, potential sites and energy resources for by recognising the reversibility of any adverse s permissible as possible where adverse effects the practical implications of restrictions on ctivities to upgrade and maintain generation ficant environmental effects; (c) Have particular newable electricity generation activities including source exists and the practical constraints of ing and upgrading generation facilities; (d) Have ed renewable electricity generation requirements, ns, for supporting infrastructure, such as nnection to the grid; (e) Have particular regard to t techniques and have regard to proposals to ects; (f) Encourage and provide for the small-scale renewable electricity generation l activity status for domestic and micro-scale ng the resource consent activity status of nave regard to relevant industry code of practice ormance standards.

ncils shall, through regional and district plans, sources as they may exist in the district / region. if appropriate, recognition of any natural features build be used for renewable electricity generation. in this way may be generic in nature. Such an

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechan
		 (a) Be identified in collaboration possible by relevant regional and level of technical analysis that if (3) The regional and district contintroduce specific objectives, puthe use and development of the electricity generation. Where an include provisions that protect (4) The regional and district controlice of requirement for a remand provide for the national, regeneration especially where the supply in Northland. RPS Environmental results ant 5.4 Renewable energy Northland becomes self-sufficient electricity over time. The benefits and practicable energy
		generation are given appro
 Work with communities Efficient and accessible public transport, supporting initiatives such as coastal shipping Support land-use change e.g. in ERP: designing public spaces (including streets) that appeal to people in higher-density areas, making them more accessible, walkable and bikeable nature-based solutions, such as urban forestry and vertical greening blue and green infrastructure, such as water sensitive urban design Factor climate outcomes into decision making on infrastructure (ERP) 	D Policies Ngā Kaupapa	
Objective 3.11: Regional form Northland has sustainable built environments that effectively integrate infrastructure with subdivision, use and development, and have a sense of place, identity and a range of lifestyle, employment and transport choices.	D.3 Air D.3.1 General approach to managing air quality • NB: This policies does not contain reference to climate change I Maps Ngā mahere matawhenua Airsheds	
 Net-zero economy Support and enable regional emissions reduction initiatives, local industry transformation 		
No relevant policies		
 Implications of emissions pricing Align with central government approach to emissions removals, including how the NZ ETS can support indigenous biodiversity 		
No relevant policies		
 Review of focus sectors from ERP: Circular economy and bioeconomy Transport Energy and industry 		

nisms

on with stakeholders; and (b) Be informed where and district strategies; and may (c) Be informed by a identifies the generating potential of the resource. suncils shall, through regional and district plans, policies, and methods (including rules) that enable nese renewable energy resources for renewable appropriate, the regional and district councils may

t the ability to develop a resource. buncils shall, when considering a resource consent or newable electricity generation activity, recognise egional and local benefits of renewable electricity

ne activity will improve the security of electricity

ticipated

fficient for its electricity needs and a net exporter of

le constraints associated with renewable electricity priate recognition in the consenting process

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechan
Building and construction		
Rural environment (Agriculture and Forestry)		
• Waste		
Fluorinated gases		
See RPS objectives listed above including:	C Rules Ngā ture	Relevant RPS methods include:
3.11 Regional form	C.8.1.1 Access of livestock to the bed of an ephemeral or intermittently flowing	 4.4.3 Method – Statutory p
5.1.1 Policy – Planned and coordinated development	river – permitted activity	(Maintaining and protecting and district plans shall not i
	Covers a natural wetland that is larger than 500m2, the bed of a lake or a	land, including forestry.
	continually flowing river, or a continually flowing artificial watercourses (and is not	• 5.2.5 Method – Non-statuto
	captured under other rules)	Regional Land Transport Str
	C.8.1.4 Access of livestock to an outstanding freshwater body or the coastal	
	C = 2 1 Land preparation - nermitted activity (subject to conditions) otherwise	RPS Appendix 2 – Regional dev
	controlled under C.8.2.2	RPS Appendix 3 – Regionally sig
	C.8.3 Earthworks	
	C.8.3.1 Earthworks – permitted activity	
	• Earthworks outside the bed of a river, lake, wetland, inanga spawning site and the coastal marine area, and any associated damming and diversion of	
	stormwater and discharge of stormwater onto or into land where it may enter	
	water, are permitted activities (subject to conditions). Area and volume	
	standards apply in particular areas, including erosion prone land and hazard	
	I Mans I Ngā mahere matawhenua	
	Livestock exclusion	
	Highly erodible land	
Carbon removal		
Land use practises support carbon removal		
 Use spatial planning to plan and optimise carbon removal opportunities 		
• Methods and standards for biological carbon removal planning and regulatory processes, and supporting land-use change.		
On farm practises: plantings, soil improvement and forest management		
Appropriate afforestation		
No relevant policies		
Protection of natural ecosystems nature-based solutions for carbon removal		
• Protection, restoration and creation of natural carbon sinks such as wetlands, forests and coastal ecosystems		
• Align with our freshwater management and adaptation planning programmes		
• Existing and potential carbon sinks are well understood and have long-term		
management plans to enhance carbon storage		
Prioritise nature-based solutions		
See relevant objectives and policies listed in relation to nature-based adaptation		RPS Issue 2.1 identifies key pre
Objective 3.3: Ecological flows and water levels		Relevant RPS methods listed in
Objective 3.3. Ecological nows and water revers Objective 3.4. Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity		including:
See also Objective 3.2 Region-wide water quality and Objective 3.15 Active		4.2.2 Method – Statutory plans
management		4.4.3 Method – Statutory plans
4.2.1 Policy - Improving overall water quality		

nisms

plans and strategies : n implementing Policy 4.4.1 og significant ecological areas and habitats) regional unreasonably restrict the existing use of production

tory plans and strategies: reference e.g. to the trategy

velopment and design guidelines gnificant infrastructure

essures on Northland's fresh and coastal water ange.

n relation to nature-based adaptation above

and strategies and strategies

RPS provisions	PRP provisions	Methods / other plan mechanisms
 4.4.1 Policy – Maintaining and protecting significant ecological areas and habitats 		
7.2.1 Policy – Role of natural features		
• 7.2.2 Policy – Establishing the need for hard protection structures		
• 7.2.3 Policy – Protection and maintenance of structural mitigation assets		
Carbon removal economy		
Thriving, innovative carbon removal economy on land and sea		
Regional economic development partners, industry and the primary sector		
• Support investment in technology to capture and store carbon, provide for carbon offsets locally		
No relevant policies		

Appendix C Extract from National Adaptation Plan

This appendix is an extract from the NAP (pages 67-69), which sets out existing functions and powers that can be used to avoid, mitigate or manage the impacts of natural hazards. These functions could support climate-resilient development in the right locations.

Code	Objective	Explanation
SW1	Legislation and institutional arrangements are fit for purpose and provide clear roles and responsibilities	 Use legislation or regulation to: enable clear, adaptive decision-making appropriately allocate responsibilities.
HBP1	Homes and buildings are climate resilient, and meet social and cultural needs	 Reduce exposure to climate hazards and support businesses and communities to understand and respond to climate risks. Improve homes and buildings so they can withstand the expected range of temperatures, rainfall and wind, and to improve energy and water efficiency. Conserve valued cultural heritage.
HBP2	New and existing places are planned and managed to minimise risks to communities from climate change	 Improve resilience through effective planning, urban design and management. Avoid development in places that may be more exposed to climate hazards. Support existing places to adapt. Relocate people and assets where risks are too high to manage otherwise.
INF1	Reduce the vulnerability of assets exposed to climate change	 Understand where infrastructure assets and their services are exposed and vulnerable to climate impacts. Prioritise the risk management of assets so that services can continue if disruption occurs.
INF2	Ensure all new infrastructure is fit for a changing climate	 Consider long-term climate impacts when we design and invest in infrastructure, so the right infrastructure is in the right places. Understand future adaptation options and finance them, as part of the investment in new infrastructure to build capacity to adapt.
INF3	Use renewal programmes to improve adaptive capacity	 Consider long-term climate impacts when making decisions to maintain, upgrade, repair or replace existing infrastructure.

Table 3:Government objectives relevant to critical actions to deliver a climate-resilient
built environment

Local government should act now to drive climate-resilient development in the right locations

The effects of climate change are being felt now. During the transition to the new system, councils need to avoid locking in inappropriate land use or closing off adaptation pathways before the new resource management system takes full effect.

Councils have existing functions and powers that can be used to avoid, mitigate or manage the impacts of natural hazards. These functions can support climate-resilient development in the right locations.

In particular, councils must recognise and provide for the management of significant risks from natural hazards as a matter of national importance in exercising their functions and powers under the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA). Both regional and territorial authorities have functions under the RMA that relate to avoiding or mitigating natural hazards.

The National Policy Statement on Urban Development (NPS-UD) also supports climate-resilient development. For example, under the NPS-UD, some councils are required to, and others may, prepare future development strategies (FDS).¹ FDS can help drive climate-resilient development in the right locations. FDS spatially identify where long-term urban growth should happen, considering other inputs like constraints on development. RMA planning documents must have regard to an FDS, and must give effect to the NPS-UD.

The Urban Development Act 2020 (UDA) sets up a framework for delivering comprehensive large-scale urban development. The powers provided by the UDA allow multiple aspects of the urban environment to be changed with greater certainty, integration and speed which would support enabling adaptation to the effects of climate change. Under this Act, Kāinga Ora can determine whether to initiate a specified development project process, or can be directed to do so by Ministers. However, any party can propose a development project to Kāinga Ora. Councils are able to work with Kāinga Ora to identify opportunities for climate-resilient development using the UDA as a tool.

Further, regional and territorial authorities must give effect to the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement (NZCPS) 2010, which provides strong direction to avoid new development, redevelopment or changes in land use that would increase the risk of harm or adverse effects from coastal hazards.

However, clear direction about how to guide development in response to climate change outside of coastal areas has not yet been developed. Further, councils face significant pressure to enable further development to meet housing requirements. Through consultation on this plan, councils have asked central government to give them a stronger mandate for assessing and managing climate risk, and to support them to make decisions informed by that risk during the transition to a new resource management system.

To assist local government make good decisions about where and how to develop in the face of climate risk, the Government published interim guidance on the use of new sea-level rise projections in July 2022. The interim guidance updates the *Coastal hazards and climate change: Guidance for local government* (coastal hazards guidance). A full update to the coastal hazards guidance will be published in 2023.

The interim guidance is non-statutory. However, from 30 November 2022, councils will be required to 'have regard to' this plan when making or changing regional policy statements or regional or district plans. For that reason, this plan directs councils as follows.

When making or changing policy statements or plans under the RMA, including to give effect to the provisions of the NZCPS, councils should use the recommended climate change scenarios outlined below, as a minimum:

¹ Councils listed as Tier 1 or 2 local authorities in the Appendix to the NPS-UD must prepare a future development strategy (3.12(1) NPS-UD). Councils not listed in the Appendix may choose to prepare future development strategies (3.12(4) NPS-UD).

- to screen for hazards and risks in coastal areas, use the Shared Socioeconomic Pathway scenario for fossil fuel intensive development (SSP5-8.5) where available, or the Representative Concentration Pathway RCP8.5,² to 2130
- for detailed hazard and risk assessments in coastal and non-coastal areas, use both the middle-of-the-road scenario (SSP2-4.5) and the fossil fuel intensive development scenario (SSP5-8.5) where available, RCP4.5 and RCP8.5, to 2130, for areas at high risk of being affected, adding the relevant rate of vertical land movement locally. Where SSP2-4.5 and SSP5-8.5 are not available, use RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 to 2130, adding the relevant rate of vertical land movement locally
- for all other climate hazards and risks, use the most recent downscaled climate projections for Aotearoa.

In addition, councils should stress test plans, policies and strategies using a range of scenarios as recommended in the interim guidance and the National Climate Change Risk Assessment Framework, as relevant to the circumstance.

These recommended climate scenarios reflect the latest global climate projections released in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Sixth Assessment Report (AR6 WG1) (2021) and NZSeaRise.

Actions to drive climate-resilient development in the right locations

Our planning and investment systems shape how decisions are made on the form and location of our built environment, and how infrastructure is funded, financed and used. When investment and planning decisions are made in an integrated way and informed by national objectives, they can help us achieve well-functioning, resilient places. Reforming the planning system is an opportunity to provide a framework and process that respond to climate challenges and support risk-informed decision-making.

This plan outlines the steps the Government will take over the next six years to align its investment strategies with resilience and low-emissions objectives. The Government will reform legislation, institutions, guidance and practices to ensure central and local government, along with private individuals, developers and investors, make better decisions about where to locate new or intensified development.

Action 4.1: Reform the resource management system will be a main driver of the location and form of development. A key objective of the reform is to better prepare for adapting to climate change and risks from natural hazards. The resource management system as a whole will deliver this objective, with each part contributing to improve resilience in a different way.

The Natural and Built Environments Act will provide a foundation for decisions that will reduce climate risk. The National Planning Framework will provide further detail about how to achieve those outcomes – for example, planning for natural hazards and considering future climate risks when identifying areas for development.

² Representative Concentration Pathways should be used only where climate data is otherwise not reported under Shared Socioeconomic Pathways – for example, downscaled regional climate projections reported in Climate Change Projections for New Zealand.

www.tonkintaylor.co.nz



Effectiveness and Efficiency Review of the Northland Regional Policy Statement

Tangata Whenua Lens 24 April 2023



Prepared for: Northland Regional Council and Māori Technical Advisory Group



B&A Reference:

WNG19383

Status:

Final Revision

Date:

24 April 2023

Prepared by:

M. Dalh

Makarena Dalton Associate, Barker & Associates Limited

Reviewed by:

David Badham Partner/Northland Manager, Barker & Associates Limited



Contents

1.0	Introduction	4
1.1	Purpose	4
1.2	Background	4
2.0	Methodology	4
2.1	Māori Technical Advisory Group (MTAG)	5
2.2	Five Key Questions	5
3.0	Legislative Context	6
3.1	Changing Context – RMA Amendments	6
3.2	National Policy Statements	8
3.3	Other Relevant Information	10
4.0	MTAG Feedback	10
4.1	Fresh and Coastal Waters	10
4.2	Indigenous Ecosystems and Species	12
4.3	Economic Potential and Social Wellbeing	13
4.4	Tangata Whenua Participation, Natural Resources and Physical Resources	14
4.5	Coastal Environment, Natural Character, Features and Landscapes	16
4.6	Natural Hazards	17
5.0	Assessment	18
5.1	Five Key Questions	18
6.0	Conclusion & Recommendations	22

Appendices

Appendix 1: Provision Cascade of Relevant RPS Provisions


1.0 Introduction

1.1 Purpose

The purpose of this report is to undertake, document and review the efficiency and effectiveness of the Regional Policy Statement for Northland 2016 (**RPS**) from a tangata whenua perspective. This is an interim review that is part of a 5 yearly efficiency and effectiveness review of the RPS that the Northland Regional Council (**NRC**) are preparing to undertake.

1.2 Background

The RPS covers the management of natural and physical resources in the Northland Region. It provides broad direction and a framework for managing the region's natural and physical resources, through the identification of resource management issues, and sets out how use, development and protection of these resources will occur through policies and methods. In particular it addresses, air, land, freshwater and the coastal marine area resources. The RPS was made operative in part of 9 May 2016, except for those provisions relating for genetic engineering and the release of genetically modified organisms to the environment. The RPS was made fully operative on 14 June 2018.

NRC is undertaking an interim 5 yearly efficiency and effectiveness review of the RPS policies, rules or other methods in accordance with section 35(2) and 35(2A) of the Resource Management Act 1991 (**RMA**). These sections of the RMA require NRC undertake, and make available to the public, a review of the results of its monitoring into the efficiency and effectiveness of RPS policies and methods.

This report will contribute to the overarching efficiency and effectiveness review undertaken and prepared by NRC, and gives effect to that requirement. Through this review process, NRC is seeking to ensure that the RPS remains relevant, lawful, appropriate and that it is achieving its purpose in an efficient and effective way. Depending on the conclusions drawn from the review, NRC will then need to determine whether changes to the RPS are required now or can wait until the 10-year review of the RPS.

2.0 Methodology

NRC has developed five key questions to be answered which form the basis of the interim efficiency and effectiveness review. The five key questions are set out in Section 2.2 of this report.

To answer these questions from a tangata whenua perspective, the following methodology has been followed:

- (1) Review the RPS objectives, policies and methods applying a tangata whenua lens;
- (2) Review other relevant background documents, such as the Tane Whakapiripiri Report;
- (3) Break the RPS objectives, policies, methods and anticipated outcomes into eight topics based on the Part 2: Issues of the RPS; and
- (4) Undertake workshops with MTAG to seek their views on the process, work plan, reporting structure, and to seek the feedback on the five key questions posed by the NRC.



This review is primarily focussed on the tangata whenua perspective which is not easily recorded by NRC. For these reasons, direct workshops with MTAG have been undertaken and relied upon as the primary source of the 'tangata whenua perspective' on the effectiveness and efficiency of the RPS.

2.1 Māori Technical Advisory Group (MTAG)

NRC is committed to working with Māori of Te Taitokerau and has recognised this through the establishment of Te Taitokerau Māori and NRC Working Party (**TTMAC**). The Māori Technical Advisory Group (**MTAG**) is a sub-group of TTMAC and provides specialist technical input from a tangata whenua lens on NRC operations and regulatory processes. Since the formation of MTAG, it has been involved in key pieces of work, such as plan and policy making processes, Long Term Planning (**LTP**), the review of NRC's resource consenting process, and the development of a collective based hapū Mana Whakahono-ā-Rohe template.

As part of the interim effectiveness and efficiency review, NRC has sought input from MTAG, including seeking direction on the process and their views to answer the five key questions. To do this, a series of workshops were held with MTAG to assess the objectives, policies, methods and anticipated outcomes with NRC's five key questions in mind.

A summary of the feedback provided by MTAG is contained in Section 4.0 of this report, and **Table 1** below outlines the workshop schedule and purpose:

Workshop Series	Date	Purpose	
Workshop One	1/9/2022	Introduce the topic to MTAG, including discussing the purpose of the interim effectiveness and efficiency review; seek direction on the project plan; and provide context of MTAG's role in the review process.	
Workshop Two	15/9/2022	Interactive workshop to seek MTAG views on the eight RPS topic areas, answering the five key questions.	
Workshop Three	30/9/2022	Interactive workshop to seek MTAG views on remaining topic areas, answering the five key questions, and identif gaps in the current RPS.	

Table 1: Workshop Schedule

2.2 Five Key Questions

This assessment will focus on answering NRC's five key questions (copied below):

- (1) Have we done what we said we'd do? That is, have we implemented all the policies and methods in the RPS?
- (2) Have we achieved what we said we'd achieve? That is, have the policies and methods implemented resulted in the RPS's objectives being met?
- (3) How do we know if our actions led to the outcomes observed? Or, can we demonstrate that any achievement of the RPS's objectives is attributable to the methods in the RPS?



- (4) Have we achieved the outcomes at reasonable cost? Or was the (relative) cost of implementing the RPS's methods the lowest for the (relative) benefit gained?
- (5) Are we focused on the right issues? That is, are the RPS's policies still appropriate (5 years on) and, has anything changed in relation to the RPS's stated resource management issues?

3.0 Legislative Context

This section of the report outlines the key legislative changes that are either underway or have taken effect since the RPS was made operative in 2018. The key changes highlighted below focus on higher order statutory documents that have provisions that relate specifically to tangata whenua and their role in the resource management system.

3.1 Changing Context – RMA Amendments

In February 2021, the Government announced it would repeal the RMA and enact new legislation based on the recommendations of the Resource Management Review Panel. The three proposed acts are the:

- Natural and Built Environments Act (NBA), as the main replacement for the RMA, to protect and restore the environment while better enabling development;
- Spatial Planning Act (SPA), requiring the development of long-term regional spatial strategies to help coordinate and integrate decisions made under relevant legislation; and
- Climate Adaptation Act (CAA), to address complex issues associated with managed retreat.

An exposure draft for the NBA was released on 29 June 2021 to provide an early look at key aspects. Central to the exposure draft is the new direction to give effect to the principles of Te Titiri o Waitangi and provide greater recognition of te ao Māori, including mātauranga Māori.

More recently, central government released the Natural and Built Environment Bill to Parliament on 15 November 2022. The proposed purpose of the NBA is set out in section 3, with further related matters addressed in sections 4 - 6 as follows (with emphasis added for particularly relevant sections from a tangata whenua perspective):

3 Purpose of this Act

The purpose of this Act is to-

(a) enable the use, development, and protection of the environment in a way that-

(i) supports the well-being of present generations without compromising the well-being of future generations; and

- (ii) promotes outcomes for the benefit of the environment; and
- (iii) complies with environmental limits and their associated targets; and
- (iv) manages adverse effects; and
- (b) recognise and uphold *te Oranga o te Taiao*.



4 Te Tiriti o Waitangi

All persons exercising powers and performing functions and duties under this Act <u>must give</u> <u>effect to the principles of te Tiriti o Waitangi</u>.

5 System outcomes

To assist in achieving the purpose of this Act, the national planning framework and all plans must provide for the following system outcomes:

(a) the protection or, if degraded, restoration, of-

(i) the ecological integrity, *mana, and mauri* of—

(A) air, water, and soils; and

(B) the coastal environment, wetlands, estuaries, and lakes and rivers and their margins; and

(C) indigenous biodiversity:

(ii) outstanding natural features and outstanding natural landscapes:

(iii) the natural character of the coastal environment (including the coastal marine area), wetlands, and lakes and rivers and their margins:

(b) in relation to climate change and natural hazards, achieving-

(i) the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions:

(ii) the removal of greenhouse gases from the atmosphere:

(iii) the reduction of risks arising from, and better resilience of the environment to, natural hazards and the effects of climate change:

(c) well functioning urban and rural areas that are responsive to the diverse and changing needs of people and communities in a way that promotes—

(i) the use and development of land for a variety of activities, including for housing, business use, and primary production; and

(ii) the ample supply of land for development, to avoid inflated urban land prices; and

(ii) housing choice and affordability; and

(ii) an adaptable and resilient urban form with good accessibility for people and communities to social, economic, and cultural opportunities; and

(d) the availability of highly productive land for land-based primary production:

(e) the recognition of, and making provision for, the relationship of iwi and hapū and the exercise of their kawa, tikanga (including kaitiakitanga), and mātauranga in relation to their ancestral lands, water, sites, wāhi tapu, wāhi tūpuna, and other taonga:

(f) the protection of protected customary rights and recognition of any relevant statutory acknowledgement:

(g) the conservation of cultural heritage:

(h) enhanced public access to and along the coastal marine area, lakes, and rivers:



(i) the ongoing and timely provision of infrastructure services to support the well-being of people and communities.

6 Decision-making principles

(1) To assist in achieving the purpose of this Act, the Minister and every regional planning committee, in making decisions under the Act, must—

(a) provide for the integrated management of the environment; and

(b) actively promote the outcomes provided for under this Act; and

(c) recognise the positive effects of using and developing the environment to achieve the outcomes; and

(d) manage the effects of using and developing the environment in a way that achieves, and does not undermine, the outcomes; and

(e) manage the cumulative adverse effects of using and developing the environment.

(2) If, in relation to making a decision under this Act, the information available is uncertain or inadequate, all persons exercising functions, duties, and powers under this Act must favour—

(a) caution; and

(b) a level of environmental protection that is proportionate to the risks and effects involved.

(3) All persons exercising powers and performing functions and duties under this Act must recognise and provide for the responsibility and mana of each iwi and hapū to protect and sustain the health and well-being of te taiao in accordance with the kawa, tikanga (including kaitiakitanga), and mātauranga in their area of interest.

The changes detailed above signal that the resource management system of the natural environment will evolve to incorporate te ao Māori concepts encapsulated by Te Oranga o te Taiao, recognising the intergenerational importance of the health and wellbeing of the natural environment. In addition to this, the place of te Tiriti of Waitangi has been elevated and requires decision-makers 'to give effect to' the principles of Te Tiriti, replacing the current RMA requirement to 'take into account' those principles. Further additions to specifically reference and empower Māori terms such as "mauri", "mana" amongst other references highlighted above, mean that the role of tangata whenua perspectives in the resource management system will only grow and become more important.

3.2 National Policy Statements

3.2.1 National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management

The National Policy Statemen for Freshwater Management 2020 (**NPS-FM**) sets out the objectives and policies for freshwater management under the RMA and came into effect on 3 September 2020, replacing the NPS-FM 2014. Policy 1 of the NPS-FM requires that freshwater be managed in a way that 'gives effect to Te Mana o te Wai', while Policy 2 requires the identification of Māori freshwater values, and active involvement of tangata whenua in freshwater management (including decision-making).



As part of understanding the concept of Te Mana o te Wai, the NPS-FM includes a six-principle framework as follows:

- (a) **Mana whakahaere:** the power, authority, and obligations of tangata whenua to make decisions that maintain, protect, and sustain the health and well-being of, and their relationship with, freshwater.
- (b) **Kaitiakitanga:** the obligation of tangata whenua to preserve, restore, enhance, and sustainably use freshwater for the benefit of present and future generations.
- (c) **Manaakitanga:** the process by which tangata whenua show respect, generosity, and care for freshwater and for others.
- (d) **Governance:** the responsibility of those with authority for making decisions about freshwater to do so in a way that prioritises the health and well-being of freshwater now and into the future.
- (e) **Stewardship:** the obligation of all New Zealanders to manage freshwater in a way that ensures it sustains present and future generations.
- (f) **Care and respect:** the responsibility of all New Zealanders to care for freshwater in providing for the health of the nation.

The fundamental concept of Te Mana o te Wai and as detailed in the framework above; recognises the importance, mauri and interconnectedness of water with the wider environment and the community. Through this concept and in achieving Te Mana o te Wai, it is considered that the balance between water, the wider environment, and the community will be restored and preserved.

NRC is underway with the preparation of a Freshwater Plan Change to give effect to the NPS-FM provisions. As part of this process, the Tangata Whenua Water Advisory Group (**TWWAG**) has been formed, another sub-group of TTMAC to provide a tangata whenua perspective to inform and direct the plan change. TWWAG is made up of tangata whenua technical experts with a wide range of freshwater kaitiaki expertise and experience. TWWAG was established by NRC on the recommendation of TTMAC to provide advice to the council from a tangata whenua perspective.

TWWAG's focus is on the recognition of, and provision for, tangata whenua rights, interests and responsibilities in relation to the Freshwater Plan Change and is guided by Te Tiriti o Waitangi and tikanga Māori.

3.2.2 National Policy Statement for Highly Productive Land

On 12 September 2022, the Government released the National Policy Statement for Highly Productive Land 2022 (**NPS-HPL**). The NPS-HPL is designed to protect New Zealand's most highly productive soils for food and fibre production into the future. This has strong requirements on regional councils to map highly productive land in regional policy statements, to then be carried into district plans, and requires that the rezoning and subdivision of highly productive land for rural residential uses is avoided.

Tangata whenua involvement is also central to the NPS-HPL, with a requirement that every local authority must actively involve tangata whenua (to the extent they wish to be involved) in giving effect to the NPS-HPL. NRC will need to be mindful of these requirements when reviewing the RPS with specific regard to the mapping requirements and giving effect to the NPS-HPL.



3.2.3 Draft National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity

In June 2022 the Government released an exposure draft of the National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity (**NPSIB**), with public consultation closing on 21 July 2022. The NPSIB is designed to protect, maintain, and restore indigenous biodiversity, and it seeks to do so while recognising tangata whenua as kaitiaki, other communities as stewards and providing for the social, economic and cultural wellbeing of current and future communities. Policy 1 requires indigenous biodiversity to be managed in a way that gives effect to Te Rito o te Harakeke, and Policy 2 enables tangata whenua to manage indigenous biodiversity on their land provides for the identification and protection of taonga species.

The introduction of Te Rito o Te Harakeke concept recognises the intrinsic value, mauri, and whakapapa of indigenous biodiversity within te ao Māori, and sees the incorporation of mātauranga Māori into the policy statement. It also requires engagement with tangata whenua, recognising their role as kaitiaki and the holders of this knowledge.

While the NPSIB is in draft it provides council's early indications of national direction for how indigenous biodiversity will be managed in the future. This provides important context for timing for any plan changes relevant to the management of indigenous biodiversity and how these we need to be undertaken in the future.

3.3 Other Relevant Information

3.3.1 Tane Whakapiripiri

Tane Whakapiripiri is a report prepared in 2019 that provides analysis of the capacity of ngā hapū o Whangārei in regard to participation, resourcing, relationships, hapū mātauranga, legislation and representation in environmental protection and management. This report provides important insights and recommendations of how the RPS could be amended to better provide for tangata whenua participation in resource management processes. Importantly, Tane Whakapiriri highlights areas of improvement to build both hapū and council capacity when responding to te ao Māori values in the resource management processes. Tane Whakapiripiri highlights the engagement pressures that are placed on tangata whenua by RMA processes, and the insufficient resourcing by councils, government agencies and developers to support their required participation in the process.

4.0 MTAG Feedback

The section outlines and summarises the key feedback points made by MTAG during the three workshops summarised in Section 2.1, and has been categorised into the RPS topics that are considered to have the most relevance to tangata whenua. It also provides a brief summary of the key objectives, policies and methods for each topic contained in the RPS to provide context to MTAG's feedback.

4.1 Fresh and Coastal Waters

The importance of all water resources and their relationship to tangata whenua is well-known, documented and reflected in the in-depth feedback provided by MTAG below. With respect to the



management of freshwater, this relationship held by tangata whenua is reflected in the changes to national policy direction in the NPSFM described in Section 3.2.1 of this report.

Fresh and coastal waters are identified as a significant resource management issue in 2.1 of the RPS with 3.1 Integrated Catchment Management, 3.2 Region Wide Water Quality, 3.3 Ecological Flows and Water Levels and 3.10 Use and Allocation of Common Resources as the key objectives to respond to this issue.

The corresponding policies and methods include statutory and non-statutory responses to manage fresh and coastal waters taking an integrated catchment approach to improve region-wide water quality and quantity. The methods also include advocacy, education and funding assistance. In particular, they provide for the collaboration of iwi and hapū in catchment management, and for the gathering of social, cultural knowledge, including mātauranga Māori.

- (1) In MTAG's view, NRC's approach to catchment management planning has been ad hoc, with some groups progressing further than others. For example, MTAG identified the Kaipara Moana Remediation Programme (**KMR Programme**) as a highly successful project. However, in their view, there were multiple factors contributing to the success of the KMR Programme, particularly, the impetus of Treaty settlement legislation and the role of government investment to support the programme. While MTAG acknowledged NRC's involvement in the project, the success of the programme was not directly attributed to the council or the directives of the RPS.
- (2) MTAG raised several concerns with the catchment management plan approach, particularly in relation to earthworks and stormwater management. While it was understood that there were often territorial and regional functions at play with these types of activities, in MTAG's experience, it was considered that these land use activities were still being ineffectively managed resulting in poor outcomes for water quality for fresh and coastal waters. An example discussed in the workshops was of a recent resource consent approval to undertake 250 residential unit development with enabling earthworks at Vinegar Hill, Whangārei. It was considered in this instance from a tangata whenua perspective that the RPS policies failed to protect existing waterways and wetlands.
- (3) In terms of funding and assistance, MTAG consider that resourcing of the catchment groups and plans to be insufficient to make a measurable difference to the quality of fresh and coastal waters, as the size of catchment plan areas were reduced to reflect resourcing and capacity constraints.
- (4) It was also noted by some MTAG members that the integrated catchment management conversation was not a 'Te Taitokerau' conversation about the protection of waterways, because some groups were inactive for various reasons, but considered this was likely due to a lack of capacity and resourcing of the groups by NRC.
- (5) MTAG members recognised the role of TTMAC and input sub-groups such as TWWAG were having on NRC operations, however considered that the RPS, State of the Environment monitoring (SOE Monitoring) and resource consent processes still failed to appropriately incorporate te ao Māori values (including mātauranga Māori) or recognise tangata whenua as kaitiaki. It was noted that NRC was attempting to respond to these matters in other strategic documents such as Tāiki ē. However, it was considered that NRC need to make a



more concerted effort to establish cultural health indicators that can be incorporated into regulatory processes.

- (6) While it was recognised that NRC is underway with the Freshwater Plan Changes and general support of NRC's approach to work with TWWAG, MTAG considered this to be too 'late in the piece' and progressing too slowly.
- (7) With respect to water quality and quantity management, MTAG considered the provisions and their anticipated outcomes to be highly technical and lacking in te ao Māori values. It was considered that the monitoring methods and limits set in NRC's planning documents were too blunt and did not align with te ao Māori worldviews. This was raised by MTAG with respect to water take allocation from the Wairua River, where the monitoring schedule was criticised as it was deemed to occur within high flow and heavy rain periods.
- (8) MTAG largely considered that the objectives, policies, methods and anticipated outcomes for catchment management and water quality and quantity management to be overly technical. In their view, these provisions were a good example of the inaccessibility of planning and resource management which ultimately limits the ability of tangata whenua to participate. This sentiment extended to state of the environment reporting, compliance monitoring, as well as impacting MTAG's ability to meaningfully participate in this RPS effectiveness and efficiency review process.
- (9) Overall, there was broad consensus that the management of fresh and coastal waters needed to be considered within a wider landscape. Many place-based projects experiencing success had a range of contributing factors to accomplish their positive outcomes. These factors often included targeted legislation that required resource commitments by council's and central government, and were commonly supported by investment outside of traditional funding mechanisms e.g., Provincial Growth Fund vs Long Term Plan budget.

4.2 Indigenous Ecosystems and Species

Indigenous ecosystems and species are identified as a significant resource management issue in 2.2 of the RPS with 3.4 Indigenous Ecosystems and Species as the key objective to respond to this issue.

The corresponding policies and methods include statutory and non-statutory responses for the management of indigenous ecosystems and species by safeguarding the ecological integrity of these resources through avoiding significant adverse effects. The policies and methods seek to do this through the identification of significant indigenous vegetation and habitats, directing district councils to undertake plan changes and undertaking monitoring and gathering information. There is specific reference to partnering with iwi and other agencies to ensure nationally consistent implementation and reporting.

- (10) In MTAG's view, the policy framework to manage Indigenous ecosystems and species in the RPS has a very narrow focus. The RPS and its provisions is primarily based on western science with no provision for te ao Māori values or mātauranga Māori and only narrowly provides for the role of kaitiakitanga in monitoring processes.
- (11) It was considered that mātauranga Māori, while absent from the policy framework, did not necessarily need to be incorporated, but that NRC through the RPS needed to provide an



improved platform to enable tangata whenua to exercise kaitiakitanga. Enabling Māori to do this themselves, with support from NRC to build capacity, capability and resources.

- (12) MTAG considered that the role of tangata whenua and implementation of mātauranga Māori in monitoring across the region was yet to be realised and NRC has to played a key role in facilitating this.
- (13) Another key point raised by MTAG was the diverging knowledge systems between traditional western science and mātauranga Māori, reiterating that there was a fundamental difference between the two knowledge systems. This was particularly relevant when discussing how ecological assessments were undertaken, the baseline of what is an 'adverse effect' and the time horizon for assessing adverse effects. From a te ao Māori perspective, 'adverse effects' were considered in much broader time horizons (e.g., looking back to the state of the environment 10, 20, 30 or 100 years' ago). This perspective is ultimately not accommodated in the RMA, and in turn the RPS, due the baseline of effects being assessed from the existing environment. For these reasons, MTAG did not necessarily promote detailed inclusion of mātauranga Māori in the RPS provisions, rather that tangata whenua define how and when this is incorporated and undertaken as part of state of the environment, compliance monitoring and resource consenting.

4.3 Economic Potential and Social Wellbeing

Economic potential and social wellbeing are identified as a significant resource management issue in 2.3 of the RPS with 3.5 Economic Activities and 3.7 Regionally Significant Infrastructure as key objectives to respond to this issue.

The corresponding policies and methods include statutory and non-statutory responses to enable economic wellbeing and promote the benefits of regionally significant infrastructure. The policies seek planned and coordinated development, use and subdivision while enabling and protecting regionally significant infrastructure through statutory and non-statutory methods. Policy 5.3.3 is the only policy that makes specific reference, and iwi and hapū, and is in relation to managing the adverse effects of regionally significant infrastructure.

- (14) MTAG considered these provisions to be hugely lacking with respect to Māori economic development and the promotion of the Māori economy. In MTAG's view, the policies and methods do not recognise the contribution of the Māori economy within Te Taitokerau, the importance of the Māori workforce or give impetus to hapū and iwi's shared assets or resources. Additionally, MTAG consider an opportunity has been missed in terms of providing for the development on Māori land and promoting papakāinga development to support the economic wellbeing of tangata whenua in Te Taitokerau. While it is provided for in the Tangata Whenua section, in MTAG's view these are not well-integrated in the RPS or visible in these provisions.
- (15) These provisions give the impression that tangata whenua 'fall into the bucket with everybody else', failing to recognise tangata whenua as Tiriti partners and the role of Te Tiriti o Waitangi in resource management.



- (16) There was broad criticism of NRC's economic development actions, particularly their partnership with NIWA to establish a King Fish farm and the council's interests in Maritime Holdings.
- (17) While MTAG recognised that economic and social wellbeing policies and methods are provided elsewhere in the RPS, it considers the lack of visibility in these provisions to be a shortcoming whereby it allows other economic interests and benefits to outweigh the importance of other social, environmental and cultural values. This was discussed in reference to large scale infrastructure projects such as roading, rail, ports, wastewater treatment plants that are identified as regionally significant infrastructure. These policies highly favoured the economic benefits of these activities over the cultural and environmental costs that they generated.

4.4 Tangata Whenua Participation, Natural Resources and Physical Resources

Issues relevant to tangata whenua are identified in 2.6 and 2.7 of the RPS. These have been broken into the categories of 'Participation' and 'Natural and Physical Resources' with 3.12 Tangata Whenua Role in Decision-Making as the key objective to respond to this issue. It also needs to be recognised that there are provisions throughout the RPS, that relate to te ao Māori values, the provision of mātauranga Māori, and state when engagement is required.

The corresponding policies and methods include statutory and non-statutory responses that provide opportunities for tangata whenua to participate in resource consent processes, plan development, implementation, review and monitoring processes with the provision of funding assistance and education. The policies direct regional and district councils to recognise and provide for the relationship of tangata whenua and their culture/traditions with their ancestral land, water, sites, wāhi tapu and other taonga; have regard to kaitiakitanga and take into account the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi in accordance with sections 6(e), 7(a), and 8 of the RMA. The provisions direct regional and district councils to provide opportunities to incorporate mātauranga Māori into decision-making, management, implementation and monitoring of natural and physical resources. Method 8.1.6 commits NRC to initiating a development protocol with iwi authorities to determine when NRC will do the following:

- Require Cultural Impact Assessments (CIA);
- Appoint and use independent Māori hearing commissioners;
- Hold hearings on a marae and provide translation services;
- Notify tangata whenua of resource consent applications and confer affected part status;
- Determine common meaning and methodologies for key Māori concepts, values and practices; and
- Update processes to reflect the above.

The RPS policy framework makes specific provision for the recognition, support and funding of iwi and hapū environmental management plans, while directing regional and district councils to provide for the role of kaitiakitanga and enable the development and use of Māori and Treaty Settlement Land for papakāinga and marae development.



- (18) MTAG were supportive of NRC's efforts to establish TTMAC, MTAG and TWWAG to participate in governance and operations. However, it was felt that further resourcing was required across all avenues of this mahi (work) and MTAG posed the question 'is there an avenue for MTAG to seek a resolution to obtain more resources to address this mahi?'.
- (19) With respect to RMA Reform, MTAG considered there needed to be wider structural change to the way in which the legislation works and to enable Māori to participate at all levels to inform legislative change.
- (20) In MTAG's view, they have observed an improvement in higher level governance-decisions, however, it was considered that decision-making in (non-notified) resource consent processing remained inconsistent and was described as 'hit and miss'.
- (21) With respect to Iwi / Hapū Environmental Management Plans (IHEMPs) and Mana Whakahono-ā-Rohe (MWāR), MTAG's view was that there were only a 'handful' of these tools developed and that there was insufficient resourcing to support their development and implementation. It was noted that *Tāiki ē* contained specific actions to increase funding to support the development of these tools, and this was supported. IHEMPs and MWāR are considered to be very important tools to demonstrate who the relevant mana whenua groups are, highlight core values and detail any engagement expectations in RMA processes.
- (22) MTAG sought data on the number of CIA's that were provided in support of resource consent applications since the RPS became operative. This was considered useful understand whether the RPS provisions were being effective implemented. However, at the time this report was prepared, NRC did not record this data. MTAG recommended that this data be recorded and in the first instance and a stocktake of CIA's be undertaken to understand in what instances they were prepared, the quality and whether or not they influenced decision-making, resource consent conditions and monitoring processes as part of resource consents.
- (23) Resource consenting processes, the role of CIA's and engagement with whanau, hapū and iwi remains a challenge for tangata whenua, council's and developers. Key challenges that have continued under the RPS are detailed below:
 - (a) Engagement by developers is ad hoc and inconsistent, and is not always undertaken with the right mana whenua groups. This can sometimes result in conflict between the applicant and subsequent mana whenua, particularly where cultural effects have been assessed as 'less than minor' without having any input by mana whenua to reach this conclusion.
 - (b) There was a general concern around the production of CIA's and Cultural Values Assessments (**CVA**), in particular, whether these are being prepared by 'the right person'. This comment was made in light of CIA's being prepared by writers outside of the rohe (and therefore not mana whenua of the area) and / or where they CIA has not taken account of a relevant IHEMP. Clarity around this process is required to guide council staff implementation, as well as to direct applicants on where and how to undertake early engagement. As a general comment, MTAG recommend that a roadmap of how/who consultation is undertaken to assist with pre-lodgement engagement for resource consent, and feel this will be particularly helpful for the preparation of CVA and CIA's.



- (c) MTAG were concerned with NRC's ability to accurately identify 'who' mana whenua were and considered this to be an issue and a challenge for implementing the RPS objectives, policies and methods. An aspect of this is understanding the difference between iwi and hapū, and acknowledging the role of hapū as the kaitiaki and mana whenua of particular areas. This is considered to be particularly relevant in Te Taitokerau's context.
- (d) The resource consent process still requires mana whenua to review and provide comments on development proposals without being resourced to participate. While these preliminary comments did not always result in CVA's or CIA's where payment of these services was recovered, this process still placed pressures on tangata whenua's limited time and resources.
- (24) In terms of papakāinga development, MTAG considered that there needed to be quantitative data gathered from around Te Taitokerau to understand how effective the RPS provisions had been. In particular, whether district plans within the region have adequately given effect to the RPS directions and undertaken plan changes as well as understanding how many papakāinga developments have been undertaken since the RPS became operative.
- (25) MTAG raised several examples of resource consent applications that they had been involved with or where decisions had been issued by NRC that did not align with a te ao Māori worldview. A recurring issue that was identified and attributed to this is the fundamental difference in the way in which the tangata whenua view the world and therefore assess adverse effects, and the way in which the RMA assesses adverse effects in terms of the 'existing environment'.
- (26) MTAG supported the intentions of policy 6.1.3 which provides for the transfer and delegation of functions, however, considered there were no known instances of when this has actually occurred. It was considered that NRC needed to investigate opportunities for this to occur.

4.5 Coastal Environment, Natural Character, Features and Landscapes

Natural character, feature, landscapes, and historic heritage are identified as a significant resource management issue in 2.8 of the RPS with 3.14 Natural Character, Outstanding Natural Features, Outstanding Natural Landscapes and Historic Heritage as the key objectives to respond to this issue.

The corresponding policies and methods include statutory and non-statutory responses to manage natural character, outstanding natural features and landscapes (ONF and ONL), and historic heritage by identifying and then setting very clear policies for how regional and distract councils shall manage effects with respect to these resources. Statutory methods include directing district councils to undertake plan changes to incorporate mapping of the coastal environment, natural character, outstanding natural features/landscapes as well as promoting enhancement and improvement incentives. Non-statutory methods include advocacy, education and funding assistance.

Summary of MTAG's key feedback points:

(27) It was overall considered that these provisions were fundamentally flawed as they did not provide for tangata whenua and Māori cultural values in the identification criteria, with the exception of historic heritage resources. It was also noted that the recognition of Māori Land



resources was not provided for and failed to recognise the relationship of tangata whenua to these resources. Again, this was considered an example of where and how the RPS provisions were too narrow and did not enable an integrated approach to resource management.

- (28) MTAG had fundamental issues with the mapping of these resources, particularly with respect to the location of Māori Land. In MTAG's view, the RPS provisions were fraught when it came to mapping of these resources because they lacked purposeful protection of these resources, while placing restrictions over Māori Land.
- (29) In MTAG's view, the same efforts for protecting these resources needs to be applied to the identification and protection of Sites of Significance to Māori and Cultural Landscapes. While some mapping has been undertaken under the Proposed Regional Plan, these attempts were not adequately resourced to achieve comprehensive mapping.
- (30) MTAG considered that there needed to be a greater emphasis for enabling access to the coast to improve access to kai moana and the coast more generally. In MTAG's view, policies needed to highlight the importance of this relationship to provide a pathway for whanau to obtain access to the CMA.

4.6 Natural Hazards

Natural hazards are identified as a significant resource management issue in 2.7 of the RPS with 3.13 Natural Hazard Risk as the key objective to respond to this issue.

The corresponding policies and methods include statutory and non-statutory responses to manage natural hazards, particularly flood and coastal hazards by taking a risk management approach that seeks and uses the best available information, directs district councils to undertake plan changes to incorporate finalised flood mapping, and setting clear directives for how and when new subdivision and development can be undertaken. Non-statutory methods include advocacy, education and funding assistance.

- (31) In MTAG's view, they were continuing to see the inappropriate subdivision and development occurring in the coastal environment in areas susceptible to natural hazards. This would indicate that district plans have not undertaken plan changes in accordance with the methods of the RPS, and therefore is not being implemented effectively and efficiently by district councils.
- (32) With respect to papakāinga and marae developments, MTAG considered there to be a gap in the provisions, as they did not acknowledge and provide for development on Māori Land. When compared with other topics (RMA section 6 matters), there was often recognition of Māori interests and relationship to lands that provided a resource consenting pathway for the development of Māori Land. In MTAG's view, this was a gap in the RPS policy framework.
- (33) MTAG considered natural hazards were often identified and assessed through a narrow lens and were often isolated from other resource management issues. In their view, these RPS provisions and the general approach to managing natural hazards under the RMA was done in isolation and is not well-integrated with other resource management approaches. In MTAG's view, a holistic approach is needed to integrate the natural hazard management, climate change and development. In MTAG's words, these provisions were not 'meshing'.



- (34) There was broad agreement within MTAG that climate change considerations were absent from RPS policy framework and this needed to be improved moving forward. It was considered that this needed to be achieved through creating stronger connections between climate change and natural hazard events, and ensuring this was applied and interpreted consistently.
- (35) With respect to the flood scheme and management approach by councils, MTAG's view was that investment in these schemes are heavily influenced by governance decisions that were focussed on the protection of assets and infrastructure rather than responding to community need.
- (36) MTAG's perception of both district and regional council approaches to managing natural hazards was that 'you can always engineer your way out of it', particularly with respect to land instability.

5.0 Assessment

The RPS contains 15 objectives, 55 policies and 45 statutory and non-statutory methods. This section of the report examines, from a tangata whenua perspective, the effectiveness and efficiency of the RPS, answering the five key questions outlined in section 2.2 of this report. The assessment structure sets out to answer NRC's five questions by evaluating the eight RPS topics and associated methods as they relate to tangata whenua, and by taking into account MTAG's feedback above.

As part of this review, this assessment will consider effectiveness and efficiency in broad terms as achieving or working towards its objectives and anticipated outcomes from a tangata whenua perspective, as follows:

- 1 = Not being achieved from a tangata whenua perspective.
- 2 = Partially being achieved, with some measurable actions/outcomes with mixed positive and negative results from a tangata whenua perspective.
- 3 = Generally being achieved, with measurable actions/outcomes and is assessed by tangata whenua as having positive trends.
- 4 = Achieved, with measurable actions/outcomes from a tangata whenua perspective.

5.1 Five Key Questions

5.1.1 Has NRC done what it said it'd do? That is, has NRC implemented all the policies and methods in the RPS?

As outlined above in section 5.0, the RPS includes 55 policies and 45 statutory and non-statutory methods, many of which have relevance to tangata whenua. Taking in account the feedback from MTAG, the introduction of the Proposed Regional Plan (**PRP**) and other non-statutory processes undertaken by NRC, it is considered that NRC has <u>partially done what it said it would do</u> for the following reasons:

• With respect to fresh and coastal waters, NRC have introduced the PRP, which includes policies that relate to mahinga kai and mahinga mataiai; established TWWAG and continue to work



with TTMAC and MTAG; established Integrated Catchment Management Groups which include kaitiaki representatives; are underway with Freshwater Plan Changes, with advice and input from TWWAG; and have committed to fund and establish a culturally appropriate monitoring programme that enables and supports tangata whenua to participate in freshwater management (allocated \$250,000 in 2021-2031 LTP and provided for in *Tāiki e*). While these steps are recognised and the efforts are acknowledged by MTAG, it is considered that more needs to be done to see measurable improvement in environmental outcomes, resource consent participation and processes, integrate catchment management and changes to monitoring processes to see improvement from a tangata whenua perspective. In particular, increased funding is sought for catchment management and improvement in monitoring processes to enable a role for kaitiaki to be involved in monitoring.

- In terms of indigenous ecosystems and species, NRC did not have quantitative data showing how much monitoring was undertaken by tangata whenua, therefore MTAG had insufficient information to understand whether this was being achieved or not. On this basis, it is considered that, these policies and methods are <u>not being achieved</u> particularly in relation to monitoring.
- For economic and potential and social welling, from a tangata perspective, these provisions are considered to lack any recognition or promotion of Māori economic development or the Māori economy. There were no explicit methods or outcomes that were directly relevant to tangata whenua and how their social and economic wellbeing was provided for in the RPS. For these reasons, from a tangata whenua perspective the economic potential and social wellbeing provisions are not being achieved.
- With respect to providing opportunities for tangata whenua to participate in plan reviews, development and implementation, monitoring and resource management it is considered that NRC has <u>partially done</u> what it said it would do for the following reasons:
 - Establishing and continuing to work with MTAG and TWWAG to provide input and advice on plan changes, including the Proposed Regional Plan, RPS and Freshwater Plan Changes. These advisory groups are an important source of mātauranga Māori and te ao Māori worldview.
 - With respect to plan changes following the RPS becoming operative, NRC has released the PRP. The PRP has incorporated policies D.1.1 D.1.5 which directs when and how resource consents must assess effects of and activity on tangata whenua and their taonga; outlines circumstances when tangata whenua will be considered affected parties; and how effects on places of significance to tangata whenua will be managed. These policies are now treated as operative as they are beyond appeal.
 - Continuing to seek advice, guidance and input from TTMAC on NRC operations, including regulatory processes. While these efforts and forums are supported, TTMAC only makes recommendations to Council who ultimately make decisions.
 - While NRC continue to fund the development of IHEMPs, the funding allocation is considered to be insufficient to support both development and implementation. It is recognised that funding has increased from \$20,000 to \$30,000 in the 2021 2031 LTP, and $T\bar{a}iki e$ indicates that increased funding will be considered in the 2024-2034 LTP. However, there is no certainty that funding will be achieved, nor that sufficient funding will be provided to cover the actual cost of pulling together IHEMPs.



- It is noted that NRC have developed a MWāR template has been developed in collaboration with MTAG. However, uptake of this relationship tool is not known at the time of preparing this report.
- It is unclear whether the role of tangata whenua as kaitiaki has improved with respect to monitoring as there is no data available to demonstrate how this is being achieved.
- With respect to method 8.3.4, which outlines that NRC will initiate a joint review of regional and district plans to identify and implement agreed opportunities to improve the ability for tangata whenua to develop marae and papakāinga; it is unclear whether this has been achieved or not.

While NRC have incorporated provisions in the PRP, continued to fund IHEMPs, developed opportunities for hapū to establish MWāR agreements, and continued to improve opportunities for tangata whenua to participate in plan development, implementation and review through TTMAC, MTAG and now TWWAG; this has not necessarily resulted in an improvement in resource management outcomes from a tangata whenua perspective. Particularly when it comes to implementation of the RPS and PRP with respect to requiring CVA and CIA's and seeing an increase in tangata engagement as part of resource consent applications.

Overall, with respect to whether NRC has 'done what it said it would do', this is assessed as a <u>2</u>, meaning NRC has <u>partially done what is said it would do</u> in terms of implementing all the policies and methods in the RPS. This is on the basis that some actions and outcomes have been undertaken by NRC, but there are mixed results in terms of positive and negative outcomes from a tangata whenua perspective.

5.1.2 Has NRC achieved what it said it'd achieve? That is, have the policies and methods implemented resulted in the RPS's objectives being met?

It is considered that the objectives of the RPS are partially being achieved. However, from a tangata whenua perspective, this is ad hoc and is not easily measured. With respect to many of the objectives, policies and methods for the RPS topics, these do not easily integrate and provide for tangata whenua participation in RMA processes. While NRC has improved opportunities for tangata whenua participation in plan development (e.g., freshwater plan changes and RPS Review), it is considered that there has not been a measurable improvement in resource consenting and monitoring processes. This is demonstrated by the detailed feedback provided by MTAG, particularly as it relates to fresh and coastal waters, indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity, and economic potential and social wellbeing.

It was however, acknowledged by MTAG, that the RPS has only been operative since 2016 it was still being 'given effect to' through plan making processes. On this basis, it is considered that the objectives are **partially being achieved**, as the RPS policies and methods were still being implemented.

Overall, this is assessed as a <u>2</u>.

5.1.3 How do we know if our actions led to the outcomes observed? Or, can NRC demonstrate that any achievement of the RPS's objectives is attributable to the methods in the RPS?

As part of this effectiveness and efficiency review, a comprehensive assessment of the objectives, policies, methods and anticipated outcomes was undertaken. To help understand how these



provisions integrated across the RPS, a summary of the relevant provisions was prepared in a provision cascade and is included as **Appendix 1**. The provision cascade was used to facilitate feedback from MTAG.

When reviewing the RPS anticipated outcomes outlined in Part 9 of the RPS against the objectives with MTAG, it was found that these outcomes or results were largely reliant on assessments or input by technical specialists. For example, the anticipated outcomes for water quality and quantity, related to Trophic Level Index (TLI) which requires specialist skill and knowledge that are not commonly held or understood. In MTAGs view, the water quality and quantity provisions were an example of the RPS framework being overly technical and therefore not easily accessible or understandable from a tangata whenua perspective. Further, the SOE monitoring and reporting was not provided as part of this review and in MTAG's view was not easily interpreted or understand. Again, this was an indication of the lack of recognition and provision of the Māori worldview in the RPS and acted as a barrier for participation by tangata whenua in NRC's processes.

The anticipated outcomes for the tangata whenua provisions are as follows:

- *"4.1 Tangata whenua values and their kaitiaki role are considered in all resource management decisions.*
- 4.2 Improved working relationships with iwi and hapū to achieve mutually acceptable environmental outcomes."

MTAG sought information on the number of CIA's and CVA's that have been prepared in support of resource consent applications as well as monitoring data (resource consent or state of the environment) since the RPS has been made operative. MTAG considered this necessary to understand firstly the number of consents that triggered CIA/CVA's, and secondly which activities typically triggered these assessments, therefore indicating where monitoring by tangata whenua may be relevant and or needed. However, this data was not recorded or collected by NRC, making it difficult to demonstrate whether the objectives were being achieved and whether or not the policies and methods were effective and efficient in achieving them.

In MTAG's view both the RPS objectives and provisions generally needed to be reframed to focus on implementation, because the intentions of the RPS appeared to provide tangata whenua participation this could not be easily measured to demonstrate success or achievement.

Overall, it is considered that NRC <u>cannot demonstrate that they are achieving the objectives of the</u> <u>RPS from a tangata whenua perspective</u> and this is assessed at a <u>1</u>.

5.1.4 Have NRC achieved the outcomes at reasonable cost? Or was the (relative) cost of implementing the RPS's methods the lowest for the (relative) benefit gained?

In general, MTAG considered that the RPS and the RMA framework favoured economic cost benefit analysis over that for social, cultural and environmental. For example, concepts of *Te Mana o te Wai* and *Te Mana o te Taio* were ways in which cultural, environmental, social and economic outcomes could be assessed from a te ao Māori perspective but did not naturally align with the RPS or the RMA. An example of this provided by MTAG, is the correlation between the degradation of mahinga kai and the negative impact that this has on the ability of whanau to gather food and nourish their households, practice traditional food gathering, and is an indicator of the state and health of the environment.



This sentiment is also relevant when considering the RPS policies, particularly in relation to the regionally significant infrastructure provisions. The RPS prioritises regionally significant infrastructure activities because of their economic benefits, at the cost of the environment and cultural values. This approach favoured large scale organisations, councils and infrastructure providers who, when compared with small communities or tangata whenua groups, are significantly more resourced to progress resource consent applications and plan changes through expensive hearing and court proceedings. From a tangata whenua perspective, this method for evaluating costs and benefits relates back to the innate inequity of the planning process where mana whenua often provides their services at no or low costs, while relying on technical specialists to provide their services in RMA and legal proceedings in a pro bono capacity.

From a tangata whenua perspective, the RPS <u>has not effectively and efficiently implemented the</u> <u>RPS methods as environmental, social and cultural costs continued to be compromised for the</u> <u>benefit of economic benefits</u>. In summary, this is assessed as a **1**.

5.1.5 Are we focused on the right issues? That is, are the RPS's policies still appropriate (5 years on) and, has anything changed in relation to the RPS's stated resource management issues?

MTAG still considered that the identified significant resource management issues in the RPS to be relevant and important from a tangata whenua perspective. However, there was broad consensus that the RPS did not recognise or place enough emphasis on climate change issues and management. MTAG considers the climate change crisis to be a significant resource management issue for tangata whenua, particularly, because of the disproportionate impacts of climate related natural hazards events and their impact tangata whenua communities. It was considered that climate change needed to be integrated across all aspects of the RPS and applied holistically throughout.

6.0 Conclusion & Recommendations

Overall, this effectiveness and efficiency review found that the identified significant resource management issues of the RPS remain relevant and important to tangata whenua. Key findings of this interim effectiveness and efficiency review of the RPS are as follows:

- The significant resource management issues of the RPS remain relevant and important to tangata whenua. However, it is considered that Climate Change is now an issue of significance and needs to be integrated throughout the RPS.
- NRC are still working towards implementing policies and methods to achieve the objectives and anticipated outcomes of the RPS.
- The RPS provisions are very directive with a clear policy cascade from issue, objective, policy, method with anticipated outcomes as a result of implementation. While this approach enables vertical integration within specific topics, this has made integration across the RPS provisions (horizontal integration) less successful.
- The policy cascade and lack of horizontal integration is considered a key issue for the tangata whenua. While there are linkages and specific references to Māori cultural values, mātauranga Māori, engagement requirements etc. throughout the RPS, there are



considered to be crucial gaps for the provision of tangata whenua and their relationship in the management of fresh and coastal water, indigenous biodiversity and ecosystems, economic potential and social wellbeing, and natural hazards. This is primarily as a result of consolidating many of the objective and policies directions in the Tangata Whenua Chapter.

Taking into account the feedback from MTAG and the findings of the assessment, it is recommended that NRC (as part of the review of the RPS):

- (1) Undertake a plan change to improve integration of the tangata whenua provisions across the rest of the RPS, particularly in the following areas:
 - (a) Fresh and coastal water management;
 - (b) Indigenous ecosystems and biodiversity;
 - (c) Economic potential and social wellbeing being; and
 - (d) Natural hazard management.
- (2) Undertake a comprehensive stocktake of, and continue to record, CIA's and CVA's provided in support of resource consent applications;
- (3) Develop a roadmap of how/who consultation is undertaken with to assist with pre-lodgement engagement for resource consents;
- (4) Develop a plan change to incorporate climate change into the RPS. This should be undertaken with input by tangata whenua to incorporate a te ao Māori perspective; and
- (5) Continue to consult with tangata whenua throughout the remainder of the efficiency and effectiveness review.

Appendix 1

Regional Policy Statement 2016 Provision Cascade



Торіс	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
Integrated catchment management	3.1 Integrate the management – catchment-specific objectives for freshwater and associated coastal waters	 4.1.1 Catchment specific objectives and limits – Collaboratively: (a) Identify values (b) Establish catchment specific objectives (c) Establish methods to avoid. 	 4.1.2 Statutory plans and strategies – (1) The regional council will: (a) Prioritise catchment specific objectives, set limits and implement NPS FM; (b) Catchment specific objectives (c) Review and where necessary revise coastal water quality classifications (2) Collaborate with catchment communities, iwi and hapū, key stakeholders and other councils (3) In collaborating, assess and determine the most effective and efficient mix of regulatory/non-regulatory methods to achieve the objectives. (4) Include methods in regional plans; 	Catchment-specific objectives and limits are met and where there is over-allocation progress is made towards achieving targets for improving water quality or quantity.

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
			(5) Develop non-statutory	
			implementation	
			plans/strategies;	
			(6) Review and revise	
			4.1.3 The regional council will	
			obtain information:	
			(a) Relationship between	
			fresh and coastal waters;	
			(b) Relationship between	
			surface and ground wate	r;
			(c) Relationship between	
			flows, levels and quality;	
			(d) Seasonal hydrological	
			patterns;	
			(e) Aquatic ecological values	· , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
			(f) Extraction and discharge	
			levels;	
			(g) Land use and	
			development trends;	
			(h) Climate change and	
			impacts on water quality	
			(I) Social, cultural	
			knowledge, including	
			matauranga Maori;	
			(J) Nutrient sources;	
			(K) Sediment rates;	
			(I) Economic considerations	

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
			 4.1.4 Advocacy and education (a) Educate about catchment specific objectives, limits, flows and levels; (b) Report to the community on progress 	
Water quality and quantity management	 3.2 Region-wide water quality – Improve the overall quality: (a) Reducing Trophic Level Index status; (b) Increasing the overall Macroinvertebrate Community Index status; (c) Reducing sedimentation rates in estuaries and harbours; (d) Improving water quality at popular contact recreation sites, recreational and cultural shellfish gathering sites, and commercial shellfish growing areas to minimise risk to human health; and (e) Protecting the quality of registered drinking water 	 4.2.1 Improving overall water quality – Improve quality by: (a) Establishing objectives and setting limits; (b) Reducing loads; (c) Promoting and supporting active management, enhancement if riparian margins. 4.3.1 Interim region-wide ecological flows and water levels – Establish interim region-wide ecological flows and water levels – Establish interim region-wide ecological flows and water levels for water bodies outside of catchments. 	 4.2.2 Statutory plans and strategies (1) Amend regional plans to implement Policy 4.1.1 and 4.2.1; (2) District councils shall include methods in their district plans that include: (a) Where appropriate, esplanade requirements; (b) Promote vegetation buffer zones; (c) Consider adopting low impact urban design; 4.2.3 Advocacy and education (1) Promote and support voluntary efforts: 	 4.2 Region-wide water quality management (1) The overall trophic level index (TLI) status of Northland's monitored lakes is maintained or improved. (2) The macroinvertebrate community index (MCI) at regionally representative sites show improving or maintained trends. (3) Mean annual sedimentation rates (or turbidity levels) at representative sites in the Bay of Islands, Whāngārei Harbour, and the Kaipara Harbour show improving or maintained trends.

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
	supplies and other drinking water sources.	4.3.2 Avoiding over-allocation –	 (a) Implementation of good management practice; (b) Community and 	(4) Compliance rates for contact recreation at popular swimming sites are
	 Sources. 3.3 Ecological flows and water levels – Maintain flows, flow variability and water levels necessary to safeguard the life supporting capacity, ecosystem processes, indigenous species and the associated ecosystems of freshwater. 	 4.3.2 Avoiding over-allocation – Establish regulatory methods to avoid or phase-out over-allocation. 4.3.3 Efficient allocation and use of water – Allocate and use water efficiently within allocation limits. 4.3.4 Water harvesting, storage and conservation – Recognise and promote harvesting, storage and conservation measures. 	 (b) Community and catchment restoration initiatives. (2) Assist NDHB and district councils to educate rural water users. (2) Funding and assistance – (2) The regional council will work with landowners, land managers and industry groups to implement good management practice. (2) Assist NDHB and district councils to educate rural water users. (1) Plan change to: (a) Include flows and levels of priority catchments; (b) Maintain flows and levels by requiring minimum flows / allocation limits and 	 swimming sites are maintained or improved with respect to the relevant guidelines. (5) Levels of indicator bacteria in open coastal waters at 15 popular shellfish collection sites is maintained or improved. 4.3 Region wide water quantity management (6) Region-wide ecological flows and water levels are not exceeded.
			requiring review clause conditions (s128(1)(a). (2) S128 review clauses.	

Topic	Obiective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
			 (3) Investigate unauthorised takes; (4) Monitoring requirements for consented takes; (5) Protect significant values of wetlands in buffering stormwater flows and recharging aquifers. 4.3.6 Advocacy and education Similar to the methods in 4.1.4 and 4.2.4. 	
Indigenous ecosystems and species	 3.4 Indigenous ecosystems and species – Safeguard Northland's ecological integrity by: (a) Protecting areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats; (b) Maintaining the extent and diversity of ecosystems and habitats; and (c) Where practicable, enhancing indigenous ecosystems and habitats. 	 4.4.1 Maintaining and protecting significant ecological areas and habitats – (1) Avoid adverse effects in the coastal environment, and outside the coastal environment avoid, remedy or mitigate adverse effects on threatened or at-risk NZ classifications system and areas of significant indigenous vegetation and habitats. 	 4.4.3 Statutory plans and strategies (1) Amend regional plans to give effect to policy 4.4.1 for water bodies (including wetlands). (2) Within two years, district councils shall amend district plans to the extent needed to give effect to policy 4.4.1 on land. Methods of implementation shall include controls for: 	 4.4 Maintaining and enhancing indigenous ecosystems and species: (1) A progressive increase in the area of indigenous ecosystems and habitats on private land, in water bodies, and in the coastal marine area under protection. (2) No increase in the number of regionally threatened species in Northland as a

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
Topic	Objective	 Policy (2) In the coastal environment, avoid significant adverse effects and avoid, remedy, or mitigate other adverse effects. (3) Outside the coastal environment where (1) does not apply, avoid, remedy or mitigate adverse effects on predominantly indigenous vegetation. (4) Assessment criteria. (5) Offsetting. 4.4.2 Supporting restoration and enhancement – Support voluntary efforts. 	 Method (a) land disturbance and vegetation clearance; (b) introducing or keeping of pest species. (3) Implementing policy 4.4.1, regional and district plans shall: (a) Allow pest control or habitat maintenance; (b) Consider offsetting; (c) Allow maintenance and use of existing structures and infrastructure. (d) Not unreasonably restricting existing productive activities. 4.4.4 Monitoring and information gathering – (1) In partnership with other regional / district councils, DOC, other agencies and iwi – implement and report against nationally consistent indicators; 	Anticipated Outcome result of subdivision, use and development.
			withdevelop guidance to	

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
			assist with the identification	
		1	of areas meeting Appendix 5	
		1	significance criteria;	
		ļ	(3) In collaboration withand in	
		1	landowners:	
		1	(a) Determine the	
			implement priorities for	
			identifying SNA's;	
		1	(b) Establish priority actions	
			for pest	
			control/management.	
			4.4.5 Advocacy and education –	
			Promote voluntary efforts to	
			achieve Objective 3.4.	
			1.1.6 Funding and assistance -	
			ד.ד.ס ו מוומוווצ מווע מכסוסנמוועל –	
		1	Where appropriate, provide	
			funding and technical assistance.	
Economic	3.5 Enabling economic wellbeing –	5.1.1 Planned and coordinated	5.1.5 Statutory plans and	6.1 Supporting economic
Wellbeing	Northland's natural and physical	aevelopment –	strategies –	aevelopment –
	resources are sustainably	Subdivision use and development	(1) Regional and district councils	
	attractive for business and	should be located, designed and	shall give effect to Policy	

Poliny	Nothod	Anticipated Outcome
built in a planned and coordinated	5.1.1. 5.1.2 and 5.1.3 through	Anticipated Outcome
manner.	their plans and when	(1) The impacts of resource
	assessing resource consents.	management decisions are
5.1.2 Development in the coastal	(2) District councils shall:	well understood.
environment –	(a) Show regionally	(2) An increasingly consistent
Enable people and communities	significant mineral	issues
to provide for their wellbeing	(b) Consider Regional Urban	(3) Reduced compliance costs.
through appropriate subdivision,	Design Guidance	(4) Increased business and
use, and development that:	Appendix 2 in assessing	investment growth.
(a) Consolidatos urban	resource consents and	
(a) Consolidates urban development:	notice of requirements.	
(b) Ensures efficient setbacks	(c) Consider mapping	
from the CMA to:	(3) Regional council will identify	
(i) Maintain and	regionally significant surf	
enhance public	breaks.	
access;		
(II) Allow natural	5.1.6 Monitoring and information	
coastal	gathering –	
processes/ecosys	The regional council will work with	
tems.	relevant stakeholders to identify	
(c) Takes into account values	and map regionally significant	
of adjoining/existing	mineral resources.	
activities;	E 1 7 Non statutory plans and	
provision:	strategies –	
	Policybuilt in a planned and coordinated manner.5.1.2 Development in the coastal environment –Enable people and communities to provide for their wellbeing 	PolicyMethodbuilt in a planned and coordinated manner.5.1.1, 5.1.2 and 5.1.3 through their plans and when assessing resource consents.5.1.2 Development in the coastal environment –(2) District councils shall: (a) Show regionally significant mineral resources in maps; (b) Consider Regional Urban Design Guidance Appendix 2 in assessing resource consents and notice of requirements.(a) Consolidates urban development; (b) Ensures efficient setbacks from the CMA to: (i) Maintain and enhance public access; (ii) Allow natural functions of coastal processes/ecosys tems.5.1.6 Monitoring and information gathering –(c) Takes into account values of adjoining/existing activities; (d) Adequate infrastructure provision;5.1.7 Non-statutory plans and strategies –

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		 (e) Avoids adverse effects on access to, use and enjoyment of surf breaks of national significance. 5.1.3 Avoid adverse effects of new use(s) and development – Avoid adverse effects reverse sensitivity effects. 5.1.4 Regionally significant mineral resources – Mineral resources will be considered regionally significant base on criteria (a) – (h). 	Consider Policy 5.1.1, 5.1.2 and 5.1.3 when developing growth strategies, spatial plans and structure plans. 5.1.8 Advocacy and education – Promote inclusion of information about the effects emitting from regionally significant infrastructure and mineral resources.	
Regionally significant infrastructure	3.7 Regionally significant infrastructure –	5.3.2 Benefits of regionally significant infrastructure –	5.3.4 Statutory plans and strategies –	5.3 Regionally significant infrastructure –
	Recognise and promote the benefits of regionally significant infrastructure	Particular regard shall be had to the significant social, economic, and cultural benefits of regionally significant infrastructure when considering and determining resource consent applications or notices of requirement for	Regional and district plans, shall include objectives and provisions which give effect to Policies 5.3.1, 5.3.2 and 5.3.3 and reduce constraints on the operation, maintenance and upgrading of	 The benefits of regionally significant infrastructure are given appropriate recognition in the consenting process. Northland has a secure and available gas supply.

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		regionally significant infrastructure.	regionally significant infrastructure.	
		5.3.3 Managing adverse effects arising from regionally significant infrastructure –	5.3.5 Monitoring and gathering information –	
		 (1) Allow adverse effects where: (a) The proposal is consistent with specific policies; (b) Does not result exceedance of water quality limits/flows/levels or over-allocation; (c) Damage to and / or loss of the relationship of iwi with ancestral sites, sites of significance, wāhi tapu, customary activities / or 	Work with stakeholders to: (a) Maintain a record; (b) Identify and where appropriate map.	
		 taonga is avoided or otherwise agreed by iwi/hapū. (2) Allow adverse effects from maintenance and upgrading (3) Managing adverse effects 		

Торіс	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
Tangata Whenua – participation, IHEMPs, Māori land and Treaty Settlements	3.12 Tangata whenua role in decision-making – Tangata whenua kaitiaki role is recognised and provided for in decision-making over natural and physical resources.	 8.1.1 Tangata whenua participation – The regional and district councils shall provide opportunities for tangata whenua to participate in the review, development, implementation, and monitoring of plans and resource consent processes under the RMA. 8.1.2 The regional and district council statutory responsibilities – Regional and district councils when developing plans and processing resource consents: (a) Recognise and provide for the relationship of tangata whenua and their culture and traditions with their ancestral land, water, sites wāhi tapu, and other taonga; (b) Have particular regard to kaitiakitanga; and 	 8.1.5 Statutory plans and strategies – The regional and district councils shall: (a) Engage with iwi authorities at the earliest possible stage of any review and / or plan change to plans to agree appropriate mechanisms for tangata whenua participation and consultation; and (b) Include an analysis of the effects of any resource consent application on tangata whenua and their taonga, including details of any proposed measures to avoid, remedy, or mitigate effects and consultation undertaken. 8.1.6 Non-statutory plans and strategies – 	 8.1, 8.2 and 8.3 Tangata whenua – (1) Tangata whenua values and their kaitiaki role are considered in all resource management decisions. (2) Improved working relationships with iwi and hapū to achieve mutually acceptable environmental outcomes.

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		(c) Take into account the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi including partnership.	Within two years, the regional council will initiate the development of a protocol with	
		8.1.3 Use of Mātauranga Māori – The regional and district councils shall provide opportunities for the use and incorporation of Mātauranga Māori into decision-making, management,	 (a) Determine when the regional council will: (i) require an assessment of cultural effects, and how councils will use and take into account any cultural impact assessment; 	
		implementation, and monitoring of natural and physical resources under the RMA.	 (ii) appoint and use independent Māori hearing commissioners; (iii) hold hearings on marae and provide translation services; 	
		8.1.4 Māori concepts, values and practices – Relevant Māori concepts, values and practices will be clarified through consultation with tangata whenua to develop common	 (iv) notify tangata whenua of resource consent applications and confer affected party status to tangata whenua; and (b) Determine common meanings and methodologies for key 	

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		understandings of their meaning	Māori concepts, values	
		and to develop methodologies for	and practices, and the	
		their implementation.	process for updating	
			them.	
		8.2.1 Support for iwi and hapū		
		management plans –	8.1.7 Advocacy and education –	
		recognise the value of iwi and	The regional and district councils	
		hapū decision-making under the	shall:	
		RMA and the need to support		
		tangata whenua in the	(a) Encourage resource	
		development and implementation	consent applicants to	
		of these plans.	consult with tangata	
			whenua and prior to	
		8.3.1 Kaitiaki role –	lodging consent	
			applications; and	
		The regional and district councils	(b) Refer resource consent	
		shall support tangata whenua to	applicants to any relevant	
		have a kaitiaki role in the	iwi or hapū planning	
		management of their land,	document lodged with	
		resources, and other taonga.	the respective council	
			that has been authorised	
		8.3.2 Marae and Papakainga	by the iwi or hapū for	
			public availability.	
		The regional and district councils		
		shall recognise the historical,		
		cultural, and social importance of		
		marae and papa kainga, and	8.1.8 Funding and assistance –	
		enable their ongoing use and		

development in regional and	
 district plans. 8.3.3 Provision of information – The regional and district councils shall, when requested by ivi authorities, provide information, analysis of regional and district plan provisions, and advice during and after the Treaty settlement processes to enable tangata whenua to identify potential land use opportunities and constraints associated with returned assets. (b) Providing training to assist tangata whenua to promote and implement the monitoring framework; (b) Providing training to assist tangata whenua to a nogoin basis; and (c) Incorporating the result and recommendations of tangata whenua to a monitoring the result and recommendations of the monitoring the result and recommendations of tangata whenua to tangata whenua the tangata whenua to tangata whenua the tangata whenua to tangata whenua the tangata whenua the tangata whenua tangata whenua the tangata whenua tangata whenua	

Торіс	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
			Within two years, regional council will initiate the development of a protocol with iwi authorities to determine when and how iwi and hapū plans will be taken into account under the RMA.	
			8.2.3 Advocacy and education –	
			available iwi and hapū	
			management plans provided this has been authorised by the iwi or hapū.	
			8.3.4 Statutory plans and strategies	
			The regional and district councils shall, as soon as practicable after the Regional Policy Statement becomes operative, initiate a joint review of regional and district	
			plans to identify and implement agreed opportunities to improve the ability of tangata whenua to develop marae and papa kāinga, and achieve greater	
Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
-----------------------------	--	---	--	---
Topic Natural hazards	Objective 3.13 Natural hazard risk – The risks and impacts of natural hazard events on people, communities, property, natural systems, infrastructure and our regional economy are minimised by: (a) Increase	Policy 7.1.1 General risk management approach – Subdivision, use and development of land will be managed to minimise the risks from natural hazards by: (a) Use the best available information;	Methodconsistency in management approaches.7.1.8 Monitoring and information gathering –(1) The regional council will investigate and define new 10-year and 100-year flood hazard areas and areas potentially affected by coastal hazards over at least the next 100 years, progressively map	 (1) Where subdivision, use and development occurs in areas subject to natural hazards, the potential adverse effects of those natural hazards are mitigated by appropriate design. (2) Communities are increasingly resilient to the effects of natural hazard events.
	 understandingincluding influence of climate change; (b) Becoming better prepared; (c) Avoiding development in 10 and 100 year flood hazard and coastal hazard; (d) Not compromising existing defences; (e) Enabling hazard mitigation measures; (f) Promoting long-term strategies; 	 (b) Minimising any increase in vulnerability due to residual risk; (c) Aligning with emergency management approaches (especially risk reduction); (d) Ensuring that natural hazard risk to vehicular access routes and building platforms for proposed new lots is considered when assessing subdivision proposals; and 	them, and make this information available to the district councils for inclusion in district plans and anyone else on request. The regional council, when undertaking its functions under section 30 of the RMA, will co-ordinate the gathering and collating of research at a regional scale on flooding and coastal hazards (including tsunami) and the effects of climate change on these hazards.	 hazard mitigation measures on the environment will be avoided or mitigated. (4) Reduction in the need / demand for hard protection structures.

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
	(g) Recognising critical infrastructure may be to be located	 (e) Exercising a degree of caution that reflects the level of uncertainty as to the likelihood or consequences of a natural hazard event. 7.1.2 New subdivision and land use within 10-year and 100- year flood hazard areas – New subdivision, built development, and land use change may be appropriate within 10-year and 100-year flood hazard areas provided all of the following are met. 	 (2) The district councils, when undertaking their functions under section 31 of the RMA, will co-ordinate the gathering and collating of research on natural hazards and their risks and impacts at a district scale. This shall include landslides, stormwater management and rural fire risk. (3) The regional council and district councils should work together to collaboratively establish and maintain an integrated natural hazards database for the region. 	
		 (a) Hazardous substances will not be inundated. (b) Earthworks do not divert flood flow onto neighbouring properties, or do not deplete flood plain storage capacity; (c) A minimum freeboard above a 100-year flood event of at least 500mm 	 7.1.9 Advocacy and education – (1) The regional council will initiate, co-ordinate and promote activities that assist communities to build resilience to the effects of natural hazards. (2) The regional and district councils shall raise public awareness of natural hazards, including providing and 	

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
Topic	Objective	Policyis provided for residential buildings.(d)Commercial and industrial buildings are constructed so as to not be subject to material damage in a 100 year flood event.(e)New subdivision plans are able to identify that building platforms will not be subject to inundation and / or material damage (including erosion) in a 100-year flood event;(f)Within 10-year flood hazard areas, land use or built development is of a type that will not be subject to material damage in a 100-year flood event; and(g)Flood hazard risk to vehicular access routes for proposed new lots is assessed.	 Method publicising information on which natural hazards may occur in various locations (including the potential influence of climate change on these hazards) and what people can do to be prepared for hazard events. (3) The regional and district councils shall, in consultation with affected communities, investigate and initiate methods to reduce the risk to existing development on land prone to natural hazards. This may include but not be limited to: (a) Property acquisition; (b) Riparian works; (c) Infrastructure developments or upgrades; (d) Developing hazard risk reduction strategies; (e) Use of esplanade reserves and other 	Anticipated Outcome
		7.1.3 New subdivision, use and	mechanisms on subdivision to secure	
		development within areas		

Topic	Obiective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		potentially affected by coastal	setbacks from hazard-	
		hazards –	prone areas: and	
			(f) Any other matter	
		Within areas potentially affected	identified in Policy	
		by coastal hazards over the next	7 1 4	
		100 years, the hazard risk	,	
		associated with new use and	7.2.4 Statutory plans and	
		development will be managed so	strategies –	
		that:		
			(1) When setting out	
		(a) Redevelopment or	objectives, policies, and	
		changes in land use that	methods (including rules)	
		reduce the risk of adverse	in regional and district	
		effects from coastal	plans, the regional and	
		hazards are encouraged;	district councils shall	
		(b) Subdivision plans are able	recognise the role that	
		to identify that building	natural features play in	
		platforms are located	reducing natural hazard	
		outside high-risk coastal	risk and provide for their	
		hazard areas and these	maintenance, protection,	
		building platforms will not	restoration and	
		be subject to inundation	enhancement.	
		and / or material damage	(2) The regional council will	
		(including erosion) over a	include objectives,	
		100-year timeframe;	policies, and methods in	
		(c) Coastal hazard risk to	the relevant regional	
		vehicular access routes	plan(s) to prevent the	
		for proposed new lots is	clearance of indigenous	
		assessed;	bush on erosion-prone	

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		(d) Any use or development	land and the drainage of	
		does not increase the risk	wetlands and other	
		of social, environmental	natural ponding areas,	
		or economic harm (from	where such activities will	
		coastal hazards);	increase the risk of	
		(e) Infrastructure should be	flooding to downstream	
		located away from areas	land.	
		of coastal hazard risk but	(3) The regional council will	
		if located within these	include objectives,	
		areas, it should be	policies, and methods	
		designed to maintain its	(including rules) in	
		integrity and function	regional plans to control	
		during a hazard event;	activities that will dam or	
		(f) The use of hard	divert the natural flow of	
		protection structures is	floodwaters across	
		discouraged and the use	floodplains (such as	
		of alternatives to them	stopbanks, bund walls, or	
		promoted; and	artificial levees, filling of	
		(g) Mechanisms are in place	land, or siting of	
		for the safe storage of	structures).	
		hazardous substances.	(4) The regional and district	
			councils shall give effect	
		7.1.4 Existing development in	to Policy 7.2.2 through	
		known hazard-prone areas –	objectives, policies, and	
			methods (including rules)	
		In 10-year and 100-year flood	in regional and district	
		nazard areas and coastal hazard	plans.	
		areas, mitigation measures to		
		reduce natural hazard risk to		

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		existing development will be encouraged. These may include one or more of the following:	(5) Regional and district plans will implement Policy 7.2.3.	
		 (a) Designing for relocatable or recoverable structures (when changing existing buildings); (b) Providing for low or no risk activities within hazard-prone areas; (c) Providing for setbacks (from rivers / streams or the coastal marine area); (d) Managed retreat by relocation, removal, or abandonment of 		
		structures; (e) Replacing or modifying existing development without resorting to hard protection structures (see Policy 7.2.2); or		
		 (f) Protecting, restoring or enhancing natural defences against natural hazards (see Policy 7.2.1). 		

Торіс	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
Topic	Objective	Policy 7.1.5 Regionally significant infrastructure and critical Infrastructure – New regionally significant infrastructure and critical infrastructure and critical infrastructure: (1) Must be designed to maintain, as far as practicable, its integrity and function during natural hazard events; and (2) May be considered appropriate to locate within flood and coastal hazard areas, even if it cannot meet policies 7.1.2 or 7.1.3 provided: (a) There is a need to be located	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		within the flood hazard and / or coastal hazard		

T		Dellas		NA JUL - J	
Горіс	Objective	Policy		Method	Anticipated Outcome
		(b)	infrastructure		
			providers have		
			demonstrated		
			that the		
			proposed		
			location within		
			the hazard area		
			is the most		
			appropriate		
			(taking into		
			account social,		
			cultural, and		
			economic costs		
			and benefits) to		
			service the needs		
			of the		
			community; and		
		(C)	An engineer's		
			assessment		
			identifies the		
			potential for the		
			infrastructure to		
			exacerbate flood		
			and erosion		
			hazard risk on		
			neighbouring		
			properties, and		
			where the		
			assessment		

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
	Objective	 shows that risk will be exacerbated; the assessment must outline ways this risk can be minimised. 7.1.6 Climate change and development – When managing subdivision, use and development in Northland, climate change effects will be included in all estimates of natural hazard risk, taking into account the scale and type of the proposed development and using the latest national guidance and best available information on the likely effects of climate change on the region or district. 7.2.2 Establishing the need for hand evelopment and using 		
		Priority will be given to the use of non-structural measures over the use /		

Торіс	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		construction of hard protection structures when managing hazard risk. New hard protection structures may be considered appropriate in certain circumstances. 7.2.3 Protection and maintenance of structural mitigation assets – Impediments to accessing established natural hazard structural mitigation assets for maintenance purposes, and activities that may compromise the integrity or functioning of		
		these assets, will be avoided.		
Coastal environment, natural character and	3.14 Natural character, outstanding natural features, outstanding natural landscapes and historic heritage –	 4.5.1 The areas identified in the Regional Policy Statement - Maps will form Northland's: (a) Coastal environment; 	 4.5.4 Statutory plans and strategies – (1) Within two years of this Regional Policy Statement 	 (1) The Regional Policy Statement – Maps of Outstanding natural landscapes and features, high and outstanding
landscapes	Identify and protect from inappropriate subdivision, use and development	(b) High and outstanding natural character areas within the coastal environment (except where the coastal marine	becoming operative (or the first relevant plan change after the Regional Policy Statement becoming operative,	natural character areas and the coastal environment provide a consistent basis for

Торіс	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		area beyond harbours / estuaries remain unclassified): and	whichever is the earlier) the regional and district	appropriate management of these resources.
		(c) Outstanding natural features and outstanding natural landscapes.	change to their relevant regional and district plans to incorporate the	consistent basis for assessing, recording and appropriate management
		4.5.2 The Regional Policy Statement Maps of high and outstanding natural character and	Regional Policy Statement – Maps subject to Method 4.5.4(2). (2) The coastal environment.	of historic heritage. (3) The integrity of Outstanding natural landscapes, outstanding
		outstanding natural features and outstanding natural landscapes identify areas that are sensitive to	and areas of high and outstanding natural character within the	natural features and outstanding natural character are not subject
		subdivision, use and development. 4.5.3 Assessing, identifying and recording historic heritage –	coastal environment, and outstanding natural features and outstanding natural landscapes as	to inappropriate degradation over the life of the Regional Policy Statement.
		Historic heritage resources (areas, places, sites, buildings, or structures either individually or as a group) are identified taking into	shown in the Regional Policy Statement – Maps may be changed, provided the changes are: (i) Undertaken	(4) The coastal environment, landscape and natural character of Northland remains a primary attraction for visitors
		account one or more of the following criteria:	using the attributes and criteria listed in	 (5) Heritage features that meet the criteria in Policy 4 5 3 are added regularly
		 (a) Archaeological and / or scientific importance: the resource contributes 	Appendix 1; and (ii) Shown in the regional or	into plans and no significant reduction in the number of such
		Significantly to our	district plan.	features in plans occurs

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
Topic	Objective	Policyunderstanding of history or archae research;(b)Architecture and technology: the s or building is sign due to design, fo scale, materials, s period, craftsmar construction tech other unique eler characteristic;(c)Rarity: the resourd site is unique, un or rare at a distri- regional or nation(d)Representativene resource is an ex- example of its cla terms of design, fo	Methodf human ological(3) As soon as practicable after this Regional Policy Statement becoming operative the regional and district councils (in collaboration with the Department of Conservation, tangata whenua, and New Zealand Historic Places ment /rrce or common ct, nal level; ess: the cciteria in Policy 4.5.3. Conce identified, the historic heritage that type, timementOnce identified, the historic heritage that mets the criteria in Policy 4.5.3 will be included within the	Anticipated Outcome due to modification / destruction. (6) Cultural / heritage impact assessments are required in consent processes where heritage features are potentially affected and the information they provide is reflected in decisions and/or conditions of consent.
		use, technology, period or other characteristic; (e) Integrity: the reso retains a high pro of its original characteristics ar integrity compare	time Policy 4.5.3 will be included within the relevant regional and ource district plan by way of poportion maps and / or schedules or alert layers where appropriate. Where a heritage area, site, building or other feature	

Торіс	Objective	Policy_		Method	Anticipated Outcome
			other examples in the	spans a council	
		(f)	Context: the resource	(for example, the coastal	
		(1)	forms part of an	(ioi example, the coastal	
			association of horitage	recorded in the schedules	
			sitos or buildings which	and (or mans of both	
			when considered as a		
			whole become important	(4) Within two years of the	
			at a district regional or	(4) Within two years of the	
				hecoming operative the	
		(g)	Pooplo and overts: the	regional and district	
		(8)	recourse is directly		
			associated with the life or		
			works of a wall known or	and implement the most	
			important individual	cost effective and	
			group or organisation and	efficient process to man	
			/ or is associated with	the physical extent of	
			locally regionally or	those outstanding natural	
			nationally significant	features listed in	
			historic events.		
		(h)	Identity: the resource	the resulting mans into	
		(11)	provides a sense of place	appropriate district and	
			community identity or		
			cultural or historical		
			continuity:	4.6.3 Statutory plans and	
		(i)	Tangata whenua: the	strategies –	
		(1)	resource place or feature		
			is important to tangata	Regional and district plans shall	
			whenua for traditional.	amended to include objectives,	

Topic	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		spiritual, cultural or historic reasons; and (i) Statutory: the resource or	policies and methods to give effect to policies 4.6.1 and 4.6.2.	
		feature is recognised nationally or	4.6.4 Monitoring and information gathering –	
		a World Heritage Site under the World Heritage Convention 1972: is	Regional and district councils shall jointly develop and implement a monitoring strategy.	
		registered under the Historic Places Act 1993; or is recognised as having	4.7.2 Supporting landowner and community efforts –	
		under a statutory acknowledgement or other legislation.	Support landowners, iwi, hapū, and community efforts to actively manage or improve key aspects of the environment especially where there is willing collaboration between participants and those	
		4.6.1 Managing effects on the characteristics and qualities	efforts are directed at one or more of	
		natural character, natural features and landscapes –	the activities in Policy 4.7.1.	
		(1) In the coastal environment:	4.7.3 Improving natural character	
		(a) Avoid adverse effects on the characteristics and	-	
		qualities which make up	established uses, promote	

Topic Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
	 the outstanding values of areas of ONC, ONF, and ONL. (b) Where (a) does not apply, avoid significant adverse effects and avoid, remedy or mitigate other adverse effects; (2) Outside the coastal environment avoid significant adverse effects and avoid, remedy or mitigate other adverse effects. (3) When considering whether there are any adverse effects on the characteristics and qualities of the natural character, natural features and landscape values – resource consent assessment. 4.6.2 Maintaining the integrity of heritage resources – Protect the integrity of historic heritage resources by avoiding 	rehabilitation and restoration of natural character. 4.7.4 Statutory plans and strategies – Regional and district councils may use incentives. 4.7.5 Non-statutory plans and strategies – Regional and district plans may consider the use of non-regulatory mechanisms to assist in achieving policies 4.7.1, 4.7.2 and 4.7.3 for outstanding natural features, landscapes, natural character and regionally and nationally significant heritage.	

Торіс	Objective	Policy	Method	Anticipated Outcome
		significant adverse effects of subdivision, use and development		
		4.7.1 Promote active management		
		In plans and resource consent processes, recognise and promote positive effects.		

P 0800 002 004
 E info@nrc.govt.nz
 W www.nrc.govt.nz

